Moody’s Investors Service, Inc: Aaa
Standard & Poor’s: AAA
Fitch Ratings: AAA
(See “Ratings” herein)

NEW ISSUE—BOOK-ENTRY ONLY

$1,036,000,000
STATE OF MARYLAND
General Obligation Bonds
State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series
Consisting of
$1,036,000,0001
First Series TaxExempt Bonds
(Competitive)
Dated: Date of Delivery

Due: See Inside Cover

The First Series Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof.
Purchasers will not receive physical delivery of bond certificates. The Bonds will be registered initially in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee
of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, to which principal and interest payments will be made so long as Cede &
Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds. Interest on the First Series Bonds will accrue from the date of their issuance and delivery and will be
payable on December 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on June 1 and December 1 of each year unless redeemed prior to maturity. So long
as the Bonds are maintained under a book-entry only system, the Treasurer of the State of Maryland (the “Treasurer”) will act as Paying Agent
and Bond Registrar. Interest on the Bonds will be paid as specified herein to the owner of record as of the 15th day of the month immediately
preceding the interest payment date.
FOR MATURITY SCHEDULES SEE INSIDE COVER
The First Series Bonds maturing on or after June 1, 2025 are subject to optional redemption commencing on June 1, 2024 at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof. The First Series Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their
maturities. See “THE BONDS – Redemption Provisions.”
In the opinion of the Honorable Brian E. Frosh, Attorney General of Maryland, and of Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, Bond
Counsel, the Bonds will be valid and legally binding general obligations of the State of Maryland to the payment of which the full faith and credit
of the State are pledged. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and assuming the
accuracy of certain representations and continuing compliance with certain covenants, interest on the First Series Bonds is excludable from gross
income for federal income tax purposes and is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”);
however, interest paid to corporate holders of the First Series Bonds may be indirectly subject to AMT under circumstances described in
“TAX MATTERS” herein. It is also the opinion of the Attorney General and of Bond Counsel that under existing law of the State of Maryland,
the Bonds, their transfer, the interest payable thereon, and any income derived therefrom, including any profit realized in the sale or exchange
thereof, will be exempt from taxation within the State of Maryland by the State or by any of its political subdivisions, municipal corporations, or
public agencies; however, the law of the State of Maryland does not expressly refer to, and no opinion is expressed concerning, estate or
inheritance taxes or any other taxes not levied directly on the Bonds, their transfer or the income therefrom. See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a
more complete description of the opinion of Bond Counsel and additional federal tax law consequences.
The interest rates shown on the inside cover are the interest rates per annum payable by the State resulting from the successful bids for
the First Series Bonds on Wednesday, June 8, 2016, by groups of banks and investment banking firms. The prices or yields shown on the
maturity schedule were furnished by the successful bidders. Any other information concerning the terms of the reoffering of any of the Bonds
should be obtained from the successful bidders and not from the State of Maryland.
The Bonds are offered for delivery, when and if issued, subject to the receipt of the approving opinions of the Attorney General of the
State of Maryland and Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, and with respect to the First Series Bonds, certain other conditions specified in
the Official Notice of Sale. See “APPENDIX E –OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE” for more detail with respect to the sale of the First Series
Bonds. The Bonds in definitive form will be available for delivery to DTC in New York, New York, on or about June 22, 2016.
June 8, 2016.

The First Series Bonds were sold on a competitive sale basis as described herein under “SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING” and pursuant to the Official Notice of Sale for the
First Series Bonds attached hereto as APPENDIX E.
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MATURITY SCHEDULES

$1,036,000,000 First Series Tax-Exempt Bonds (Competitive)
Awarded to Bank of America Merrill Lynch
Maturing
June 1
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031

Principal
$58,490,000
61,410,000
64,485,000
67,705,000
71,095,000
74,645,000
78,380,000
82,300,000
86,415,000
90,735,000
95,270,000
100,035,000
$105,035,000

Interest
Rate
5.00%
5.00
5.00
5.00
5.00
5.00
4.00
5.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
3.00%

Yield
0.820%
0.940
1.050
1.180
1.280
1.380
1.470*
1.560*
1.780*
1.840*
1.940*
1.990*
2.690%*

CUSIP
574193MM7
574193MN5
574193MP0
574193MQ8
574193MR6
574193MS4
574193MT2
574193MU9
574193MV7
574193MW5
574193MX3
574193MY1
574193MZ8

*Priced at the stated yield to the June 1, 2024 optional redemption date at a redemption price of 100%.

No dealer, broker, salesman or any other person has been authorized by the State of Maryland (sometimes
referred to as the “State”) to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this
Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as
having been authorized by the State of Maryland. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the securities described herein by any person in any
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.
The information set forth herein has been obtained from the State and other sources that are deemed to be
reliable. The information from sources other than the State is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and
should not be construed as representations of the State. The State of Maryland believes that the information
contained in this Official Statement is correct and complete and has no knowledge of any inaccuracy or
incompleteness as to any of the information herein. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject
to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of the Bonds shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the State of Maryland since
the respective dates as of which information is given herein.
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward
looking statements.” Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used, such as “plan,” “expect,”
“estimate,” “budget,” “forecast,” or other similar words. The achievement of certain results or other expectations in
such forward looking statements involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
cause actual results, performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. The State does not plan to
issue any updates or revisions to those forward looking statements if or when their expectations, or events,
conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based, occur or fail to occur.
No quotations from or summaries or explanations of provisions of law and documents herein purport to be
complete and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions.
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the State of Maryland and the
purchasers or holders of any of the securities described herein. Any statements made in this Official Statement
involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or
opinions and not as representations of fact. The cover page hereof, list of officials, this page and the appendices

attached hereto are part of this Official Statement.
The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon
exemptions without prior notice contained in such Act. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on
their own examination of the State and terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. These
securities have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority.
Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this
document. Any representation to the contrary may be a criminal offense.
CUSIP numbers on the inside cover page of this Official Statement are copyrighted by the American
Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of
The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and the State takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. These data are not
intended to create a database and do not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Service.
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INTRODUCTION
ISSUER

The State of Maryland

SECURITIES

General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series –
$1,036,000,000 Tax-Exempt Bonds (Competitive)

AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT OF ISSUE

$1,036,000,000

INTEREST PAYMENT DATES

December 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on June 1 and December 1

STATE ECONOMIC FACTORS

The State of Maryland has a population of approximately 6.0 million, with
employment based largely in services, trade, and government. Those sectors,
along with financial activities, are the largest contributors to the gross state
product, according to the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic
Analysis. Population is concentrated around the Baltimore and Washington, D.C.
Metropolitan Statistical Areas, and proximity to Washington, D.C. influences the
above-average percentage of employees in government. Manufacturing, on the
other hand, is a much smaller proportion of employment than for the nation as a
whole. Annual unemployment rates have been below those of the national
average for each of the last 40 years for which data is available. The average
unemployment rate in 2015 was 5.2% compared to an average national rate for
the same period of 5.3%. More recently, the unemployment rates in March 2016
for Maryland and the nation were 4.7% and 5.0%, respectively. The State’s per
capita personal income was the fifth highest in the country in 2015, according to
the Bureau of Economic Analysis, at 118% of the national average. See “STATE
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC DATA.”

BUDGET AND FINANCIAL

The State enacts its budget annually. Revenues are derived largely from certain
broad-based taxes, including statewide income, sales, motor vehicle, and property
taxes. Non-tax revenues are largely from the federal government for
transportation, health care, welfare and other social programs. General Fund
revenues on a budgetary basis realized in the State’s fiscal year ended June 30,
2015 were above revised estimates by $214.0 million, or 1.4%. The State ended
fiscal year 2015 with a $320.4 million General Fund balance on a budgetary
basis. This balance reflects a $267.7 million increase compared to the balance
projected at the time the 2015 Budget was enacted. In addition, there was a
balance in the Revenue Stabilization Account of $773.5 million. For fiscal year
2016, the total budget is $ 40.3billion, a $1.6 billion increase over fiscal year
2015. The General Fund accounts for approximately $16.3 billion, of which the
largest expenditures are for education and health, which together represent 73%
of total General Fund expenditures. For fiscal year 2017, the total budget is $
42.2 billion, a $2.0 billion increase over fiscal year 2016. The General Fund
accounts for approximately $17.2 billion, of which the largest expenditures are
for education and health, which together represent 72% of total General Fund
expenditures. General Fund expenditures exclude transportation, which is funded
with special fund revenues from the Transportation Trust Fund. See “STATE
FINANCES – State Expenditures and Services.”
On a GAAP basis, the fiscal year 2015 non-spendable General Fund balance was
$514.1 million, while the restricted, committed, and unassigned fund balances
were $769.9 million. By comparison, the non-spendable General Fund balance
was $495.5 million and the restricted, committed, and unassigned fund balance
was $643.8 million at the end of fiscal year 2014. The total GAAP fund balance
for fiscal year 2015 was $1,284.0 million compared with a total GAAP fund
balance of $1,139.3 million for fiscal year 2014. See “STATE FINANCES.”
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The State Reserve Fund consists of the Revenue Stabilization Account and other
reserve funds, which together totaled $780.0 million at the end of fiscal year
2015. The Revenue Stabilization Account was established to retain State revenues
for future needs and to reduce the need for future tax increases. Current estimates
for the close of fiscal year 2016 project a total reserve balance of $865.7 million,
of which $831.7 million is projected to be in the Revenue Stabilization Account.
The Revenue Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of fiscal year 2016
General Fund revenues is estimated to equal 5.1%. Current estimates based on the
enacted fiscal year 2017 budget for the close of fiscal year 2017 project a total
reserve balance of $1,012.0 million, of which $1,001.8 million is projected to be
in the Revenue Stabilization Account. The Revenue Stabilization Account
balance as a percentage of fiscal year 2017 General Fund revenues is estimated to
equal 5.9%. See “STATE FINANCES – State Reserve Fund.”
STATE DEBT

Maryland had $11,683.8 million of net State tax-supported debt outstanding as of
March 31, 2016. General obligation bonds accounted for $8,429.3 million of that
amount. In fiscal year 2016, debt service on general obligation bonds is paid
primarily from State property tax receipts. Department of Transportation bonds
outstanding account for another $2,219.8 million of State tax-supported debt as of
March 31, 2016; the debt service on those bonds is payable from taxes and fees
related to motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuel, a portion of the corporate
income tax and a portion of the sales and use tax on short-term vehicle rentals.
Debt obligations issued by the Maryland Stadium Authority in the form of leasebacked revenue bonds and equipment lease financing account for $132.9 million
of State tax-supported debt outstanding as of March 31, 2016. Rental payments
under the leases are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly.
The State has also financed construction and acquisition of various other facilities
and equipment through lease-type financing, subject to annual appropriation by
the General Assembly, in the amount of $320.4 million as of March 31, 2016.
There was $279.8 million of Grant Anticipation Revenue Vehicle (“GARVEE”)
Bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2016. Debt service is paid from a portion of
Maryland’s federal highway aid. The Water Quality Financing Administration of
the Maryland Department of Environment (“Administration”) had Bay
Restoration Revenue Bonds outstanding in the amount of $301.6 million as of
March 31, 2016.
The State had $2.1 billion of authorized but unissued debt as of March 31, 2016.
The current offering is the second general obligation bond sale of fiscal year
2016; no additional public offerings of bonds are anticipated during fiscal year
2016. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM –
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding and Debt Data.”

APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

The proceeds of the First Series Bonds will be applied for a variety of public
purposes, including the acquisition and construction of State facilities; capital
grants to local governments for public schools, community colleges, and jails and
correctional facilities; and matching fund loans and grants to local governments,
nonprofit institutions, and other entities for hospitals, cultural projects and other
projects.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The State will provide annual financial and other information, including
notices of certain events, in order to assist bidders in complying with Rule 15c212(b)(5) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Appropriate periodic credit
information will be provided to the rating agencies maintaining ratings on the
Bonds. See APPENDIX F – “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
AGREEMENT.”

THE FOREGOING INFORMATION IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE DETAILED
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Official Statement

$1,036,000,000
General Obligation Bonds
State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series
consisting of
$1,036,000,000
First Series TaxExempt Bonds
(Competitive)
THE STATE
The State of Maryland (the “State”) ratified the United States Constitution on April 28, 1788. The capital of
the State is Annapolis, where the principal activities of the State Government are centered. The State’s 2015 population
is estimated to have been 6,006,401 on July 1st of that year. Maryland ranks 42nd among the states in land area with
9,844 square miles. The largest city in the State is Baltimore with a 2015 population estimate of 621,849 (2,797,407
for the primary metropolitan statistical area).

THE BONDS
General
The $1,036,000,000 aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds offered by this Official
Statement constitutes the State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series. The Bonds consist of
$1,036,000,000 First Series Tax-Exempt Bonds (the “First Series Bonds” or the “Bonds”). Interest on the First
Series Bonds will accrue from the date of issuance and delivery, expected to occur on or about June 22, 2016, and
will be payable on December 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on June 1 and December 1 until maturity unless
redeemed prior to maturity as provided herein under “Redemption Provisions.” Payment of the principal of and
interest on the Bonds shall be in such currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal
tender for payment of public and private debts. The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in denominations
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will initially be maintained under a book-entry only system;
individual purchasers (“Beneficial Owners”) shall have no right to receive physical possession of the Bonds, and any
payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds will be made as described in
APPENDIX G – “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” So long as the Bonds are maintained under a book-entry only
system, the Treasurer will serve as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent.
Interest on the Bonds will be paid on the date payable or, if that date is not a Business Day (hereinafter
defined), on the next succeeding Business Day, to the person in whose name the Bond is registered on the
registration books (the “Bond Register”) maintained by the Bond Registrar as of the close of business on the 15th
day of the month immediately preceding each interest payment date. “Business Day” means a day other than a
Saturday, Sunday, or day on which banking institutions are authorized or obligated by law or required by executive
order to remain closed. Principal will be payable upon presentation of the Bonds at the principal office of the Paying
Agent, or at the principal office of any other Bond Registrar and Paying Agent appointed by the Treasurer, on the
date the principal is payable or, if that date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day. So long as
the Bonds are maintained in a book-entry only system, interest will be paid by electronic funds transfer on the
interest payment date with respect to Bonds held by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC”) from funds sent to DTC.
So long as the Bonds are maintained in a book-entry-only system, Beneficial Owners will not have physical
possession of the Bonds and transfers of their interest in the Bonds will be made through DTC. Beneficial Owners
should look to the institution from which their Bonds were purchased for payment.
See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General Obligation Bonds” for a
description of the constitutional and other legal foundations of general obligation bonds of the State.
First Series Tax-Exempt Bonds (Competitive)
The State determined to issue the First Series Bonds as tax-exempt bonds, sold on a competitive basis as
described herein under “SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING” and pursuant to the Official Notice of Sale for the
First Series Bonds, attached hereto as APPENDIX E.
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Authorization for the Bonds
The State Constitution prohibits the contracting of State debt unless authorized by a law providing for the
collection of an annual tax or taxes sufficient to pay the interest when due and to discharge the principal within 15
years of the date of debt issuance. The State Constitution also provides that the taxes levied for this purpose may not
be repealed or applied to any other purpose until the debt is fully discharged. As a matter of practice, general
obligation bonds, other than refunding bonds, are issued to mature in serial installments designed to provide payment
of interest only during the first two years and an approximately level annual amortization of principal and interest over
the remaining years.
Beginning with its 1990 session, the General Assembly annually has enacted a Maryland Consolidated
Capital Bond Loan Act (the “MCCBL”) that consolidates within a single enabling act, authorizations for various
capital programs administered by State agencies and other projects for local governments or private institutions.
The Board of Public Works (the “Board”), a constitutional body composed of the Governor, the Comptroller,
and the Treasurer, by resolution authorizes the issuance of bonds in a specified amount for part or all of the loans
authorized by various enabling acts. Since 1969, the Board has used its statutory authority to issue and sell general
obligation bonds authorized by various enabling acts on a consolidated basis as a single issue designated as a “State
and Local Facilities Loan” of a numerical series indicating the order of sale during the calendar year. The Bonds have
been authorized for issuance under this procedure.
The General Assembly annually enacts a MCCBL authorizing funds for various capital projects and programs
to be financed through the sale of State general obligation bonds. The total amount of general obligation bonds
authorized by various MCCBLs but unissued as of March 31, 2016, was $2,052,256,374. See “STATE TAXSUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Capital Programs” and APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY
DEBT SCHEDULES.”
Based upon the State’s anticipated capital needs, the Board has authorized the sale and issuance of up to
$1,036,000,000 of the First Series Bonds to fund capital improvements.
It is anticipated that the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds will be expended for authorized projects in the
categories shown in “THE BONDS – Use of Proceeds”.

Security for the Bonds
The Bonds will be general obligations of the State to the payment of which the full faith and credit of the State
are pledged.
Redemption Provisions
Optional Redemption for the First Series Bonds. The First Series Bonds maturing on or after June 1,
2025 are subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities on or after June 1, 2024, as a whole or in part at
the option of the State at any time on at least 20 days’ notice and, if in part, in any order of maturity at the option of
the State, at the redemption price of par, plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Redemption Procedures. If less than all of the First Series Bonds of any maturity shall be called for
redemption, the particular First Series Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the Paying Agent in such
manner as, in its discretion, it shall determine, except that so long as DTC or its nominee is the sole registered owner
of the First Series Bonds, the particular First Series Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC, in such
manner as DTC shall determine.
In case part but not all of any of the First Series Bonds of any maturity shall be selected for
redemption, then upon its surrender, there shall be issued without charge to the registered owner replacement bonds
in any authorized denominations as specified by the registered owner. The aggregate principal amount of bonds so
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issued shall be equal to the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of the bond surrendered, and bonds so
issued shall bear the same interest rate and shall mature on the same date as the bond surrendered. Should the State
elect to redeem all or a portion of the First Series Bonds, the State shall provide a redemption notice (i) by first class
mail, postage prepaid, at least 20 days prior to the redemption date to each registered owner as identified
within the Bond Register and (ii) as may be further required in accordance with the Continuing Disclosure
Agreement; provided, however, that neither the failure to mail the redemption notice nor any defect in the notice
shall affect the validity of the redemption proceedings.
The redemption notice shall state: (1) whether the First Series Bonds are to be redeemed in whole or in
part and, if in part, the portions of the principal amount of each maturity of the First Series Bonds to be
redeemed; (2) the redemption date and the redemption price or prices; (3) that the First Series Bonds to be
redeemed shall be presented for redemption and payment on or after the redemption date at the principal office of
the Paying Agent; (4) that interest on the First Series Bonds called for redemption shall cease to accrue on the
redemption date, and (5) any conditions to such redemption. In the event that a redemption notice contains a
condition and the condition is not met, the redemption will not occur and notice will be given that the redemption is
to be or was cancelled.
From and after the redemption date, if notice has been duly and properly given and if funds sufficient for
the payment of the redemption price of the First Series Bonds called for redemption are available on such date, the
First Series Bonds so called for redemption shall become due and payable at the redemption price or prices on the
redemption date, interest on the First Series Bonds shall cease to accrue, and the registered owners of the First Series
Bonds so called for redemption shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption
price plus accrued interest to the redemption date. Upon presentation and surrender of the First Series Bonds
called for redemption in compliance with the redemption notice, the Paying Agent shall pay the redemption
price of the First Series Bonds. If the First Series Bonds so called for redemption are not paid upon presentation and
surrender as described above, such bonds shall continue to bear interest at the rates stated therein until paid.
Remedies
Based upon the provisions of §§34 and 52 of Article III of the State Constitution, general statutory law, and
the enabling legislation for general obligation bond authorizations, in the opinion of the Attorney General, the courts
of Maryland have jurisdiction to entertain proceedings and power to grant mandatory injunctive relief to: (1) require
the Governor to include in the annual budget an appropriation sufficient to pay all general obligation bond debt
service for the ensuing fiscal year; (2) prohibit the General Assembly from taking action to reduce any such
appropriation below the level required for that debt service; (3) require the Board of Public Works to fix and collect
a tax on all property in the State subject to assessment for State tax purposes at a rate and in an amount sufficient to
make such payments to the extent that adequate funds are not provided in the annual budget; and (4) provide such
other relief as might be necessary to enforce the collection of these taxes and payment of the proceeds to the holders
of general obligation bonds, pari passu, subject to the inherent limitations of the Constitution referred to below.
It is also the opinion of the Attorney General that, while the mandatory injunctive remedies would be
available and while the general obligation bonds of the State are entitled to constitutional protection against the
impairment of the obligation of contracts, such constitutional protection and the enforcement of such remedies
would not be absolute. Enforcement of a claim for payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds could be
subject to the provisions of any statutes that hereafter may be constitutionally enacted by the United States Congress
or by the General Assembly extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon enforcement.
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Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds
First Series Bonds
First
Series
Bonds
Sources:
Par Amount.......................................................
Net Original Issue Premium/ Discount** .........
Total Sources* ..................................................
Uses:
Deposit to State and Local Facilities Loan
Fund..................................................................
Deposit to the Annuity Bond Fund ...................
Costs of Issuance*** ........................................
Underwriters’ Discount ....................................
Total Uses* ......................................................

$1,036,000,000.00
$177,357,043.70
$1,213,357,043.70
$1,036,000,000.00
$175,769,243.70
$500,000.00
$1,087,800.00
$1,213,357,043.70

*
**

Totals may not add due to rounding.
The premium earned on the sale of the First Series Bonds will be applied first to pay the underwriters’ discount and costs of
issuance and the remainder will be deposited to the Annuity Bond Fund. The remainder of amounts on deposit in the Annuity
Bond Fund shall be used for payment of debt service on the State’s bonds.
*** Estimated. Includes fees for legal, rating agency, financial advisory services and other miscellaneous expenses.

Use of Proceeds
First Series Bonds. The proceeds from the sale of the First Series Bonds will be deposited in the State and
Local Facilities Loan Fund and expended as needed on any project authorized by an enabling act, whether or not
bonds have been sold to specifically fund that project. “Project” accounting will be maintained to assure that
individual project expenditures will not exceed individual project authorizations. The expenditure of bond
proceeds for capital improvements is accounted for on a “cash flow” basis rather than a “project” basis.
The proceeds of the First Series deposited to the State and Local Facilities Loan Fund are reasonably
anticipated to be expended for the following purposes:
First Series Bonds
Education..................................
Health and Hospital .................
Public Safety ............................
Environment.............................
Housing ....................................
Utilities.....................................
Transportation ..........................
Other.........................................
Total .........................................

$

$
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621,600,000
31,080,000
93,240,000
186,480,000
10,360,000
10,360,000
10,360,000
72,520,000
1,036,000,000

STATE GOVERNMENT
Legislature
The State has a bicameral legislature, the General Assembly, composed of the Senate with 47 members and
the House of Delegates with 141 members. The State is divided into 47 legislative districts, each with one senator
and three delegates. All members of the General Assembly are elected for four-year terms. The General Assembly
meets annually for a 90-day session beginning on the second Wednesday in January. This regular session may be
extended by the General Assembly or the Governor, and the General Assembly may meet in special sessions, but no
extended or special session may last for longer than 30 days except for the purpose of enacting the annual budget.
Constitutional Officers
The leadership of State government includes four constitutional officers elected by the voters on a
statewide basis for four-year terms: the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the Comptroller, and the Attorney
General. The Treasurer is also a constitutional officer, appointed upon a joint ballot of the Senate and the House of
Delegates for a four-year term.
The Governor is the chief executive officer of the State. The Lieutenant Governor has such duties as are
delegated to him by the Governor, which may include any and all powers and duties of the Governor, and may serve
as Acting Governor during the absence or incapacity of the Governor. The Attorney General is legal counsel to the
Governor, the General Assembly, and all departments and units of the State government except the Public Service
Commission and certain authorities.
Together, the Comptroller and the Treasurer constitute the Treasury Department. The Comptroller is
required to exercise general superintendence over the fiscal affairs of the State, to prepare plans for the improvement
and management of revenue and support of public credit, to keep the accounts of the State and its agencies, to
prescribe the form of completing and stating these accounts, and to superintend and enforce the collection of all
taxes and revenue. The Treasurer maintains custody of all deposits of State monies, invests the State’s surplus funds,
maintains custody of all securities, and is responsible for all disbursements of State funds, including payment of
principal and interest on State debt. Acting on behalf of the Board of Public Works, the Treasurer manages the
State’s general obligation debt program, including all matters relating to the issuance and oversight of general
obligation bonds.
Principal Departments
The executive functions of State Government are organized into 20 major departments, 19 of which are
headed by a Secretary appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The State Department
of Education is headed by the State Board of Education, the members of which are appointed by the Governor for
overlapping five-year terms, and the State Superintendent of Schools, who is appointed by the State Board of
Education for a four-year term. The departments and their principal responsibilities are as follows:
The Department of Aging administers the delivery of services and activities for the elderly.
The Department of Agriculture is responsible for supervising, administering, and promoting agricultural
activities in the State.
The Department of Budget and Management analyzes and plans budgetary matters and provides
coordination and liaison for the Governor with the General Assembly, State operating agencies, and the public on
matters relating to the operating and capital budgets, analysis of program revenues and budget implications, and
performance auditing; manages and coordinates employee health benefits; administers personnel policies with
respect to State employees; and reviews executive agency procurements of services.
The Department of Commerce promotes economic development, industrial opportunities, tourism, and
economic resources of the State; and provides for and assists in financing industrial and commercial development.
The Department of Disabilities is responsible for developing, maintaining, revising, and
statewide disability policies and standards.
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enforcing

The Department of the Environment is responsible for fostering and protecting the State’s natural
environment and administers various State programs regulating air, water, and hazardous waste pollution.
The Department of General Services advises the Board of Public Works and State agencies on matters of
engineering, construction, and contracts in connection with capital expenditures; coordinates land acquisitions and
the design and construction of State public works projects; and purchases supplies and equipment for the use of
State agencies.
The Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is responsible for matters concerning public health in the
State, including the direct delivery of health care services through State-owned health centers and hospitals and the
financing of health services to low-income individuals through the Medicaid program.
The Department of Housing and Community Development administers the State’s housing and community
development assistance programs, including certain housing loan and mortgage insurance programs.
The Department of Human Resources administers, on the State level, the federal and State social service,
public assistance, child support, and income maintenance programs.
The Department of Information Technology is responsible for statewide Information Technology (“IT”)
policy, oversight of large IT projects and expenditures, and centralizations of common IT functions and assets
statewide.
The Department of Juvenile Services is responsible for State programs serving delinquent youths, children
in need of supervision, and children in need of assistance.
The Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation administers various State regulatory agencies and
licensing boards responsible for licensing and regulating professions, businesses, and trades, and has responsibility
for the direction, coordination, and monitoring of all State employment and training and unemployment insurance
programs.
The Department of Natural Resources is responsible for developing, coordinating, and administering
policies and programs involving the natural resources and wildlife of the State.
The Department of Planning is the principal agency for planning matters concerning the development and
effective use of the natural and other resources of the State and also is responsible for various historical and cultural
programs.
The Department of Public Safety and Correctional Services is responsible for public safety, State
correctional facilities, and parole and probation.
The Department of State Police is responsible for law enforcement and crime prevention.
The Department of Transportation is responsible for State-owned transportation facilities and programs,
including the planning, financing, construction, operation, and maintenance of highway, transit, rail, port, and
aviation facilities.
The Department of Veterans Affairs assists the State’s veterans in obtaining benefits and services, maintains
veterans’ cemeteries and war memorials, and operates the State’s veterans’ home.
The State Department of Education is charged with the general supervision of public elementary and
secondary education and is responsible for establishing and administering State educational policies and programs.
See “STATE FINANCES – State Expenditures and Services” for information concerning the activities of
the departments that administer functions requiring the largest expenditures of funds by the State.
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Judiciary
The Judiciary, a separate branch of government established in the State Constitution, includes two courts of
appellate jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals, originally created by the State Constitution of 1776, is the State’s
highest court; today this court’s appellate jurisdiction is almost entirely discretionary. The Court of Special Appeals
was established in 1966 as an intermediate appeals court having statewide jurisdiction; almost all initial civil and
criminal appeals are now included in the jurisdiction of this court.
The Circuit Courts, which function as trial courts of general jurisdiction, are the common law and equity
courts of record exercising original jurisdiction within the State and handle the major civil and the more serious
criminal matters. A Circuit Court sits in each county and in Baltimore City. The District Court of Maryland, created
in 1970, is divided into 12 geographic districts throughout the State and exercises limited civil and criminal
jurisdiction.
Board of Public Works
The Governor, Comptroller, and Treasurer are the members of the Board of Public Works. The
Constitution of Maryland, Article XII, §2, provides that a majority of the Board shall be competent to act. A
constitutional body, the Board supervises the expenditure of all funds obtained by State general obligation bond
issues and all funds appropriated for capital improvements other than roads, bridges, and highways. The Board must
review and approve all contracts for such capital expenditures after review by the legislatively authorized control
agency, principally, the Department of Transportation, the Department of General Services, the Department of
Budget and Management or the University System of Maryland. The Board considers, acts upon, and authorizes all
issues of State general obligation bonds, fixes the rate of the State property tax required for debt service, and
administers, through the Interagency Committee on School Construction (“IAC”), the State program for payments to
the counties and Baltimore City for public school construction.
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STATE FINANCES
Budgetary System
Maryland has a strong executive system of government. Under the Maryland Constitution, Article III, §52,
the Governor is responsible for the preparation and introduction of the State’s annual budget. The Governor is
required by the Constitution to submit a balanced budget, and in preparing the budget, the Governor is statutorily
required to use revenue estimates reported by the Board of Revenue Estimates, whose members are the Comptroller,
the Treasurer and the Secretary of Budget and Management, or explain the use of different estimates. Except for the
General Assembly’s own budget and the Judiciary’s budget, the General Assembly cannot increase the Governor’s
proposed budget, but may reduce it.
Passage of the State’s budget is constitutionally prioritized. The General Assembly meets annually for 90
days, beginning the second Wednesday of each January. If the budget has not been enacted seven days before the
end of session (the 83rd day), the Constitution requires that the Governor issue a proclamation extending the session.
If the budget has not been enacted by the 90th day, the General Assembly cannot consider any matter except the
budget. This places the normal budget deadline in early April, almost three months before the start of the next fiscal
year.
Although laws enacted by the General Assembly are generally subject to referendum, the power of
referendum is subject to express limitations, and does not extend to the State budget. The effective date of the State
budget cannot be delayed by referendum. Maryland does not require supermajorities to increase taxes or enact the
budget. A simple majority is required for passage of all bills.
The Governor submits to the General Assembly, shortly after the beginning of its annual session, a budget
containing a complete plan of proposed expenditures and estimated revenues for the ensuing fiscal year, together
with a statement showing: (1) the revenues and expenditures for the preceding fiscal year; (2) reserves, and surplus
or deficit of the State; (3) the debts and funds of the State; (4) an estimate of the State’s financial condition as of the
beginning and end of the preceding fiscal year; and (5) any explanation the Governor may desire to make as to the
important features of the budget and any suggestions as to methods for reduction or increase of the State’s revenue.
The budget is required to include a total for all appropriations and all estimated revenues; total appropriations may
not exceed the estimated revenues, either as submitted by the Governor or as enacted by the General Assembly. The
Constitution requires the Governor to include appropriations for certain matters, including specifically an
appropriation to pay and discharge the principal and interest of the debt of the State in conformity with Article III,
§34 of the Constitution and all laws enacted pursuant thereto. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND
CAPITAL PROGRAM.”
The Governor also is required to include in his annual budget sufficient appropriations to fund programs for
which specific statutory spending levels or rates have been established by the General Assembly at a preceding
session. With the submission of the budget for the ensuing year, the Governor also presents to the General Assembly
any deficiency appropriations that he may deem necessary to supplement the current year’s appropriations in light of
current conditions. By law the Governor has the power, with the approval of the Board of Public Works, to reduce
by not more than 25% any appropriation that he may deem unnecessary, except appropriations for the payment of
interest and the retirement of State debt, the legislature, the public schools, the judiciary, and the salaries of public
officers during their terms of office.
The General Assembly is prohibited by the Constitution from amending the budget to affect certain
specified provisions, including the obligations or debt of the State under Article III, §34 of the Constitution. Except
for these specified provisions, the General Assembly may amend the budget to increase or decrease appropriations
relating to the legislative and judicial branches but it may only strike out or reduce executive branch appropriations
submitted by the Governor. The General Assembly must enact a balanced budget. After the enactment of the budget,
and not before, the General Assembly is permitted to enact supplementary appropriations but may not enact any
supplementary appropriation unless embodied in a separate bill that is limited to a single object or purpose and
provides the revenue necessary to pay the appropriation by a tax to be levied and collected under the terms of the
bill.
State expenditures are made pursuant to the appropriations in the annual budget, as amended from time to
time by budget amendment. The various units of State government may, with the Governor’s approval, amend the
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appropriations for particular programs in their individual budgets funded from the General Fund, provided they do
not exceed their total General Fund appropriations as contained in the annual budget. Additionally, appropriations
for programs funded in whole or in part from funds other than the General Fund may permit expenditures in excess
of original appropriations to the extent that revenues from the particular non-General Fund sources exceed original
budget estimates and the additional expenditures are approved by the Governor.
The Department of Budget and Management is headed by a Secretary who assists the Governor in the
preparation and administration of the budget and constitutes a statutorily created department that currently contains
325.8 positions.
The Department of Legislative Services provides full-time professional assistance to all committees and
subcommittees of the General Assembly including those involved with budget, taxation and fiscal matters. The
Department also conducts research into fiscal and policy issues. The Office of Legislative Audits is part of the
Department and is required by law to examine and report on the books and accounts of all agencies of State
government at least every three years. See APPENDIX A – “FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM.”
The Spending Affordability Committee consists of certain designated officers of the General Assembly and
other members as may be appointed by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Delegates. Each
year the Committee must submit a report to the Legislative Policy Committee of the General Assembly and to the
Governor recommending the level of State spending, the level of new debt authorization, the level of State
personnel, and the use of any anticipated surplus.
State Financial Overview
For fiscal year 2017 Maryland passed a structurally balanced budget without the need for a Budget
Reconciliation and Financing Act. This was accomplished through prudent fiscal management, favorable trends in
Medicaid enrollment, and a slightly improving economy. The fiscal year 2017 budget is expected to close with a fund
balance over $360.0 million and a Rainy Day Fund Balance above $1.0 billion. See “STATE FINANCES – State
Revenues,” “– General Fund 2016 Budget,” “– General Fund 2017 Budget” and “– Interim General Fund Revenues and
Expenditures” below.
State Revenues
The State derives most of its revenue from a combination of specialized taxes and user charges. The following
are principal sources of the State’s revenues:
Income Taxes. An income tax is imposed on: (1) the federal adjusted gross income (“FAGI”) of individuals,
subject to certain positive and negative adjustments and minus certain deductions and personal exemptions; and (2) the
federal taxable income of corporations, subject to certain positive and negative adjustments. Individuals may elect to
use a standard deduction in lieu of itemized deductions. The standard deduction is 15% of the individual’s Maryland
adjusted gross income, but not less than $1,500 or more than $2,000 in the case of most individual returns, and not less
than $3,000 or more than $4,000 in the case of a joint return or an individual return of a head of household or surviving
spouse.
In the First Special Session of 2012, the General Assembly altered the individual income tax brackets and the
personal exemption. Income tax brackets were condensed, with a new top rate of 5.75% effective at net taxable income
levels of $300,000/$250,000 (joint/single returns) or more. Personal exemptions were reduced for joint returns with
FAGI of $150,000 or more, and single returns with FAGI of $125,000 or more. For those with FAGI of $200,000
(joint/single returns) or more, personal exemptions are no longer allowed.
In addition to the above, each county and Baltimore City must levy a local income tax at the rate of at least 1%
but not more than 3.2% of the individual’s Maryland taxable income. There are a number of credits available against
the income taxes, including a refundable earned income credit and a credit for rehabilitation of historic properties. An
additional tax on the income of non-residents is imposed in the amount of the lowest county income tax rate in effect
(currently 1.25%).
Corporations (domestic and foreign), including financial institutions and utilities, pay tax on the portion of net
taxable income allocable to the State. Maryland is a “separate entity” reporting state, meaning that each corporate
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entity files a return for its own activities; the entities are not combined to form a single economic entity or in a manner
similar to a federal affiliated filing. Generally, income is apportioned according to a three-factor apportionment
formula using sales, property, and payroll, where the sales factor is double-weighted. Manufacturing corporations
apportion their income based on sales only and certain other industries use apportionment formulas that more accurately
reflect their in-state activity. Corporate taxpayers are required to add to income any payments made for interest or
intangibles to a related company and any payments made as dividends by “captive” Real Estate Investment Trusts, in
order to prevent out-of-state subsidiaries from sheltering income from the Maryland corporate income tax. The tax rate
in effect since tax year 2008 is 8.25%.
Sales and Use Taxes. The State imposes a 6% sales and use tax on a retail sale or use of most tangible
personal property in the State and certain enumerated services (including custom telephone, detective and building
cleaning services among others); most services are exempt. In the 2011 Legislative Session, the sales and use tax rate
on alcohol purchases was increased to 9%, effective July 1, 2011. Among the exemptions from the sales and use tax
are sales of food for consumption off the premises by a vendor who operates a substantial grocery or market business at
the same location, medicines, medical supplies and medical aids, agricultural equipment and supplies, manufacturing
and research and development equipment and supplies, tangible personal property used in a production activity,
residential utilities and fuel, motor vehicles and vessels subject to excise taxes, and sales to nonprofit charitable,
educational or religious organizations to enable the organizations to carry on their exempt activities.
Property Taxes. Generally, all real property in the State is assessed at full cash value once every three years,
with any increase in full cash value arising from the assessment phased in over the ensuing three taxable years in equal
installments. Any decrease in the full cash value is recognized in full in the next taxable year and held constant for the
remaining two taxable years. Certain farm, marshland, woodland, country club, and planned development property is
assessed under special valuation techniques while public utility property is assessed at fair market value determined by
reference to both income and property values.
The State imposes a tax at a rate expressed per $100 of assessed value on all real property subject to taxation.
The State property tax rate was set at 11.2 cents in 2007 and has been maintained at that constant level. Properties
exempt from the State property tax include public property and property owned by certain nonprofit organizations for
their designated purposes. The Homestead Property Tax Credit limits to 10% the maximum annual increase in
assessments for owner-occupied principal residences that are subject to the State property tax. Revenues from the State
property tax are credited to the Annuity Bond Fund and used to service general obligation debt.
Each of the counties and Baltimore City levies its own property tax at rates established by them, as do most
incorporated municipalities. Tangible personal property and commercial and manufacturing inventory of businesses is
assessed at fair market value determined from annual reports filed with the State Department of Assessments and
Taxation. There is no State personal property tax but nineteen counties levy a tax on business personal property. See
also, “STATE DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC DATA – Assessed Value of Property.”
Lottery Revenues. The State currently operates ten major lottery games: three- and four-digit games drawn
twice daily; a five-number Maryland-only lotto-type game drawn daily; an 18-number, three-line lotto-type game
drawn twice a week; three multi-state six-number lotto-type games (Mega Millions, Powerball, and Cash4Life) drawn
twice a week; Keno and Racetrax, both terminal games; and various instant ticket games. Lottery tickets are sold by
licensed agents under the supervision of the Maryland Lottery and Gaming Control Agency. In fiscal year 2015, the
allocation of gross sales was 59.6% to prizes, 10.6% to administrative costs and agents’ commissions, and 29.8% to
State revenues. Except for administrative costs and relatively small distributions to the Maryland Stadium Authority
and Veteran’s Trust Fund, the State revenues are credited to the General Fund. Starting in fiscal year 2016, $20.0
million will be distributed to the Baltimore City Public School Construction Financing Fund in each fiscal year that
related bonds are outstanding.
Casino Gaming Revenues. In November 2008 voters approved a constitutional amendment authorizing a
maximum of 15,000 Video Lottery Terminals (“VLTs”) at five geographic locations. The Video Lottery Facility
Location Commission has approved facility licenses for all five of the geographic locations. Two facilities (Worcester
and Cecil Counties) opened in fiscal year 2011, a third facility (Anne Arundel County) opened in June 2012, a fourth
facility (Allegany County) opened in fiscal year 2013, and the fifth facility (Baltimore City) opened on August 26,
2014.
In August 2012, the General Assembly met in the Second Special Session of 2012 and enacted expanded
gaming legislation subject to the approval of voters of a constitutional amendment in the November 2012 general
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election. The legislation authorized video lottery operation licensees to operate table games in addition to VLTs,
increased from 15,000 to 16,500 the maximum number of VLTs that may be operated in the State, increased from five
to six the maximum number of video lottery operation licenses that may be awarded in the State, and allowed a video
lottery facility to operate in Prince George’s County. The referendum was approved by the voters during the November
2012 general election. The legislation also provided for certain changes in the distribution of VLT revenues (vary by
casino and year in many cases), which generally increased the distribution of VLT revenues to the video lottery
operation licensee and decreased the distribution to the Education Trust Fund, established the distribution of table game
revenues (80% to the video lottery operation licensee and 20% to the Education Trust Fund), and specified a schedule
for the opening of a Prince George’s County facility. On December 20, 2013, the Video Lottery Facility Location
Commission awarded a license for the Prince George’s County facility which had been expected to open in summer
2016; at this time, according to the owner’s SEC filings, the opening date has been postponed until the fourth quarter of
calendar year 2016.
In addition, the expanded gaming legislation contained certain provisions not subject to referendum, including:
reconstituting the State Lottery Commission as the State Lottery and Gaming Control Commission and specifying its
membership; authorizing the issuance of licenses to qualifying veterans organizations in certain counties for instant
ticket lottery machines; and transitioning VLT procurement from the State to VLT licensees. The State will continue to
own or lease VLTs for the Allegany and Worcester County facilities; however, these facilities may apply to the
Commission to assume ownership or the right to lease their own VLTs.
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The following table provides a summary of the ongoing revenue distribution of Maryland’s casino gaming program:
Total Revenue Generated by the Video Lottery
Fiscal Years 2015-2016
($ in millions)
2015
Actual
Revenue Distribution
Education Trust Fund.................................................................
Facility License Owners ............................................................
Racing Purses/Bred Funds .........................................................
Local Impact Grants...................................................................
Racetrack Renewal ....................................................................
Lottery Operations .....................................................................
Small/Minority/Women Owned Business Account ...................
Total (b) ........................................................................

$316.5
253.9
46.0
36.4
7.1
11.9
9.9
$681.8

2016
Estimate (a)
$312.9
295.6
48.7
38.6
6.8
7.6
10.5
$720.6

_______
(a)The 2016 Estimate is based on the March 31, 2016 revenue estimates from the Board of Revenue Estimates.
(b)Totals may not sum due to rounding.

Total Revenue Generated by Table Games
Fiscal Years 2015-2016
($ in millions)
2015
Actual
Revenue Distribution
Education Trust Fund.................................................................
Facility License Owners ............................................................
Total(b) .........................................................................

$71.3
285.1
$356.4

2016
Estimate (a)
$75.0
300.1
$375.1

_______
(a)The 2016 Estimate is based on the March 31, 2016 revenue estimates from the Board of Revenue Estimates.
(b)Totals may not sum due to rounding.

The distribution of revenue will be used for the following purposes:
Education Trust Fund: To provide funding for public elementary and secondary education, through continuation of the
funding and formulas established under the Bridge to Excellence in Public Schools Act. In addition to the ongoing
operational revenues above, the Education Trust Fund also receives all related miscellaneous revenue, including casino
license fees and account interest. Miscellaneous amounts are typically small unless there is revenue from licensing
fees. For example, in fiscal year 2015 licensing fees contributed $44.1 million out of a total of $44.6 million. All of the
statutorily permitted casinos have paid their licensing fees; therefore, miscellaneous revenues are expected to be
minimal going forward.
Facility License Owners: To reimburse the owners of the casino gaming facilities for operation of the facilities.
Racing Purses/Bred Funds: To supplement funding for racing purses and to assist the horse breeding industry.
Local Impact Grants: To provide assistance to local governments to be used for improvements primarily in the
communities in the immediate proximity to the video lottery facilities.
Racetrack Renewal: To make funds available for capital construction and improvements to the holders of a racetrack
license.
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Lottery Operations: To reimburse the State Lottery and Gaming Control Commission for the costs of regulating the
operation of casino gaming in Maryland.
Small, Minority, and Women-Owned Businesses Account: To provide investment capital and loans to small, minority,
and women-owned businesses in the State, at least 50% of which should be in communities surrounding a video lottery
facility.
Public Service Company Franchise Taxes. The State imposes a franchise tax at the rate of 2% on the gross
receipts from operations of public service companies engaged in the telephone business or in the transmission,
distribution or delivery of electricity or natural gas in Maryland. In addition, a franchise tax of 0.062 cents for each
kilowatt hour of electricity delivered for final consumption in Maryland, and of 0.402 cents for each therm of natural
gas delivered for final consumption in Maryland, is imposed on each public service company engaged in the
transmission, distribution or delivery of electricity or natural gas in Maryland. Public service companies subject to the
tax on kilowatt hours of electricity and therms of natural gas are entitled to credits with respect to deliveries of such
products to certain industrial customers.
Insurance Taxes. Insurance companies, including health maintenance organizations, are taxed at the rate of
2% on all new and renewal gross direct premiums (after certain deductions) allocable to the State.
Motor Vehicle Fuel and Titling Taxes and Registration Fees. The State imposes a per gallon excise tax at the
wholesale level. Prior to July 2013, the rates were as follows: 23.5 cents for gasoline and motor fuels; 24.25 cents for
special fuel other than aviation and turbine fuel; and 7 cents on aviation and turbine fuel. In the 2013 Legislative
Session, the static excise tax rates for gasoline and special fuel were replaced by a two-prong rate setting system that
adjusts the relevant excise rates annually in most years and semiannually in certain years.
The first prong is an annual adjustment to the aforementioned base excise tax rates on each July 1 st, beginning
July 1, 2013. The base rates are indexed to the Consumer Price Index, compounding with each adjustment, and the
annual increase may not be greater than 8%. The second prong is the product of multiplying a certain percentage,
which varies for the first several years, with the prior year’s average daily retail price (less federal and State motor fuel
excise taxes) for regular gasoline. The percentage for the July 1, 2013 calculation was 1%, increasing to 2% on January
1, 2015 and 3% on July 1, 2015. The law provides for additional increases for fiscal years 2016 and 2017, ultimately
reaching 5%. The effective rates, beginning January 1, 2016, are 32.60 cents and 33.35 cents for gasoline and special
fuels, respectively.
There is an excise tax imposed upon the issuance of original and subsequent certificates of title to motor
vehicles at the rate of 6% of the fair market value of the vehicle, with an allowance for 100% of the value of a trade-in
(prior to January 1, 2008, the excise tax rate was 5% and there was no trade-in allowance). The State requires a
registration fee on all motor vehicles that ranges from $2.50 to $1,838 per vehicle depending on the size and type of
vehicle. Registration fees are generally imposed for two years at the time of titling or at the time registration is
renewed. There are several classes of vehicles, and fees vary within a class depending on the size of the vehicle. For
example, the registration fee for passenger cars (Class A) ranges from $135 to $187 depending on the weight of the
vehicle. An annual surcharge of $17.00 is included in most registration fees and is dedicated to the statewide
Emergency Medical Services System.
Transfer Taxes. The State imposes a tax upon the recordation of instruments conveying title to real or
personal property and conveying leasehold interests in real property. These are special fund revenues, although in
some fiscal years all or a portion of these revenues were transferred to the General Fund. In fiscal years 2013, 2014,
2015, and 2016, a total of $96.9 million, $89.2 million, $144.2 million, and $115.4 million in transfer taxes,
respectively, were transferred to the General Fund. The fiscal year 2017 transfer is $62.8 million. Legislation enacted
in the 2009 Session also requires that transfer taxes must first be used to pay principal and interest due on certain
general obligation bonds issued for Maryland Program Open Space.
Tobacco Taxes. Effective January 1, 2008, the State imposed a tax at the rate of $2.00 per pack of 20
cigarettes and 15% of the wholesale price of other tobacco products (the prior rate of tax for cigarettes was $1.00 per
pack). All cigarette packs in retailers’ and wholesalers’ inventories on January 1, 2008 were subject to a floor tax of
$1.00 per pack. In the First Special Session of 2012, the tax on other tobacco products was increased to 70% of the
wholesale price for cigars other than premium cigars and 30% for all other tobacco products. A floor tax on all other

14

tobacco products in inventory on July 1, 2012 was also levied.
Estate and Inheritance Taxes. The State’s inheritance tax rate is 10% (bequests to direct relations and siblings
are exempt). The State also imposes an estate tax and a generation-skipping transfer tax. These taxes were initially
designed to capture the maximum revenue possible without imposing an additional tax burden on estates through a
credit against the federal taxes. For State estate tax purposes, the unified credit is fixed at $345,000, which effectively
exempts $1.0 million from the estate tax. In the First Special Session of 2012, legislation was enacted that exempts up
to $5.0 million of qualified agricultural property for decedents dying after December 31, 2012, although the estate tax
will be recaptured if, within ten years of the decedent’s death, the property ceases to be used for agricultural purposes.
In the 2014 Legislative Session, an increase in the amount that can be excluded for Maryland estate tax purposes is
phased in over five year beginning with decedents dying in calendar year 2015. The amount that can be excluded under
the estate tax will increase to (1) $1.5 million for a decedent dying in calendar 2015; (2) $2.0 million for a decedent
dying in calendar 2016; (3) $3.0 million for a decedent dying in calendar 2017; and (4) $4.0 million for a decedent
dying in calendar 2018. Beginning on January 1, 2019, the State exclusion amount will equal the amount that can be
excluded under the federal estate tax.
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes. There is a tax at the rate of $1.50 per gallon on all alcoholic beverages, except
beer and wine, sold or delivered by a manufacturer or wholesaler to any retail dealer in the State. Taxes at the rates of
40 cents per gallon of wine and 9 cents per gallon of beer are imposed on the sale or delivery of those beverages by a
manufacturer to a wholesale or retail dealer in the State. In addition, as noted above, the sales and use tax rate on retail
alcoholic purchases was increased from 6% to 9% effective July 1, 2011.
Bay Restoration Fee. Through fiscal year 2012, all users of sewerage and septic systems in the State were
charged a mandatory fee of $30 per year (or $30 per “equivalent dwelling unit”). During the 2012 Legislative Session,
the fee was increased from $30 per year to $60 per year for most users, effective July 1, 2012. Revenues from users of
sewerage systems are pledged, to the extent necessary, as security for Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds issued by the
Maryland Water Quality Financing Administration, the proceeds of which will be applied primarily to provide grant
funds to upgrade wastewater treatment plants with enhanced nutrient removal technology. The fiscal year 2010
transfer of $155.0 million, the fiscal year 2011 transfer of $45.0 million, and the fiscal year 2012 transfer of $90.0
million from the Bay Restoration Fund to the General Fund pursuant to the Budget Reconciliation and Financing Acts
of 2010 and 2011, were offset by authorizations of equal amounts of general obligation bonds.
Other Revenues. Exclusive of the proceeds of bond issues, approximately 58.5% of State revenues in fiscal
year 2014 were received from sources other than taxes and lottery receipts. The largest component (27.6% of total
revenues) was received from the federal government for highway and transit reimbursements; reimbursements and
grants for health care programs; categorical and matching aid for public assistance, social services, and employment
security; aid for public education; and miscellaneous grants-in-aid to State agencies. In addition to federal funds, the
State receives revenues from court fines and costs; patient payments for services in State hospitals; interest on invested
funds; and tuition fees paid to institutions of higher education. The State also receives revenues from operations of the
Maryland Transit Administration, the Maryland Port Administration, and the Maryland Aviation Administration,
which are paid into the Transportation Trust Fund.
Revenue Estimates. The State’s revenue estimates are based upon projections by the Board of Revenue
Estimates, composed of the Comptroller, the Treasurer, and the Secretary of Budget and Management. The Board
studies the findings and recommendations of the Bureau of Revenue Estimates, a statutory State agency
administratively under the Comptroller, that reviews the findings and recommendations of other agencies responsible
for economic monitoring and revenue administration, and reports the estimates of revenue to the Governor for
submission to the General Assembly in connection with the budget.
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In its report issued each December, the Board of Revenue Estimates presents revised revenue estimates for the
current fiscal year (based upon current economic factors and legislative changes), and revenue estimates for the next
succeeding fiscal year, upon which that fiscal year’s budget is based. The revised estimate for the current year is made
seven months before the end of that fiscal year, while the budget estimate for the next succeeding fiscal year is made
19 months before the end of that fiscal year. The estimates are reviewed in March, prior to final action on the budget by
the General Assembly, and any appropriate adjustments to the estimates are made at that time. The following table
shows the accuracy of General Fund revenue estimates for the 2011 through 2015 fiscal years.
Historic General Fund Revenue Estimates and Actual Collections
($ in millions)
Fiscal
Year

Actual
Collections

2011 ................................
2012 .................................
2013 .................................
2014 .................................
2015 .................................
______

$13,537.4
14,257.8
14,867.5
15,106.2
15,922.6

Original Estimate
Amount
% (a)
$12,666.3
13,597.8
14,423.0
15,351.2
16,005.3

106.82%
104.85
103.08
98.40
100.52

Final Estimate
Amount
% (a)
$13,223.2
14,028.2
14,938.7
15,133.5
15,708.4

102.38%
101.64
99.52
99.82
98.65

(a) Actual collections as a percentage of estimates.
Note: Estimated and actual collections exclude transfers and other actions appearing in APPENDIX C, page C-3 as extraordinary transfers and
revenues.

Receipts from the State property tax, all of which are devoted to debt service on general obligation bonds
and which provided approximately 71.1% of revenues available for general obligation bond debt service payment
in fiscal year 2015 (see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General
Obligation Bonds”), are credited to a separate account known as the Annuity Bond Fund. The Board of
Public Works is required annually to fix the property tax rate by May 1, after the end of the regular Legislative
Session, in an amount sufficient to pay all debt service for the ensuing fiscal year on general obligation bonds after
taking account of the amounts and sources of funds provided in the budget for that fiscal year, which begins July
1. The Commission on State Debt (consisting of the Treasurer, the Comptroller, the Secretary of Budget and
Management, the Secretary of Transportation, the Director of the State Department of Assessments and Taxation,
and one individual appointed by the Governor and not otherwise affiliated with State government) makes an
original estimate approximately three months before July 1 of the year to which the property tax rate will apply and
a revised estimate approximately nine months after that date. The following table portrays the accuracy of estimates
of State property tax revenue in fiscal years 2011 through 2015.
State Property Tax Revenue Estimates
($ in millions)
Fiscal
Year

Property
Tax Rate (a)

2011 .................................
11.2
2012 .................................
11.2
2013 .................................
11.2
2014 .................................
11.2
2015 .................................
11.2

Actual
Collections
798.3
762.3
730.4
724.8
730.7

Original Estimate
Amount
% (b)
790.4
761.8
728.5
719.9
722.0

___________
(a) The property tax rate is in cents per $100 of assessed valuation.
(b) Actual collections as a percentage of estimates.
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100.99
100.06
100.26
100.68
101.20

Final Estimate
Amount
% (b)
801.1
752.9
723.9
717.5
725.8

99.65
101.25
100.90
101.01
100.67

State Expenditures and Services
State expenditures and services for capital and operating programs include a typical range of direct
governmental services and activities, as well as State support and aid to local governmental units, primarily in the
area of education.
Public Education. The agencies administering public education spend the largest portion of State revenue. In
the fiscal year 2016 Budget, including proposed deficiencies and reductions, public education accounts for 48.7% of
General Fund appropriations and 33.9% of all appropriations.
Elementary and Secondary Education. The school boards of the 23 counties and Baltimore City are
responsible for much of the administration of public elementary and secondary schools, including charter schools.
There are no special, separate school districts in Maryland. The State supports the elementary and secondary
education programs of the counties and Baltimore City through a number of aid programs. The major programs are
described as follows: (1) under a formula equalized for ability to pay and based on wealth and enrollment factors,
the State distributes aid to the local school systems for current expenses; (2) for personnel in local public schools,
the State pays directly its share of the employer’s portion of the retirement system contributions; and (3) the State
also distributes aid based on the number of students receiving free or reduced price meals, under various components
of the Students with Disabilities Aid Program, and for pupil transportation. In addition to these major programs, the
State Department of Education provides aid for local libraries, food service, and various educational activities and,
through the State Department of Education’s Interagency Fund, distributes funds to address the service needs of
children at risk.
Higher Education. The public higher education system consists of the University System of Maryland and
Morgan State University, each governed by its respective Board of Regents; St. Mary’s College of Maryland,
governed by its own Board of Trustees; Baltimore City Community College, a State institution governed by its
Board of Trustees; and 16 community colleges, each governed by a local or regional Board of Trustees.
The Maryland Higher Education Commission is responsible for developing a statewide plan for higher
education, approving mission statements, setting funding guidelines and administering State aid to local community
colleges, aid to private colleges and universities, and student financial aid programs.
The State finances the State universities and colleges principally with State General Fund revenues. In
addition, the State finances a share of the cost of the locally owned two-year community colleges. State financial
assistance is primarily in the form of general purpose formula grants. The State also makes grants to eligible private
institutions of higher education under a formula based on State support for State four-year universities and colleges.
The higher education share of fiscal year 2015 expenditures for all funds was 15.0% and is 15.0% of the fiscal year
2016 Budget.
The following table presents the trends of enrollment (expressed in full-time equivalent students) at the State
universities and colleges and the local community colleges for the fiscal years shown.
Enrollment (full-time equivalent students)
State Universities and Colleges

Fiscal
Year

State
Four-Year
Institutions

2012 ..................................................................................
2013 ..................................................................................
2014 .................................................................................
2015 …………………………………………………….
2016 estimate …………………………………………..

129,635
129,120
127,765
131,836
132,124
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Community
Colleges
115,485
111,961
106,996
103,447
106,657

Total
245,120
241,096
234,761
235,283
238,781

Health and Mental Hygiene. The Department of Health and Mental Hygiene has general responsibility for
public health in the State and provides direct services through 11 health facilities, finances medical services to the
indigent, and aids local health departments on a matching formula basis. For fiscal year 2016, $12,192.7 million was
budgeted for the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, including $6,815.9 million in federal funds, $3,945.0
million in State general funds and $1,431.9 million in State special funds.
The Department’s largest expenditure is for the medical assistance (Medicaid) program under which the State
makes payments to vendors providing health services to eligible low-income individuals and families. For fiscal year
2015, $9,580.4 million was spent on this program, including services for those enrolled in the Maryland Children’s
Health Program (MCHP). The majority of these expenditures were for services for which the State recovered
approximately a 50% match from the federal government. For fiscal year 2015, the average monthly enrollment in
these programs was 1,275,577. For fiscal year 2016, the budget provides for 1,232,885 Medical Assistance and MCHP
enrollees and funding of $9,857.2 million. As of July 1, 2014, behavioral health expenditures for Medicaid enrollees
were moved from the budget of the Behavioral Health Administration to the Medicaid program. Therefore, the funds
budgeted for Medicaid-funded behavioral health services are now included in the fiscal year 2015 and 2016 totals
above.
The health centers operated by the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene provide care for individuals
with behavioral health conditions, developmental disabilities, and chronic illness. In recent years the State has
expanded programs to provide services within the community as an alternative to institutionalization in State
facilities.
Transportation. Transportation is the third largest category of State expenditures. The Department of
Transportation is responsible for most of the State’s various transportation facilities and for developing and
maintaining a State master plan for transportation. It administers the State highway system; operates a mass transit
system in the Baltimore region; assists mass transit in the Washington, D.C. region; operates and assists commuter
rail systems and certain critical freight railroads; operates two airports, including Baltimore/Washington
International Thurgood Marshall Airport (“BWI Marshall”); operates State-owned port facilities, primarily in
Baltimore Harbor; and administers the licensing and regulation of motor vehicle drivers and dealers, as well as
motor vehicles. For the amended fiscal year 2017 budget, the transportation budget totals $5,166.5 million; on the
same basis, for fiscal year 2016 $4,700.0 million was budgeted. See “STATE FINANCES – Transportation Trust
Fund” with respect to the principal revenues and expenditures related to the Department of Transportation.
The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) of which the Secretary of Transportation is Chairman,
is responsible for the administration of the various toll revenue facilities, which consist of bridges over the
Susquehanna, Patapsco, and Potomac Rivers and the Chesapeake Bay; two tunnels under the Baltimore Harbor; the
John F. Kennedy Memorial Highway (including the Interstate 95 Express Toll Lanes); the Intercounty Connector;
and other transportation facilities. The MDTA’s financial transactions are accounted for in a separate special
revenue fund and are not included in the Transportation Trust Fund.
Human Resources. The Department of Human Resources administers State and federal programs relating
to child welfare, foster care, public assistance, family investment services, adult services, energy assistance, legal
services, child support enforcement, and work opportunity assistance for adults receiving public assistance. For
fiscal year 2017, approximately $2,587.1 million was budgeted for the Department of Human Resources, including
$630.6 million in State general funds.
Public assistance programs include Temporary Cash Assistance (“TCA”), Supplemental Nutrition
Assistance Program (“SNAP”), assistance to disabled citizens, and several emergency assistance programs. The
largest categories of programs are TCA, in which the State/federal government shares vary depending upon the areas
to which the State directs its maintenance of effort, and food stamps (SNAP), which are 100% federal funds. The
Department of Human Resources also provides a broad range of social services to the indigent and other eligible
persons under both federal-State and State-only programs.
Public Safety and Correctional Services, State Police, Juvenile Services and Governor’s Office of Crime
Control and Prevention. The Departments of Public Safety and Correctional Services, State Police, and Juvenile
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Services, include correctional agencies and institutions, parole units, the Maryland State Police, services and
facilities for adjudicated youth, and related activities. The Governor’s Office of Crime Control and Prevention
administers federal and State grant programs focusing on crime control and prevention. For fiscal year 2017,
approximately $2,266.2 million was budgeted for these departments, of which $1,925.8 million is from general
funds.
Other Expenditures and Services. The State has numerous other operating units, including the judicial
system; financial and revenue administration; labor, licensing and regulation; planning, budgetary activity, and
personnel administration; natural resources and recreation; commerce; housing and community development;
environment; and others, all of which accounts for approximately 9.3% of total expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and
9.8% of the fiscal year 2016 General Fund Budget. In addition, general obligation bond debt service accounts for
approximately 1.6% of the fiscal year 2017 General Fund appropriation and 2.8% of the fiscal year Total Fund
appropriation. It accounted for 2.7% of total expenditures for fiscal year 2015 and 2.8% of the fiscal year 2016
Budget.

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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State Reserve Fund
The State Reserve Fund is currently composed of four accounts: the Revenue Stabilization Account,
which is established to retain State revenues for future needs and to reduce the need for future tax increases; the
Dedicated Purpose Account, which is established to retain appropriations for major multi-year expenditures and to
meet contingency requirements; the Economic Development Opportunities Program Account, which is to be
used for extraordinary economic development opportunities as a supplement to existing programs; and the
Catastrophic Event Account, which is to be used to respond quickly to a natural disaster or other catastrophic
event that cannot be managed within existing appropriations. All interest earned on the State Reserve Fund is
credited to the Revenue Stabilization Account.
The Governor is required to include in each annual budget bill an appropriation of $100.0 million if
the balance in the Revenue Stabilization Account is less than 3.0% of estimated General Fund revenues. If the
balance in the Account is at least 3.0% of estimated General Fund revenues but less than 7.5% of estimated
General Fund revenues, the Governor is required to include an appropriation to the Account of $50.0 million or
the amount necessary to bring the balance of the Account to above 7.5%, whichever is less. Maryland law
defines estimated General Fund revenues as those stated in the annual report of the Board of Revenue
Estimates submitted to the Governor.
For fiscal year 2017-2020, the Governor is required to include an appropriation to the State Retirement
System equal to half of the unappropriated General Fund balance in excess of $10.0 million up to $50.0 million for the
State Retirement System. For fiscal year 2021 and thereafter the Governor is required to appropriate the entirety of the
unappropriated General Fund balance in excess of $10.0 million to the Revenue Stabilization Account.
Withdrawals that do not result in a Revenue Stabilization Account balance below 5% of estimated General
Fund revenues must be authorized by an act in FY 2018. In fiscal year 2019 and beyond withdrawals that do not result
in a balance below 5% must be authorized by an act of the General Assembly or specifically authorized in the State
budget. Withdrawals that result in a Revenue Stabilization Account balance below 5% of estimated general fund
revenues must be authorized by an act of the General Assembly other than the State Budget Bill.
The following table presents the balances of the State Reserve Fund for the four fiscal years ended June 30,
2012 through June 30, 2015, and the estimate for the fiscal year ending on June 30, 2016.
State Reserve Fund
Fiscal Years 2012–2016
($ in millions)
____
Balance at Fiscal Year End
Fiscal
Year
2012 (a).........................................
2013 (a).........................................
2014 .............................................
2015 (b) ........................................
2016 (estimate)……………….
___
(a)

(b)

Revenue
Stabilization
Account
671.5
700.4
763.6
773.5
831.7

Other
Accounts
2.8
19.8
8.9
6.5
33.7

Total State
Reserve Fund
674.3
720.2
772.5
780.0
865.4

Revenue Stabilization
Account as a % of
General Fund Revenue
4.7
4.7
5.1
4.8
5.1

In the proposed budget, the Revenue Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of General Fund revenue as stated in the annual report
of the Board of Revenue Estimates equaled 5.0%. Subsequently, the percentage fell below 5.0% due to increased revenues and/or lower
than expected interest earnings.
In the proposed budget, the Revenue Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of General Fund revenue as stated in the annual report
of the Board of Revenue Estimates equaled 5.0%. Subsequently, $20 million was transferred from the Revenue Stabilization Account to
provide relief to areas affected by the April 2015 unrest in Baltimore, Maryland and the percentage fell below 5.0%. On June 23, 2015 the
Board of Public Works approved the transfer of $6.9 million back to the Revenue Stabilization Account.
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Fiscal Year 2011-2015 GAAP General Fund Results of Operations
The GAAP General Fund is that fund from which all general costs of State government are paid and to which
taxes and other revenues not specifically directed by law to be deposited in separate funds are recorded in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The following table presents the comparative statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances in the GAAP General Fund for fiscal years ended June 30, 2011
through June 30, 2015.
GAAP General Fund Comparative Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
Fiscal Years 2011-2015
($ in thousands)
2011
Revenues (a):
Income taxes ................................................................................................
Sales and use taxes .......................................................................................
Other taxes ...................................................................................................
Other licenses and fees .................................................................................
Charges for services .....................................................................................
Interest and other investment income ...........................................................
Federal revenue ............................................................................................
Other ............................................................................................................
Total revenues .....................................................................................
Expenditures (a):
General government .....................................................................................
Health and mental hygiene ...........................................................................
Education ....................................................................................................
Human resources ..........................................................................................
Public Safety ................................................................................................
Judicial .........................................................................................................
Labor, licensing and regulation ....................................................................
Natural resources and recreation ..................................................................
Housing and community development .........................................................
Environment ................................................................................................
Agriculture ...................................................................................................
Business and economic development ...........................................................
Intergovernmental ........................................................................................
Total expenditures ................................................................................
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures ...............................
Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Capital leases ...............................................................................................
Housing Bonds issued (b).............................................................................
Transfers in ..................................................................................................
Transfers out ................................................................................................
Net other sources (uses) of financial resources .....................................
Net change in fund balances .........................................................................
Fund balances at the beginning of the year ..........................................................
Fund balances, June 30 ........................................................................................
Fund balance as % of revenues ............................................................................

2012

2013

2014

2015

$7,639,285
3,896,876
1,598,321
683,289
1,446,815
20,768
9,159,668
293,164
24,738,186

$7,822,259
4,076,729
1,597,152
714,891
1,611,811
83,924
8,241,894
401,447
24,550,107

$8,652,063
4,114,462
1,639,504
678,648
1,733,460
(91,919)
8,211,036
468,415
25,405,669

$8,743,986
4,196,314
1,678,552
607,785
1,740,718
106,866
8,983,031
396,472
26,453,724

$9,418,584
4,410,080
1,737,057
641,478
1,562,196
61,938
10,188,633
373,876
28,393,844

770,805
9,441,903
8,854,150
2,420,789
1,873,921
577,333
246,700
182,229
368,857
107,457
80,770
79,284
329,094
25,333,292
(595,106)

832,536
9,772,861
8,700,025
2,488,200
1,875,795
590,082
261,615
179,682
344,408
96,116
79,294
75,835
316,863
25,613,312
(1,063,205)

878,773
9,949,816
8,795,130
2,557,386
1,879,264
594,522
304,289
171,206
293,743
87,728
80,353
69,425
329,028
25,990,663
(584,994)

832,136
11,160,187
9,007,495
2,542,075
1,888,200
638,115
319,814
186,486
292,494
96,901
87,110
103,253
355,307
27,509,573
(1,055,849)

853,446
12,007,975
9,394,548
2,543,937
1,972,570
689,975
322,158
232,514
266,912
107,103
75,226
100,030
364,409
28,930,802
(536,958)

19,633
100
1,116,961
(451,070)
685,624
90,518
1,249,092
$1,339,610

4,593
1,098,506
(302,402)
800,697
(262,508)
1,339,610
$1,077,102

3,184
1,023,818
(159,875)
867,127
282,133
1,077,102
$1,359,235

167,717
1,069,971
(401,750)
835,938
(219,911)
1,359,235
$1,139,325

3,676
1,117,818
(439,907)
681,587
144,629
1,139,325
$1,283,953

5.4%

4.4%

5.4%

4.3%

4.5%

(a) The budgetary system’s principal departures from the modified accrual basis, i.e. GAAP, are with the classification of the State’s budgetary
funds and the timing of certain revenues and expenditures. See APPENDIX A – “COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT.”
(b) Department of Housing and Community Development Bonds issued for the Home Ownership Programs in the enterprise fund.
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General Fund 2016 Budget
2016 Budget. The General Assembly enacted the fiscal year 2016 Budget (the “2016 Budget”) on April 13,
2015. The 2016 Budget includes $16,404.2 million in spending for, among other things: (1) $7,095.7 million in aid to
local governments from general funds; (2) 3,945.0 million to support public health services in the Department of
Health and Mental Hygiene, including $2,852.2 million for the Medicaid Program; (3) $72.5 million for the State
Reserve Fund; and (4) funds to the State’s retirement and pension systems. The Maryland General Assembly also
restricted $201.7 million in general funds for certain purposes; the preceding figures do not use these funds and will be
discussed more below.
As part of the fiscal year 2016 Budget plan, the General Assembly enacted the Budget Reconciliation and
Financing Act of 2015 (the “2015 Act”), legislation that authorizes various funding changes resulting in increased
General Fund revenues and decreased General Fund appropriations. The largest revenue adjustment is the redirection
of $37.7 million in transfer tax revenues (in addition to what was transferred in the fiscal year 2014 and 2015 budgets)
to the General Fund in fiscal year 2016. In addition, the 2015 Act authorizes the use of $55.0 million in excess funds
from the Maryland Health Insurance Program to be used to pay for the State’s Medicaid program. The 2015 Act also
fully phases out the corridor method of pension funding, replacing it with full actuarial funding and $75 million in
supplemental contributions, discussed later in this section. A number of other smaller adjustments to spending and
revenues are implemented by the 2015 Act. Finally, the 2016 Budget also includes a $17.4 million reimbursement from
tax credit reserves.
The 2016 Budget includes a $72.5 million appropriation to the State Reserve Fund. The balance in the
Revenue Stabilization Account at June 30, 2016 is estimated to equal $831.7 million, or 5.1% of General Fund
revenues, as estimated by the Board of Revenue Estimates in March 2016 (a).
The 2016 budget includes $1.5 billion in state funding for the pension system. In accordance with the 2015
Act the State will move to full actuarial funding in fiscal year 2017. The 2015 Act also required additional
supplemental contributions to the pension system of $75 million each year until is 85% funded. In addition, the State
altered its sweeper provision for unappropriated fund general fund balance left at the end of the fiscal year. For year
2017-2020, the Governor is required to deposit half of the unappropriated General Fund balance in excess of $10.0
million up to $50.0 million for the State Retirement system. See “STATE FINANCES – Maryland State Retirement
and Pension System – Funding Policies.”
As part of the 2016 Budget, the Maryland General Assembly restricted $201.7 million in general funds for
certain purposes. These funds may only be used for the purposes described by the Assembly, but the Governor is not
required to spend the funds. If the funds go unspent, they will revert to the General Fund at the end of fiscal year 2016.
Of these restricted funds, the state will spend $118.7 million and will not spend $83.0 million.
The 2016 Budget funds debt service on the State’s general obligation bonds with $252.4 million in general
funds, $867.0 million in special funds, primarily from State property tax revenues, and $11.5 million in federal funds
reflecting the interest subsidy on current outstanding ARRA Bonds(b). The projected amount of State property tax
revenues reflects a property tax rate of 11.2 cents (per $100 of taxable assessed value), a rate unchanged from fiscal
year 2015.

___________
(a)

(b)

In the proposed budget, the Revenue Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of General Fund revenue as stated in the annual
report of the Board of Revenue Estimates equaled 5.0%. Subsequently, $20 million was transferred from the Revenue Stabilization
Account to provide relief to areas affected by the April 2015 unrest in Baltimore, Maryland and the percentage fell below 5.0%. On
June 23, 2015 the Board of Public Works approved the transfer of $6.9 million back to the Revenue Stabilization Account.
This number reflects estimated sequester reductions of 7.3% for federal fiscal year 2016.
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Subsequent Events.
On March 9, 2016, the Board of Revenue Estimates increased its General Fund revenue estimates by $9.2
million in fiscal year 2016 and decreased its General fund revenue estimates by $60.6 million in fiscal year 2017 for a
total reduction of $51.4 million. Based on the events and actions discussed above, it is estimated that the General Fund
balance on a budgetary basis at June 30, 2016 will be $551.4 million.
The enacted 2017 Budget includes deficiency appropriations for fiscal year 2016 of $207.3 million. It also
assumes $30.0 million in reversions.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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General Fund Revenues and Appropriations — Budgetary Basis
Fiscal Years 2015-2016
($ in millions)
2016
2015
Original
Actual
Budget
General Fund Revenues
Income Taxes.............................................................................
$ 9,123.5
$ 9,610.5
Sales and Use Taxes ..................................................................
4,350.7
4,515.7
Lottery .......................................................................................
506.5
495.4
Franchises, Excises, Licenses, Fees ...........................................
1,797.7
1,666.9
Adjustments / Extraordinary Items ............................................
Total* .................................................................................
General Fund Appropriations
Public Education ........................................................................
Human Resources ......................................................................
Public Health .............................................................................
Public Safety, State Police, Juvenile Services, and Governor’s
Office of Crime Control and Prevention ....................................
Capital Funding .........................................................................
State Reserve Fund – Revenue Stabilization
& Dedicated Purpose Accounts ..........................................
Debt Service – GO Bonds
Administrative and Other .........................................................
Total* .................................................................................

Increases:
Revenues......................................................................
Reimbursements from Tax Credit Reserves ................
Transfer from other funds ............................................
Decreases:
Appropriations .............................................................
Reversions ...................................................................
Balance End of Year* (b) ..........................................................

$ 9,645.8
4,449.7
520.4
1,713.3

144.2
$15,922.6

115.4
$16,403.9

$7,729.9
620.3
4,078.4

$7,809.1
622.2
4,173.0

$7,906.0
606.1
3,945.0

1,779.3
1.1

1,788.2
30.0

1,849.9
26.5

14.8
140.0
1,538.4
$15,902.3

200.0
252.4
1,559.3
$16,434.2

72.5
252.4
1,581.6
$16,239.9

General Fund Balance — Budgetary Basis
Fiscal Years 2015-2016
($ in millions)
2015
Actual
Balance Beginning of Year .......................................................

2016
Estimate (a)

115.4
$16,444.5

2016
Estimate (a)

$147.5

$320.4

15,923
18
144.2
16,084

16,444.5
21.9
4.5
16,791.3

15,939.0
(28)
15,911
$320.4

16,641.5
(401.6)
16,239.9
$551.4

___________
(a) Estimated revenues include revenues estimated by the Board of Revenue Estimates in March 2016 and revenue adjustments incorporated in the
fiscal year 2016 Budget. Estimated appropriations are based on the 2016 Budget as amended, including proposed deficiency appropriations of
$207.3 million passed as part of the 2017 Budget and estimated current year reversions of $401.6 million.
(b) Fund balance does not include amounts reserved for the State Reserve Fund or encumbrances. See “STATE FINANCES – State Reserve
Fund.”
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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General Fund 2017 Budget
2017 Budget. The General Assembly enacted the fiscal year 2017 Budget (the “2017 Budget”) on April 12,
2016. The 2017 Budget includes $17,205.6 million in General Fund spending for, among other things: (1) $7,381.5
million in aid to local governments from general funds; (2) 4,362.6 million to support public health services in the
Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, including $3,044.9 million for the Medicaid Program; (3) $155.4 million
for the State Reserve Fund; and (4) funds to the State’s retirement and pension systems. The Maryland General
Assembly also restricted $132.8 million in general funds for certain purposes; the preceding figures do not use these
funds and will be discussed more below.
The 2017 Budget includes a $155.4 million appropriation to the State Reserve Fund. The balance in the
Revenue Stabilization Account at June 30, 2017 is estimated to equal $1,001.8 million, or 5.9% of General Fund
revenues, as estimated by the Board of Revenue Estimates in March 2016.
The 2017 budget includes $1.6 billion in state funding for the pension system. In accordance with the 2015
Act the State will move to full actuarial funding in fiscal year 2017. The 2015 Act also required additional
supplemental contributions to the pension system of $75 million each year until is 85% funded. In addition, the State
altered its sweeper provision for unappropriated fund general fund balance left at the end of the fiscal year. For year
2017-2020, the Governor is required to deposit half of the unappropriated General Fund balance in excess of $10.0
million up to $50 million for the State Retirement system. See “STATE FINANCES – Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System – Funding Policies.”
As part of the 2017 Budget, the Maryland General Assembly restricted $132.8 million in general funds for
certain purposes. These funds may only be used for the purposes described by the Assembly, but the Governor is not
required to spend the funds. If the funds go unspent, they will revert to the General Fund at the end of fiscal year 2017.
The 2017 Budget funds debt service on the State’s general obligation bonds with $283.0 million in general
funds, $892.6 million in special funds, primarily from State property tax revenues, and $11.5 million in federal funds
reflecting the interest subsidy on current outstanding ARRA Bonds (this number reflects estimated sequester reductions
of 7.2% for federal fiscal year 2016). The projected amount of State property tax revenues reflects a property tax rate
of 11.2 cents (per $100 of taxable assessed value), a rate unchanged from fiscal year 2016.
Based on the events and actions discussed above, it is estimated that the General Fund balance on a budgetary
basis at June 30, 2017 will be $364.6 million.

General Fund Outlook
As with all future projections, the information in this section is based on certain assumptions. One or more of
these assumptions may prove to be inaccurate and may be changed in the future as new information becomes available.
The Department of Legislative Services forecasts that the structural budget surplus in fiscal year 2017 will be $100
million; structural budget gaps ranging from $28 million to $515 million are projected for fiscal years 2018 through
2021. The Governor must submit and the Legislature must enact a balanced budget. See “STATE FINANCES –
Budgetary System”.
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Interim General Fund Revenues and Expenditures
The State does not issue, nor does it have procedures in effect that provide interim financial statements; however,
the Office of the Comptroller has compiled the following summary data with respect to the revenues of the General Fund for
the nine months ended March 31, 2015 and ended March 31, 2016. The General Fund is that fund from which all general
costs of State government are paid and to which taxes and other revenues not specifically directed by law to be deposited in
separate funds are recorded. Approximately 41.1% of revenues were accounted for in the General Fund in fiscal year 2015,
and it is currently estimated that the General Fund will account for 40.7% of all revenues in fiscal year 2016. The
presentation of this data does not purport to be, and should not be construed as, an interim Statement of General Fund
Revenues, Expenditures, and Surplus; however, adjustments have been made to present the revenues on a basis reasonably
comparable to the table of operating revenues included in the section “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues” presented
elsewhere in this Official Statement.
General Fund Revenues. The following presents a summary of General Fund revenues on a budgetary basis by
major categories for the nine months ended March 31, 2015 and 2016.
General Fund Revenues
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2015

Nine Months Ended March 31
Fiscal Year 2016

% of FY Estimated
Revenues (a)

Amount

% of FY Estimated
Revenues (a)

Income Taxes (b) ...............................................
$5,854.5
Sales and Use Taxes (b).....................................2,846.1
Motor Vehicle User Taxes, Fees ...................... 5.0
Property, Franchise, Excise Taxes(c) ................ 886.1
Sundry Fees, Licenses, Charges, Etc. ................ 575.6
Federal ............................................................... 21.4

65.5%
65.7
100.0
65.6
47.6
36.9

$6,331.6
2,913.2
4.6
891.4
582.0
6.0

65.6%
65.5
100.0
67.6
51.0
10.9

Totals * ..............................................................
$10,188.8

64.0%

$10,728.9

65.3%

Amount

____________
(a)
(b)
(c)

For the first nine months of fiscal year 2015, represents the percentage of actual revenues for the full fiscal year; for the first nine months of fiscal year
2016, represents the percentage of revenues as estimated by the Board of Revenues Estimates on March 31, 2016.
Income taxes and sales and use taxes reflect amounts actually received from July through March, excluding amounts received in that period allocable to
the preceding fiscal year.
These revenues include existing transfer tax revenue whose distribution was changed for fiscal years 2014 through 2018 in the Budget Reconciliation
and Financing Act of 2013 approved by the General Assembly during the 2013 Legislative Session.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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General Fund Expenditures. The following presents a summary of General Fund expenditures on a budgetary basis by
major category for the nine months ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 (see note (a)):
General Fund Expenditures
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2015

% of FY Actual
Expenditures (b)

Amount

Public Education .........................................................
$6,597.7
Human Resources........................................................ 395.9
Public Health ...............................................................
2,829.1
Public Safety ...............................................................
1,196.5
Administrative & Other ...............................................
1,163.5
Capital Funding (d) .................................................... 1.1
State Reserve Fund
.................................. 14.8
Public Debt (e) ............................................................ 140.0
Totals * .......................................................................
$12,338.6
___________
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Nine Months Ended March 31
Fiscal Year 2016

85.4%
63.7
68.9
71.3
71.1
100.0
100.0
100.0
77.5%

Amount

$6,650.7
442.2
2,764.8
1,204.1
1,155.2
4.8
81.4
252.4
$12,555.6

% of FY Budget
Expenditures (c)

84.8%
70.7
64.9
70.4
70.2
32.0
100.0
100.0
76.4%

The State's accounting procedures do not require recording encumbrances (i.e., commitments evidenced by purchase orders or contracts) for
financial reporting purposes except at the end of each fiscal year. Accordingly, no amounts of encumbrances have been recorded for the nine
months ended March 31, 2015 and 2016. At June 30, 2014 and 2015, General Fund encumbrances charged to expenditures for the fiscal years ended
totaled $107.6 million and $101.4 million, respectively. The Office of the Comptroller has no reason to believe that the current patterns of
commitments are not in conformity with historical practices. See APPENDIX A, Notes 1 and 2 of Notes to Financial Statements and Notes to
Required Supplementary Information as to certain changes, accrual methods, and practices affecting the presentation of expenditures.
Represents the percentage of actual expenditures for the full fiscal year.
Represents the percentage of current budget expenditures.
Capital Funding is appropriated in the General Fund and transferred to the Capital Projects Fund at the beginning of the fiscal year.
Public Debt Funding totaling $140.0 million and $252.4 million were appropriated in the General Fund and transferred to the Annuity Bond Fund in
Fiscal Years 2015 and 2016 respectively.

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Fiscal Year 2011-2015 General Fund Budget vs. Actual
The following statement presents a comparison of budget versus actual revenues, expenditures and
encumbrances and changes in fund balance in the State’s General Fund using the budgetary basis of accounting for
each of the past five fiscal years ended June 30.
Statutory General Fund Comparative Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Encumbrances and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual Fiscal Years 2011 to 2015
($ in thousands)
2011
Budget

Actual

2012
Budget

2013

Actual

Budget

2014
Actual

2015

Budget

Actual

Budget

Actual

Revenues:
Income taxes ............................................................... $6,948,129

$7,214,730

$7,578,192

$7,761,154

$8,559,003

$8,254,873

8,659,864

8,534,982

Sales and use taxes.......................................................

3,672,461

3,656,044

3,979,527

4,039,348

4,074,524

4,067,791

4,123,351

4,143,174

8,935,977
4,334,793

9,123,466
4,350,726

Other taxes ..................................................................

1,070,967

1,092,339

1,081,247

1091,821

1,126,621

1,118,872

1,186,296

1,137,274

1,281,196

1,146,919

Licenses and fees .........................................................

194,493

205,355

198,097

204,677

179,641

194,039

199,818

197,743

200,313

203,116

Charges for services .....................................................

309,663

328,717

308,650

293,628

347,775

291,689

290,401

266,956

31,6047

230,403

Interest and other investment income ...........................

54,000

71,373

30,000

25,438

10,000

21,469

15,000

29,838

20,361

19,659

Other ...........................................................................

909,316

617,711

799,380

668,390

627,737

693,289

629,172

707,429

603,204

771,801

Total revenues (a) ................................................. 13,159,029

13,186,269

13,975,093

14,084,456

14,925,301

14,642,022

15,103,902

15,017,396

15,691,891

15,846,090
155,397

Expenditures and encumbrances by major function:
Payments of revenue to civil divisions of the State .......

121,436

121,436

119,747

119,747

111,009

111,009

155,467

155,467

155,467

Legislative ...................................................................

75,608

74,859

76,837

76,837

78,319

77,319

79,142

78,353

82,328

82,328

Judicial review and legal ..............................................

473,670

473,259

481,430

481,145

499,392

495,603

519,059

516,212

545,726

541,469

Executive and administrative control ...........................

207,190

205,771

253,846

251,226

177,064

173,810

271,252

269,452

246,705

245,156

Financial and revenue administration ...........................

209,357

207,804

201,590

199,517

249,259

245,806

274,389

265,544

267,314

255,999

Budget and management ..............................................

42,810

41,505

46,017

43,994

73,012

70,047

55,981

50,360

56,069

54,129

General services ...........................................................

52,253

52,010

55,126

55,124

54,342

54,165

61,637

61,637

61,107

61,007

Natural resources and recreation ..................................

43,569

43,484

44,974

44,612

48,535

48,230

49,585

49,415

72,993

72,868

Agriculture ..................................................................

27,328

27,300

30,272

28,877

28,305

27,075

26,917

26,707

26,986

26,676

Health, hospitals and mental hygiene ...........................

3,235,721

3,235,650

3,950,504

3,949,174

3,814,121

3,811,447

4,068,751

4,060,596

4,096,299

4,078,389

Human resources .........................................................

554,971

554,971

602,031

602,031

662,195

660,262

657,042

652,142

620,413

620,343

Labor, licensing and regulation ....................................

32,463

32,234

35,405

34,974

37,209

36,620

42,898

42,711

44,441

44,360

Public safety and correctional services .........................

1,004,664

1,003,798

1,081,269

1,081,243

1,104,203

1,095,439

1,142,875

1,137,521

1,174,320

1,162,630

Public education ..........................................................

6,673,314

6,662,181

7,405,694

7,397,113

7,180,903

7,171,337

7,473,436

7,468,095

7,733,540

7,729,917

Housing and community development .........................

3,940

3,469

4,530

4,530

6,870

6,870

8,710

8,680

10,061

10,061

Business and economic development ...........................

70,233

69,848

75,828

72,850

58,640

58,427

84,624

83,290

90,664

90,551

Environment ................................................................

32,731

32,731

30,852

30,852

32,584

32,428

36,795

36,568

33,235

33,212

Juvenile services ..........................................................

257,516

257,514

269,192

269,179

270,207

269,501

276,800

275,597

276,957

274,769

State police ..................................................................

166,175

166,018

192,683

192,683

214,379

213,814

228,140

226,204

245,228

245,219

83,000

83,000

140,000

140,000

Loan Accounts
State reserve fund ........................................................

15,000

15,000

15,000

15,000

37,758

37,758

55,256

55,256

14,785

14,785

Reversions:
Current year reversions .............................................
Prior year reversions .................................................

(30,000)
-

(42,584)

(30,000)
-

(15,347)

(30,000)
-

(22,328)

(30,000)
_
-

(64,299)

(30,000)
_
-

-(28,656)

Total expenditures and encumbrances ...................

13,269,949

13,238,258

14,942,827

14,935,361

14,708,306

14,674,639

15,621,756

Changes in encumbrances during fiscal year ...................

-

18,537

-

7,183

-

(27,491)

-

(

Total expenditures ...............................................
Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures .......
Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Transfers in (out) ..........................................................

13,269,949
(110,920)
(110,920)

13,256,795
(70,526)
712,634
642,108

14,942,827
(967,734)
(967,734)

14,942,544
(858,088)
457,053
(401,035)

14,708,306
216,995
-

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures and
other sources of financial resources ......................
Fund balances at the beginning of the year ......................

216,995

1,056,125

1,056,125

1,698,233

1,698,233

1,297,198

Fund balances, June 30 (b) ..............................................

$945,205

$1,698,233

$730,499

$1,297,198

$1,514,193

14,647,148
(5,126)

15,621,756
(517,854)

15,538,508
(8416)
15,530,092
(512,696)

15,964,638

15,910,609

-

6,164

15,964,638
(272,747)

15,916,773
(70,683)

29,207

________-

219,106

________-

245,612

24,081
1,297,198

________(517,854)
1,321,279

(293,590)
1,321,279

________(272,747)
1,027,689

1,027,689

$1,321,279

$803,425

$1.027,689

$754,942

$1,202,618

174,929

_________
(a)
(b)

This amount differs from the total General Fund revenues noted in the “General Fund Revenues and Appropriations – Budgetary Basis” schedule due
to the different treatment of transfers, including the transfer of revenues from the State Reserve Fund.
Includes balances for the State Reserve Fund and encumbrances.
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Cigarette Restitution Fund
All payments received by the State related to the tobacco settlement are to be deposited into the Cigarette
Restitution Fund (“CRF”), which can only be spent through appropriations in the annual State budget. At least 50%
of the appropriations must be for: the reduction of tobacco use by minors; implementation of the agriculture plan
adopted by the Tri-County Council for Southern Maryland; public and school education campaigns to decrease
tobacco use; smoking cessation programs; enforcement of laws regarding tobacco sales; support for programs that
expand access to health care for the uninsured; primary health care in rural areas and those targeted by tobacco
companies; prevention, treatment, and research, including capital projects, concerning cancer, heart disease, lung
disease, and tobacco use and control; and substance abuse treatment and prevention programs. Thirty percent of
appropriations funded by the CRF must be for the Medicaid program. The remainder of the CRF may be
appropriated for any public purpose. Maryland law provides a framework for two of the primary uses of the CRF by
creating and outlining two specific programs: the Tobacco Use Prevention and Cessation Program and the Cancer
Prevention, Education, Screening, and Treatment Program.
The special fund appropriations of the CRF are limited to the available proceeds of the tobacco settlement. In
its budgetary process, the State has made various revenue assumptions; in the event the anticipated revenues or funds
are less than the State expects, the appropriations cannot be fully expended. The fiscal year 2016 budget as amended
includes $108.4 million in CRF support for the Medicaid program, $37.7 million above the CRF support for Medicaid
programs in the fiscal year 2015 budget. Net expenditures from the CRF were $143.0 million in fiscal year 2015 and
are estimated to total $196.5 million in fiscal year 2016. The enacted fiscal year 2017 budget includes $153.7 million
in net expenditures from the CRF. It also includes a $53.2 million recovery due to a successful appeal of the arbitration
decision.

Local Income Tax Reserve Account
Each county and Baltimore City is required by State law to levy an income tax on individuals residing
within their boundaries on the last day of the taxable year. The Comptroller collects the local income tax on behalf
of the local jurisdictions. When received, local income tax revenue collected by the Comptroller becomes a liability
of the State as either revenue owed to the local jurisdiction or as an income tax refund owed to individual taxpayers.
Under Maryland law, the State is required to distribute a significant portion of the local income tax
collected to local jurisdictions prior to receipt of individual income tax returns. Taxpayers are permitted to file an
amended return up to three years after the due date for filing of each year’s income tax return. To offset amounts
that will be due as refunds to individual taxpayers, the State maintains a Local Income Tax Reserve Account that is
funded with local income tax receipts collected by the Comptroller and not yet distributed to the local jurisdictions.
As a result of the holdback of reserve funds to provide for estimated income tax refunds to individuals, local
jurisdictions do not receive the full distribution of local income tax revenue until nearly four years following the
receipt of income tax payments.
Over the past 10 years, multiple bills were signed into law which impacted the balance in the Local Income
Tax Reserve Account. In total, transfers and advanced distributions to local jurisdictions have reduced the balance
by approximately $1.7 billion. Transfers to the General Fund which have not been repaid total $932.2 million.
These have resulted in a negative unassigned fund balance of $766.1 million as of June 30, 2015. Annual repayments of $33.3 million from the State to the Local Reserve Account are scheduled for fiscal years 2021
through 2026 for a total repayment of $200.0 million. During the 2015 legislative session, an additional transfer of
$100 million from the Local Reserve Account to the General Fund was authorized in FY 2015. Future income tax
distributions to the general fund will be reduced by $10 million in fiscal years 2016-2025.
On May 18, 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court decided the Maryland State Comptroller of the Treasury v.
Brian Wynne case. As a result of this decision, an estimated $200 million in local income tax refunds will be due to
approximately 55,000 Maryland taxpayers. House Bill 72, which was passed in the 2015 General Assembly session,
authorized the Comptroller to pay the refunds due as a result of the Wynne decision, plus accrued interest, from the
Local Income Tax Reserve Account. The Comptroller began processing and disbursing these refunds in July 2015.
Under House Bill 72, the Comptroller had the authority to withhold the amount owed to individual taxpayers as a
result of the Wynne decision from the Local Income Tax Reserve Account to the affected local jurisdictions from
quarterly income tax distributions in nine equal installments beginning in fiscal year 2017. Senate Bill 766, passed in
the 2016 General Assembly session, delays the start of repayment to the Local Income Tax Reserve Account until
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fiscal year 2019 and extends the reimbursement period from nine to forty quarterly distributions. Since repayment is
anticipated, the Office of the Comptroller does not expect any impact to the unassigned fund balance.
State Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund
The Maryland Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund (the “Fund”), provides funding for unemployment
benefits in the State. The Fund pays up to 26 weeks of benefits for Marylanders who lose jobs through no fault of
their own. Extended benefits beyond the first 26 weeks are paid for by federal funds. In fiscal year 2015, the Fund
received approximately $612.0 million in annual contributions from employers and workers while paying out
approximately $576.9 million in regular, annual state unemployment benefits (excluding benefits paid entirely by the
federal government.) The Fund balance was $887.6 million as of March 31, 2016.

Transportation Trust Fund
The Transportation Trust Fund (“TTF”), administered by the Department of Transportation, is the largest
of the special funds and consolidates into a single fund substantially all fiscal resources dedicated to transportation
(excluding the Maryland Transportation Authority) including the excise taxes on motor vehicle fuel and motor
vehicle titles, a portion of the sales and use tax on short-term vehicle rentals, a portion of the corporate income tax,
wharfage and landing fees, and fare box revenues. As of July 1, 2013, the static excise tax rates for gasoline and
special fuel were replaced by a two prong rate setting system that adjusts the relevant excise rates annually in most
years and semiannually in certain years. See “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues.” All expenditures of the
Department of Transportation are made from the TTF. In addition, the various categories of transportation bonds
are serviced from the TTF, and the particular taxes and other designated revenues are both dedicated to the
payment of such indebtedness and constitute the sole sources to which holders of transportation bonds legally may
look for repayment.
Amounts in the TTF do not revert to the General Fund if unexpended at the end of the fiscal year; however,
from time to time, the General Assembly has enacted legislation requiring that certain unpledged revenue in the TTF
be delivered to the General Fund. Legislation also has provided for the subsequent re-transfers of such funds from
the General Fund to the TTF within five years of the transfer. An amendment to the State Constitution was adopted
in November 2014 by a statewide referendum vote to further restrict use of the TTF funds to debt service on bonds
and any lawful purpose related to the State’s transportation system unless the Governor declares a fiscal emergency
exists and the General Assembly concurs by three-fifths of all elected members.
The 2011 Act altered the distribution of certain revenues shared by the TTF and the General Fund.
Beginning in fiscal year 2012, the TTF share of the general State sales tax was permanently credited to the General
Fund and the TTF share of the corporate income tax was lowered. The distribution of Highway User Revenues to
the General Fund was reduced in fiscal year 2012 and is entirely credited to the TTF starting in fiscal year 2013.
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The following table shows a condensed summary of the fund balances of the Department of Transportation
for each of the past five fiscal years ended June 30.
Department of Transportation Fund Balances
Fiscal Years 2011-2015
($ in thousands)
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Revenues ..........................................................
$3,659,106
Expenditures .....................................................
3,699,667
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures ..............................................
(40,561)
Net other sources (uses) of
financial resources (a)........................................
35,361
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures and net other
sources (uses) of financial
resources ............................................................
(5,200)

$3,587,731
3,822,878

$3,719,684
3,856,525

$3,890,784
4,192,914

$4,049,561
4,487,894

(235,147)

(136,841)

(302,130)

(438,333)

130,679

218,450

360,811

427,128

(104,468)

81,609

58,681

(11,205)

Fund balance, July 1 ..........................................
336,848

331,648

227,180

308,789

367,470

Fund balance, June 30 .......................................
$331,648

$227,180

$308,789

$367,470

$356,265

____
Note: The Department of Transportation Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds account for substantially all of the financial activities of the Transportation
Trust Fund. The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) is not part of the Transportation Trust Fund. The above summary was prepared from
the audited financial statements of the Department of Transportation which are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
(a) The Department of Transportation did not sell bonds or enter into other long term financing in fiscal year 2011.
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Investment of State Funds
State statute provides that the investment of unexpended or surplus money over which the Treasurer has
custody, which includes both general funds and special funds, is generally limited to: (1) U.S. Treasury obligations;
(2) obligation of certain United States agencies or instrumentalities (collectively, “Agencies”); (3) repurchase
agreements collateralized in an amount not less than 102% of principal by U.S. Treasuries or Agencies; (4) bankers’
acceptances, money market mutual funds and commercial paper (limited to 10% of total investments), all only with
the highest rating; and (5) the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool (“MLGIP”).
Investment Portfolio Distribution
(par value)

U.S. Treasuries .....................................
Agencies ...............................................
Repurchase Agreements .......................
Money Market Funds............................
MLGIP..................................................

April 30, 2015
$
895,000
5,334,089,000
1,534,761,062
31,629,929
865,050

April 30, 2016
$
895,000
3,430,415,000
2,533,021,685
71,187,501
354,220,409

Total*....................................................

$6,902,240,041

$6,389,739,595

Weighted Average Maturity in Days ....

926

1,025

* Totals

may not add due to rounding.

Investments in U.S. Treasuries and Agencies were approximately 54% of the portfolio on April 30, 2016,
while repurchase agreements were approximately 40%. As of April 30, 2015, approximately 77% of the portfolio
was invested in U.S. Treasuries and Agencies, and 22% of the portfolio was in shorter-term repurchase agreements.
The monthly weighted average portfolio interest rate was 0.974% for April 2015 compared to 1.067% for April
2016.
The portfolio size on April 30, 2016 was approximately $512.5 million less than April 30, 2015. The Federal
Open Market Committee raised rates 0.25% on December 16, 2015.
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
Introduction. The actuarial information provided in this section has been provided to the Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System (“System”) by the System’s Actuary, Gabriel Roeder Smith & Company (“GRS”),
which was retained by the Board of Trustees of the System pursuant to statute. As with all actuarial valuations and
future projections, the actuarial valuations are based on actuarial assumptions that have been presented by the actuary
and adopted by the Board. One or more of these assumptions may prove to be inaccurate and may be changed in the
future based on the future experience of the System.
Plan Description. The System was established in accordance with Division II of the State Personnel and
Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits in a defined
benefit plan to State employees, teachers, police, judges, legislators and employees of participating governmental units.
The System is administered by a 15-member Board of Trustees that has the authority to invest and reinvest the System’s
assets. The Board of Trustees is obligated to hold the assets of the System for the exclusive purposes of providing
benefits to participants and for reasonable expenses of administration.
The Board of Trustees pays all benefits and expenses of the various plans in the System from the accumulation
fund,1 annuity savings fund,2 and expense fund established for each plan. As additional security, if needed, the State is
obligated to annually pay into the System at least an amount that, when combined with the System’s accumulation
funds, is sufficient to provide the allowances and other benefits payable under each plan during that fiscal year.
The System is made up of two cost-sharing employer pools: the “State Pool” and the “Municipal Pool.” The
1
2

The accumulation funds consist of employer contributions, interest on System assets, and retired members’ previous contributions.
The annuity savings funds consist of member contributions and statutory regular interest on members’ accumulated contributions.
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“State Pool” consists of State agencies, boards of education, community colleges and libraries (the “State Pool”). The
“Municipal Pool” consists of the participating governmental units that elect to join the System (the “Municipal Pool”).
For actuarial valuation and funding purposes, neither pool shares in each other’s actuarial liabilities. Municipal Pool
participants cost-share in the liabilities of only the Municipal Pool, which receives a separate annual actuarial valuation
in order to determine the funding levels and actuarial liabilities of the Municipal Pool. The Municipal Pool covers
employees of over 150 political subdivisions and other entities within the State.
For actuarial valuation and funding purposes, the State Pool comprises five distinct systems: Teachers’
Retirement and Pension Systems (the “Teachers’ Combined Systems”), Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems
(the “Employees’ Combined Systems”), State Police Retirement System, Judges’ Retirement System, and Law
Enforcement Officers’ Pension System. As of June 30, 2015, the State’s membership in the System included 168,034
active members, 45,923 vested former members, and 130,961 retirees and beneficiaries. Together, the Teachers’
Combined Systems and the Employees’ Combined Systems account for 98.1% of membership in the State Pool. In
fiscal year 2015, State retirees and beneficiaries within the State Pool received benefit payments totaling $3.3 billion,
with an average benefit of $23,610.
Plan Benefits Pre- and Post-Reform. During the 2011 Legislative Session, pension reform legislation was
proposed by the Governor and enacted by the General Assembly to ensure the long-term sustainability of the System’s
defined benefit structure and the affordability of the State’s contribution in future years (the “2011 Pension Reforms”).
The 2011 Pension Reforms increased employee contributions from 5% to 7% of annual earnable compensation,
decreased annual cost of living adjustments on benefits earned on or after July 1, 2011 for certain participants from a 3%
cap to a 2.5% cap and linked the cap to the System’s achievement of assumed annual return on investments. The cap is
2.5% if the assumed annual return is met or exceeded and 1% if the assumed return is not met. For most employees who
become a member of the System after July 1, 2011, the 2011 Pension Reforms establish the pension benefit multiplier at
1.5% rather than 1.8%, calculate Average Final Compensation based on the five highest consecutive years of service
rather than three years, allow vesting after 10 years of eligible service rather than five years, and establish more stringent
requirements for early and full service retirement. Similar reforms were enacted for several of the systems in the State
Pool.
Assumptions. By law, employer contribution rates are established by annual actuarial valuations using the
individual entry age normal cost method and actuarial assumptions adopted by the Board of Trustees. Assets are valued
for funding purposes by recognizing investment gains and losses over a five-year period. Each year’s investment gain
or loss is amortized on a straight-line basis over five years. The final actuarial value of assets is limited to not more than
120% or less than 80% of the market value of assets.
At its May 2015 meeting, the System’s Board of Trustees adopted a revision to the economic assumptions for
the System. The Board of Trustees voted to lower the assumed rate of return to 7.55% and the price inflation
assumption to 2.7%.
Based on the Actuary’s actuarial experience study for fiscal years 2010 to 2014, the Board of Trustees adopted
the following demographic assumptions:






Retirement Rates: Decrease to overall rates based on experience.
Withdrawal Rates: Maintain the service-based rates for the first 10 years of service and age-based
rates thereafter.
Mortality Rates: Change from the RP-2000 Mortality Tables, Combined Healthy Participant
Mortality Table, with set-backs that vary by sex and system to the RP 2014 mortality tables with
generational mortality improvements based on the MP-2014 2-dimensional mortality scale
released
by
the Society of Actuaries (SOA) in which mortality rates are projected to improve based on birth
year.
Disability Rates: Decrease current disability rates for most systems and adjust the rates between
ordinary and accidental disability to reflect observed experience.

Investments Allocations and Returns. The target asset allocation is set by the Board of Trustees, with no legal
limits imposed by the General Assembly. The actual allocation takes into account that private market investments are
made gradually in order to prudently reach the target level over multiple years. Amounts not yet invested in private
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markets are currently allocated to public equity and fixed income.

Public Equity
Rate Sensitive
Real Assets
Credit
Absolute Return
Private Equity
Total*

Asset Allocation
Actual Allocation
as of 03/31/2016*
38.6%
21.7
12.8
8.7
8.8
9.4

Long-Term
Target Allocation
37%
20
15
9
9
10

100%

100%

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
The historical rates of return on the System’s investments are (as of March 31, 2016, unaudited):

Annualized
Returns
(gross of
fees)

1 year (a)

3 year

5 year

10 year

20 year

25 year

-0.32%

5.03%

5.55%

4.56%

6.05%

7.13%

The System’s rate of return on its investment portfolio was 2.68% for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015.
Funding Policies. The employer contribution rate for the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System, State
Police Retirement System, and the Judges’ Retirement System is equal to the sum of the normal contribution and the
accrued liability contribution. Prior to July 1, 2013, the State’s employer contribution to the Teachers’ Combined
Systems and Employees’ Combined Systems was determined by the System’s actuary under a modified corridor funding
method. This method effectively maintained the contribution rate in effect for the Teachers’ Combined Systems and
Employees’ Combined Systems during the preceding fiscal year (as adjusted for any legislative changes in the benefit
structure) as long as such plans remain between 90 percent and 110 percent funded. If either plan fell below 90 percent
funded (i.e., below the corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year would be the rate in
effect for the preceding fiscal year plus 20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding rate and
the prior fiscal year contribution rate. Conversely, if either system exceeded 110 percent funded (i.e., above the
corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year would be the rate in effect for the preceding
fiscal year minus 20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding rate and the prior fiscal year
contribution rate.
In the 2013 Legislative Session, the General Assembly enacted legislation to phase out the modified corridor
funding method for the Teachers’ Combined Systems and Employees’ Combined Systems over 10 years, and change the
System’s amortization policy so that unfunded pension liabilities will be amortized over a 25-year closed period.
However, during the 2015 Legislative Session, the General Assembly enacted legislation that fully eliminated the
corridor funding method for the Teachers’ Combined Systems and Employees’ Combined Systems beginning with fiscal
year 2017. The legislation was effective on July 1, 2015 and is reflected in the System’s fiscal year 2015 valuation,
which will determine the employer contribution rates for fiscal year 2017. Under GASB Statement No. 67, these, and all
future contributions will be based upon the “Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution” (ADEC).
The 2011 Pension Reforms also provided that the State’s contributions to each system shall include an
additional amount reflecting the difference between the State’s required contribution under the corridor funding method
for that fiscal year and the amount that would have been required had the 2011 Pension Reforms not been enacted
(“supplemental contribution”). For fiscal year 2013, the State’s supplemental contribution to the System was reduced by
$120.0 million and the amount of the supplemental contribution made to the System was $190.8 million. Beginning in
fiscal year 2014, a supplemental contribution representing the savings from the 2011 Pension Reforms, in the amount of
$300.0 million, was to be made annually to the Teachers’ Combined Systems, Employees’ Combined Systems, State
Police Retirement System, and Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System. However, during the 2015 legislative
session, the General Assembly approved budget legislation that reduced the State’s supplemental contribution to the
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System to $75.0 million in fiscal year 2016 and each fiscal year thereafter. The supplemental contribution terminates
when the system is at least 85% funded. Additionally, the General Assembly authorized a “sweeper amendment” to the
budget bill that allows for an additional State contribution to the System equal to one-half of any unappropriated general
fund balance in excess of $10.0 million, up to a maximum of $50 million annually, through fiscal year 2020 budget. The
fiscal year 2017 budget also includes an additional voluntary contribution to the System of $25.0 million above the
actuarially determined employer contribution, the supplemental contribution, and the contribution from the pension
sweeper.

Projected Impact of 2011 Pension Reforms, 2015
Actuarial Assumption Changes, 2015 Funding
Policy Reforms, and 2015 Supplemental Funding
Policy on Funded Ratios of State Pool

Valuation
Fiscal Year
2013
2017
2021
2023
2025
2027
2030
2031
2037
2039

Based on
6/30/2011
Valuation(a)
63.7%
74.4
81.3
85.2
89.8
94.1
101.9
107.9
123.4
NA

Based on
6/30/2015
Valuation (b)
64.6%
70.8
74.8
77.1
79.5
81.9
85.9
87.3
96.6
100.0

___
(a) Based on previous corridor funding policy for the Teachers’ Combined Systems and Employees’ Combined Systems.
(b) Reflects the 2015 legislative action that eliminated the modified corridor policy, as well as the 2015 legislative
action to alter the supplemental contribution policy established by the 2011 pension reforms (see above for description
of 2013, 2014 and 2015 legislative actions).
Employer Contribution. In fiscal year 2015, utilizing the modified corridor funding method described above
for the Teachers’ Combined Systems and Employees’ Combined Systems, the State paid $1,734.6 million of the
employer annual required contribution (“ARC”) of $1,983.7 million, or 87.4% of the actuarial required payment.
Approximately $1,220.6 million was paid from the General Fund and this represented 7.7% of fiscal year 2015 General
Fund expenditures. In the First Special Session of 2012, the General Assembly enacted legislation that requires local
school boards to pay a portion of the fiscal year 2013 actuarially determined normal cost of local teachers’ retirement.
For the next three fiscal years, the payment increases until fiscal year 2016 when the local school boards will pay 100%
of the fiscal year 2013 normal cost. Beginning in fiscal year 2017, the local school boards will pay 100% of the local
teachers’ normal cost as determined by the most recent valuation of the System. County governments are required to
increase education funding by the additional pension costs during the phase in period.
The Department of Budget and Management estimates that the general fund portion of the employer
contribution represents 7.8% of the fiscal year 2017 general fund budget. This percentage is anticipated to be at 7.3% in
fiscal year 2018, and is then projected to decline in the out-years through fiscal year 2021 when it is projected to reach
6.9%. The following table presents estimates of the employer contribution relative to the general fund budget in fiscal
years 2017 through 2021. These projections reflect the sharing of local teachers’ retirement costs with county
governments as discussed above. The projections also reflect the changes to the State’s funding policy made during the
2013 Legislative Session (phasing out the corridor funding method over a 10-year period and changing the System’s
amortization policy affecting the fiscal year 2013 valuation and the fiscal year 2015 budget) as described in “Funding
Policies”. They reflect changes to the State’s supplemental contribution made during the 2014 Legislative Session
which lowered that amount to $100 million in fiscal year 2014 and fiscal year 2015 and raised it by $50 million
increments starting in fiscal year 2016 until it reached $300 million in fiscal year 2019. Finally, they reflect further
changes made to the State’s funding policy during the 2015 Legislative Session to fully phase out the corridor funding
method as of fiscal year 2017, but reduce the supplemental contribution to $75 million annually until the system reaches
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85% funded. An additional supplemental contribution is required, equaling one-half of any unappropriated general fund
balance in excess of $10.0 million be paid to the pension fund, up to a maximum of $50 million annually.
As with all future projections, the data in the following table are based on certain assumptions. One or more of
these assumptions may prove to be inaccurate and may be changed in the future based on future experience.

Fiscal Year
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

Projected Employer Contributions as a
Percent of the General Fund Budget
Employer Contributions
State Employees
Local Teachers
3.0%
4.9%
2.8
4.5
2.8
4.4
2.7
4.2
2.7
4.2

Total*
7.8%
7.3
7.1
6.9
6.9

____________
* Due to data on general fund budget projections being unavailable, for fiscal year 2018 through fiscal year 2021, anticipated retirement expenditures
were divided by projected general fund revenues to generate the percentage for those years. Totals may not add due to rounding.

Funded Status. As reported in the System’s annual Actuarial Valuation Report, the funded status of each plan
in the “State Pool” as of June 30, 2015 was as follows:
Funded Status of the Plans within the “State Pool” Portion of the
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
($ in thousands)
As of June 30, 2015

Plan

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(AAL)

Actuarial
Value
of Assets

Funded
Ratio
(Assets/Liab.)

Teachers’ Retirement and
Pension System .................................................................
$38,934,459
$27,995,476

71.9%

Employees’ Retirement and
Pension System .................................................................
18,907,355
11,839,795

Unfunded
AAL
(UAAL)

Covered
Payroll
(Active
Members)
(a)

UAAL as a
Percent of
Payroll %
(a)

$10,938,983

$6,470,706

169.1%

62.6

7,067,560

3,241,038

218.1

State Police Retirement
System ..............................................................................
2,103,134
1,314,315

62.5

788,819

91,050

866.4

Judges’ Retirement System ..............................................
511,390
416,547

81.4

94,844

44,613

212.6

Law Enforcement Officers’
Pension System .................................................................
957,940
588,299

61.4

369,641

98,620

374.8

Total of All Plans *...........................................................
$61,414,278
$42,154,432
68.6%
$19.259,847
$9,946,027
193.6%
______
(a) The Covered Payroll and UAAL as a Percentage of Payroll results reported in the System’s Actuarial Valuation
Report were calculated using actual payroll data and differ slightly from the calculations shown in the State’s Financial
Statements which were calculated using projected payroll rather than actual payroll data.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
The following table presents information regarding the unfunded actuarial accrued liability of the System,
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including both the State Pool and the Municipal Pool for the years 2006 to 2015 as of June 30 valuation dates, derived
from a report by the System’s Actuary.
Historical Funding Progress
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (a)
Actuarial Value of Assets
($ in thousands)
Valuation
Date
June 30

2006..........
2007(b) .....
2008 .........
2009(c) .....
2010..........
2011..........
2012……
2013……
2014……
2015……

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability (AAL)

Actuarial
Value Of
Assets

43,243,492
47,144,354
50,244,047
52,729,171
54,085,081
55,917,543
57,869,145
60,060,091
62,610,193
61,414,278

35,795,025
37,886,936
39,504,284
34,284,569
34,688,346
36,177,656
37,248,401
39,350,970
42,996,957
42,154,432

Funded Ratio
(Assets/Liab.)

82.8
80.4
78.6
65.0
64.1
64.7
64.4
65.5
68.7
68.6

Unfunded
AAL
(UAAL)

Covered
Payroll
(Active Members)

UAAL as
a Percent
of Payroll %

7,448,467
9,257,418
10,739,763
18,444,603
19,396,735
19,739,887
20,620,745
20,709,122
19,613,237
19,259,847

9,287,576
9,971,012
10,542,806
10,714,241
10,657,944
10,478,800
10,336,537
10,477,544
10,803,632
9,946,027

80.2
92.8
101.9
172.2
182.0
188.4
199.5
197.6
181.5
193.6

(a) Includes both the State Pool and the Municipal Pool accrued liabilities.
(b) Beginning July 1, 2006, the System changed its funding method from the Aggregate Entry Age Normal method
to the Individual Entry Age Normal method.
(c) The Actuary’s revaluation of the State’s fiscal year 2009 contribution resulted in a recommended increase of
$87.7 million. Due to timing of the recommendation, however, this amount was not included in the fiscal year
2009 Budget. It was included in the June 30, 2009 valuation and began to be amortized as a portion of the
UAAL on July 1, 2010.
The following table presents information regarding the Asset Market Values of the System, including both the
State Pool and the Municipal Pool for the years 2006 to 2015 as of June 30 valuation dates, derived from a report by the
System’s Actuary.
Historical Market Value of Assets
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (a)
($ in thousands)
Valuation
Date,
June 30
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Market Value
of Assets
34,370,819
39,444,781
36,613,710
28,570,474
31,923,637

Valuation
Date,
June 30
2010
2012
2013
2014
2015

Market Value
of Assets
$37,592,752
37,178,726
40,363,217
45,363,217
45,789,840

(a) Includes both the State Pool and the Municipal Pool.
As of March 31, 2015, the System’s market value of assets was $44.7 billion (unaudited).
Beginning in fiscal year 2015, Statement No. 68 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board required
changes to the State's pension accounting and reporting. The net pension liability (NPL) defined by the pronouncement,
similar to the unfunded actuarial accrued liability, is reported as a liability on the government- wide statement of net
position. It is a present value measure of benefits to be provided based on the employees' past service, and accordingly,
recognizes the entire net pension expense, regardless of when this expense will be funded. It replaced the net pension
obligation (NPO) currently reported as a liability. The NPO was the cumulative difference between required
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contributions to the pension plans to meet obligations as they came due and actual contributions, and therefore,
measured the funding obligation only.
For the State Retirement and Pension System, a cost-sharing multiple-employer system, all cost-sharing
employers are required to recognize a liability for their proportionate share of the NPL. In Maryland, the State funds the
unfunded actuarial accrued liability applicable to local teachers' service, and therefore, the State records the NPL for the
teachers' plan as a non-employer contributing entity.
For fiscal year 2015, the State's contribution to the System was $1.7 billion, and the total contribution to the
System was $1.8 billion. The NPL for the System was calculated as $20.8 billion as of June 30, 2015 of which the
State’s share has been calculated to be $19.5 billion.
For a more detailed discussion of the System, see APPENDIX A, Note 15 to the Financial Statements and
Required Supplementary Information. A copy of the System’s Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2015 may be
obtained online at http://www.sra.state.md.us/Agency/Downloads/Valuation/Actuarial_Valuation_reports.aspx.
Other Retirement Programs
In addition to the principal retirement programs administered by the Board of Trustees, the Maryland Transit
Administration of the Department of Transportation provides pension benefits to its employees for the three unions it
recognizes and for former union members promoted to management positions (the “MTA Plan”). All other management
employees hired after April 30, 1970 are members of the State Employees’ Retirement or Pension Systems.
The MTA Plan provides retirement, death and disability benefits and is funded in compliance with collective
bargaining agreements. Employees are vested after 5 years of service. Employee retirement benefits are based on years
of service times an annual benefit multiplier of 1.4% to 1.6% of final average compensation. Generally, full service
retirement benefits are based on 30 years of service or attainment of age 65.
The annual funding of the MTA Plan is based upon a report of the consulting actuary. The Department of
Transportation’s budget for fiscal year 2015 provided $35.4 million for the plan. The Department’s MTA fiscal year
2016 and 2017 budgets provide approximately $41.0 million for the plan in each year. The State has estimated the
MTA’s fiscal year 2015 allocation of the NPL to be $680.3 million.
As of July 1, 2015, membership in the MTA Plan included 2,649 active members, 486 vested former members,
and 1,730 retirees and beneficiaries. The funded status of the MTA plan as of June 30, 2015 was as follows:
Funded Status of the MTA Plan
as of June 30, 2015
($ in thousands)
Actuarial
Accrued
Liability(AAL)

Actuarial
Value Of
Assets

Funded Ratio
(Assets/Liab.)

Unfunded
AAL
(UAAL)

Covered
Payroll
(Active
Members)

UAAL as
a Percent
of Payroll%

$557,256

$248,470

44.6%

$308,787

$137,427

224.7%

For a more detailed discussion of the MTA Plan, see http://www.mdot.maryland.gov/Office_of_Finance/index.html.

38

Other Post-Employment Benefits
State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare Benefits Program. Retired State employees and their eligible
dependents meeting certain qualifications may participate, on a subsidized basis, in the State Employee and Retiree
Health and Welfare Benefits Program (the “Program”). As of June 30, 2015, the Program membership included 78,767
active employees, 3,329 vested former employees and 68,000 retirees and beneficiaries. The Program assesses a
charge to retirees for post-employment health care benefits that is based on health care insurance charges for active
employees. For the nine months ended March 31, 2016, retiree program members contributed $64.2 million and the
State contributed $363.7 million for retiree health care benefits.
The State has adopted the Governmental Accounting Standard Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 45
(“GASB 45”) which addresses how state and local governments should account for and report costs and obligations
related to post-employment health care and other post-employment non-pension benefits (“OPEB”). GASB 45
generally requires that the annual cost of OPEB and the related obligations and commitments be accounted for and
reported in essentially the same manner as pensions. Annual OPEB costs typically will be based on actuarially
determined amounts that, if paid on an ongoing basis, would provide sufficient resources to pay benefits as they come
due. The provisions of GASB 45 do not require governments to fund their OPEB plans. GASB 45 establishes
accounting standards including disclosure requirements for the post-employment plans, the funding policies, the
actuarial valuation processes and assumptions, and the extent to which the plans have been funded over time.
The State’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution (“ARC”) of
the employer, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 45. The ARC represents
a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any
unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years.
2011 Employee and Retiree Health Benefits Reforms. The 2012 Budget implemented changes to employee
and retiree prescription drug and health benefits (the “2011 Health Benefit Reforms”) that decreased the State’s
projection of OPEB liability from $15.9 billion prior to the 2011 Health Benefit Reforms to $9.2 billion after the 2011
Health Benefit Reforms, and decreased the corresponding State projection of ARC from $1.22 billion to $704.4
million. The 2011 Health Benefit Reforms increased employee and retiree prescription drug copayments and increased
retiree premium payments and out of pocket maximums. For new employees hired after June 30, 2011, 10 years of
service rather than 5 years is required for eligibility for retiree health benefits, and 25 years of service rather than 16
years is required in order to receive a full State subsidy. Retirees will be required to enroll in Medicare Part D effective
July 1, 2020, after the Part D coverage gap is phased out.
OPEB Projections. As of June 30, 2014, the actuary’s projected actuarial accrued liability for benefits was
$9.0 billion, and the actuarial value of assets was $250.1 million, resulting in a projected unfunded actuarial accrued
liability (“UAAL”) of $8.7 billion. The discount rate used was an unblended pay-go rate of 4.4%. The ratio of the
actuarial value of assets to the actuarial accrued liability was 2.8%. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active
employees covered under the Program) was $4.8 billion, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was
(181.4%).

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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The following table from the Actuarial Valuation Reports as of July 1, 2015, prepared by the State’s actuary,
shows the components of the State’s annual OPEB cost, the contribution to the Program and the State’s net OPEB
obligation for fiscal year 2015 and as projected for fiscal year 2016:
State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare Benefits Program
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
Fiscal Year 2015-2016
Projections as of July 1, 2015
($ in millions)

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
ARC adjustment
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Total Annual OPEB Cost (AOC)
Less: Contributions made
Increase in net OPEB obligation
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year
Net OPEB obligation - end of year
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed

2015
$574.4
(154.9)
188.3
607.8
(449.7)
158.1
4,179.2
$4,122.7

2016
Projected
$634.6
(164.5)
179.3
649.4
(484.9)
164.5
4,122.8
$4,287.3

73.9%

74.9%

The State’s General Fund has historically contributed approximately 60% of the annual pay-as-you-go costs
of other post-employment benefits, with special and federal funds contributing the balance. Chapter 355 of the 2007
Laws of Maryland created the Postretirement Health Benefits Trust Fund (the “Trust Fund”) as an irrevocable trust.
Funds of the Trust Fund will be used to assist in financing the State’s post-retirement health insurance subsidy. For
the nine months ended March 31, 2016, the State did not allocate any funds to the Trust Fund. The net assets held in
trust for post-retirement health benefits as of June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2016 were $60.1 million and $57.9 million,
respectively. This balance also reflects the activity for investment earnings and administrative expenses during the
period.
Maryland Transit Administration. The MTA provides a retiree health care benefits plan (the “MTA OPEB”) to all
employees who are members of the MTA pension plan, except for transfers from union to management positions who
are required to enroll in the State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare benefits program described above. The
annual funding of the MTA OPEB is based upon a report of the consulting actuary. The MTA OPEB is an unfunded
pay-as-you-go plan.
As of June 30, 2015, the actuarial liability for benefits was $607.1 million, and the actuarial value of assets was $0,
resulting in UAAL of $607.1 million, based upon calculation by the consulting contractor. The discount was a blended
rate of 4.25%. The ratio of the actuarial value of assets to the actuarial accrued liability was 0%. The Covered Payroll
under the MTA OPEB was $137.4 million in FY 2015, and the ratio of the UAAL to the Covered Payroll was 442%.
MTA’s annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer, an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with GASB 45. The following table shows the components of MTA’s annual
OPEB cost, the amount actually contributed and MTA’s net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2015.
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Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan OPEB
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
Fiscal Year 2015
($ in millions)
Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
ARC adjustment
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Total Annual OPEB Cost (AOC)
Less: Contributions made
Increase in net OPEB obligation
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year
Net OPEB obligation - end of year
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed

$67.5
(20.1)
11.4
58.8
(13.9)
44.9
267.1
$311.9
23.6%

Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding
For a more detailed discussion of the Maryland Transit Administration’s Other Post-Employment Benefits, see
Appendix A, Note 16 to the State’s 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
Labor Management Relations
As of March 31, 2016, the State had approximately 108,400 employees.
States are exempt from the provisions of the National Labor Relations Act; thus, State employees may engage
in collective bargaining only if specifically authorized. Since 1999, collective bargaining has been available to eligible
State employees. Eligible State employees are assigned to one of nine bargaining units. These bargaining units are
represented by six certified exclusive bargaining representatives that are entitled to negotiate with the Governor or his
designee(s) regarding wages, hours, and working conditions on behalf of bargaining unit employees. The negotiating
parties execute a memorandum of understanding of not less than 1 year or more than 3 years duration that incorporates
all matters of agreement reached. Matters of agreement that require legislative approval or the appropriation of funds
are subject to the approval of the General Assembly. Additionally, State employees may join employee associations,
and the State permits the deduction of dues from employees’ salaries for these associations. Approximately 34,860
employees, which includes non-union members that are required by law to pay dues, pay dues to 19 State employee
associations, including the six certified exclusive bargaining representatives.
In addition to State employees, in 2001 collective bargaining was extended similarly to approximately 10,000
employees of the University System of Maryland, St. Mary’s College of Maryland, Morgan State University, and
Baltimore City Community College. Eligible employees of these entities are assigned to one of three bargaining units
at each of 15 campus locations, and are represented by a total of three certified exclusive bargaining representatives.
Collectively, approximately 1,170 employees of these higher education institutions pay dues to four employee
associations, including the three certified exclusive bargaining representatives.
Collective bargaining was extended in 2012 to eligible State employees of the Office of the Comptroller,
Maryland Transportation Authority, State Retirement Agency and Maryland State Department of Education. Since that
date, approximately 750 additional employees have been extended collective bargaining.
Public school teachers throughout the State are not State employees but are employed and otherwise paid by
the local school boards of education. The State, however, pays partial retirement benefit contributions on behalf of
those employees. Teachers have been authorized by statute to form and participate in employee organizations for the
purpose of representation on all matters relating to salaries, wages, hours, and other working conditions. Similar laws
have been enacted to cover employees of Baltimore City and some counties.
The employees of the public community colleges and the public libraries are not State employees; the State,
however, pays each employer’s share of the retirement contribution.
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Aid to Local Government
The State provides substantial assistance to local governments through a variety of direct and indirect
assistance programs. Cash assistance is provided to support, among other local expenditures, community colleges,
basic current expenses of elementary and secondary schools, pupil transportation, road construction and
maintenance, the education of students with disabilities, local health departments, and local police departments. In
addition to cash grants, the State has contributed directly to retirement for local teachers and librarians. Beginning in
fiscal year 2013, State retirement contributions for local teachers and librarians reflect a lower State obligation
pursuant to legislation enacted during the 2012 Legislative Session that allows for sharing costs with local
jurisdictions. The State also has paid directly a major share of the debt service on bonds issued to pay for the
construction of local elementary and secondary schools, community colleges, and water treatment facilities. Further,
the State has assumed the non-federal share of the costs of providing medical assistance, income maintenance
payments, and social services for the needy. In the transportation area, the State operates the mass transit program in
the Baltimore area and provides grant assistance for the Maryland portion of the Washington metropolitan area
transit system.
The following table presents a summary of major State financial support for fiscal years 2012 through 2015,
and the estimates for the 2016 fiscal year. Federal funds are generally excluded except for State Fiscal Stabilization
Funds for Education authorized by ARRA.

Major State Financial Support to Local Governments
Fiscal Years 2012–2016
($ in millions)
_____________
2012
Education ............................................ $6,095
Transportation.....................................
148
Health .................................................
38
Environment .......................................
9
Public Safety .......................................
87
Other ...................................................
139
Total *................................................. $6,516

2013

2014

2015

2016
Estimated

$6,162
167
37
10
87
188
$6,652

$6,273
194
42
25
116
201
$6,850

$6,432
194
42
26
109
207
$7,011

$6,532
202
46
32
118
214
$7,143

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM
The State issues general obligation bonds, to the payment of which the State ad valorem property tax is
pledged, for capital improvements and for various State-sponsored projects. In addition, the Maryland Department of
Transportation issues for transportation purposes its limited, special obligation bonds payable primarily from specific,
fixed-rate excise taxes and other revenues related mainly to highway use. The State and certain of its agencies also
have entered into a variety of lease-purchase agreements to finance the acquisition of capital assets. These lease
agreements specify that payments there under are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly.
At least since the end of the Civil War, the State has paid the principal of and interest on its general
obligation bonds when due. There is no general debt limit imposed by the State Constitution or public general laws.
Although the State has the authority to make short-term borrowings in anticipation of taxes and other receipts up to a
maximum of $100.0 million, the State has not issued short-term tax anticipation notes or made any other similar shortterm borrowings for cash flow purposes.
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding
The aggregate principal amount of outstanding bonded indebtedness of the State is as follows:
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding
($ in millions)

General Obligation Bonds (a) ...............................
Consolidated Transportation Bonds (b) ...............
Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds and Leases (c)
Capital Leases (d) .................................................
GARVEE Bonds (e) ............................................
Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds (e) .....................

Outstanding at
March 31, 2016
$8,429.3
2,219.8
132.9
320.4
279.8
301.6

Net Tax-Supported Debt.......................................

$11,683.8

As Adjusted
For This Sale
$9,465.3
2,219.8
132.9
320.4
279.8
301.6
$12,719.8

(a) As of March 31, 2016 the authorized but unissued amounts before and after giving effect to the sale of the Bonds were $2,052.3 million and $1,016.3 million, respectively.
This amount includes approximately $87.5 million of outstanding qualified zone academy bonds which are privately placed. See also APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY
DEBT SCHEDULES.”
(b) See “Department of Transportation Debt.”
(c) See “Maryland Stadium Authority Lease Revenue Debt Outstanding.”
(d) See “Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings.”
(e) See “Other Tax-Supported Debt.”

The above table excludes local debt as well as revenue and enterprise debt, all of which are not State taxsupported debt. (For further information on Revenue and Enterprise Debt see “MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE AND
ENTERPRISE FINANCINGS” and APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – Revenue
and Enterprise Financings.”)

Geneal Obligation Bonds
General obligation bonds are authorized and issued primarily to provide funds for State-owned capital
improvements, including institutions of higher education, and the construction of locally owned public schools. General
obligation bonds also have been issued to fund local government improvements, including grants and loans for water quality
improvement projects and correctional facilities, and to provide funds for repayable loans or outright grants to private,
nonprofit, cultural, or educational institutions. In the fiscal year 2016 capital program, 40% of new general obligation bond
authorizations represented financing of State-owned capital facilities, 47% represented financing of grants and loans to local
government units for capital improvements including public school construction, and 13% represented financing of capital
improvements owned by non-profit or other private entities.
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Dedication of State Property Tax to General Obligation Debt. The State Constitution prohibits the contracting of
State debt unless the debt is authorized by a law levying an annual tax or taxes sufficient to pay the debt service within 15
years and prohibiting the repeal of the tax or taxes or their use for another purpose until the debt is paid. As a uniform
practice, each separate enabling act that authorizes the issuance of general obligation bonds for a given object or purpose has
specifically levied and directed the collection of a State ad valorem property tax on all taxable property in the State. The
Board of Public Works is directed by law to fix by May 1 of each year the property tax rate necessary to produce revenue
sufficient for the debt service requirements of the next fiscal year, which begins July 1, but the taxes so levied need not be
collected if or to the extent that funds sufficient for debt service requirements in the next fiscal year have been appropriated in
the annual budget. Accordingly, the Board, in annually fixing the rate of property tax after the end of the regular Legislative
Session in April, takes account of appropriations of general and other funds for debt service.
From fiscal year 1972 through fiscal year 2003, general funds were appropriated to the State Department of
Education for payment of debt service for public school construction debt. Other general obligation bonds were serviced to a
lesser degree (prior to fiscal year 2014) from general funds as well as from the State property tax and other special and federal
funds. As a result, although all the enabling acts commit the State property tax to the service of general obligation debt, and
all amounts collected from such tax are applied to that purpose, it had been the normal practice to devote a significant amount
of General Fund revenue to general obligation debt service. In fiscal years 2004 through 2013, special and federal fund
revenues were sufficient to make debt service payments without any General Fund subsidy except in fiscal year 2008. For
fiscal years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, $83.0 million, $140.0 million, $252.4 million and $283.0 million, respectively, in
general funds were appropriated for debt service.
In fiscal year 2015, the sources of current revenue of the Annuity Bond Fund, from which debt service on all general
obligation debt was paid, were the State property tax (75%), premium from bond sales (10%), general funds (14%), and
federal subsidies for ARRA Bonds and other revenues (1%). For fiscal year 2016, the sources of current revenues were the
State property tax (61%), premium from bond sales (17%), general funds (20%), and federal subsidies for ARRA Bonds and
other revenues (2%).

Department of Transportation Debt
Consolidated Transportation Bonds are limited obligations issued by the State Department of Transportation (the
“Department”), the principal of which must be paid within 15 years from the date of issue, for highway, port, transit, rail, or
aviation facilities or any combination of such facilities. As of June 1, 2013, the law limits the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of these bonds to $4.5 billion. Current law also provides that the General Assembly may establish in the budget for
any fiscal year a maximum outstanding aggregate amount of these bonds as of June 30 of the fiscal year that is less than $4.5
billion. For fiscal year 2016, the limit is $2,855.1 million. At March 31, 2016, the principal amount of outstanding bonds
was $2,219.8 million. Debt service on Consolidated Transportation Bonds is payable from those portions of the excise tax on
each gallon of motor vehicle fuel and the motor vehicle titling tax, sales and use tax on short-term vehicle rentals, and the
corporate income tax as are credited to the Department after distribution to the General Fund and political subdivisions, plus
all departmental operating revenues and receipts. In addition, beginning July 1, 2013, the static excise tax rates for gasoline
and special fuel were replaced by a two prong rate setting system that adjusts the relevant excise rates annually in most years
and semiannually in certain years. See “STATE FINANCES- State Revenues.” Pursuant to the 2011 Act, the Department no
longer receives a portion of the State’s general sales and use tax; however the Department’s former share of that tax remains
pledged to Consolidated Transportation Bonds issued prior to July 1, 2011. The holders of the Consolidated Transportation
Bonds are not entitled to look to other sources for payment. The Department has covenanted with the holders of outstanding
Consolidated Transportation Bonds not to issue additional bonds unless certain revenue adequacy tests are met.
In the 2014 Legislative Session, the General Assembly authorized the Department, by resolution of the Secretary of
the Department, to borrow funds to finance the costs of transportation facilities through the issuance of revenue-backed bonds
so long as the payment of debt service on such bonds is not supported directly or indirectly by State tax revenues pledged to
meet debt service on the Department’s Consolidated Transportation Bonds. Prior to enactment of this legislation, the
Department had relied on the Maryland Transportation Authority or the Maryland Economic Development Corporation to be
conduit issuers for these types of revenue-backed bonds.
Nontraditional Debt. During the 2015 Legislative Session, the General Assembly established a maximum
outstanding principal amount of $685.4 million as of June 30, 2016, for all nontraditional debt of the Department.
Nontraditional debt outstanding is defined as any debt instrument that is not a consolidated transportation bond or Grant
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Anticipation Revenue Vehicle (“GARVEE”) Bond. Such debt includes, but is not limited to: certificates of participation
(documented by conditional purchase agreements), debt backed by customer facility charges, passenger facility charges, or
other revenues, and debt issued by Maryland Economic Development Corporation (“MEDCO”) or any other third party on
behalf of the Department. As of March 31, 2016, the Department’s nontraditional debt outstanding was $674.2 million. In
addition, the Department has a pending financing of $35 million for a parking garage approved by the General Assembly. See
APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase
Financings” and “ – Revenue and Enterprise Financings” for nontraditional debt of the Department.

Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds
The Maryland Stadium Authority (the “Authority”) was created in 1986 as an instrumentality of the State responsible
for financing and directing the acquisition and construction of professional sports facilities in Maryland. Since then, the
Authority’s responsibility has been extended to include convention centers in Baltimore City and Ocean City, a conference
center in Montgomery County, and the Hippodrome Theater, Camden Station Renovation in Baltimore City and Baltimore
City Public Schools. On March 31, 2016, the principal amount of tax-supported outstanding bonds and capital leases of the
Authority was $132.9 million. See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – Maryland Stadium
Authority” for a summary of outstanding debt and interest rate exchange agreements of the Authority and descriptions of the
Authority’s projects.
The Authority issued its first series of tax-exempt revenue bonds for the Baltimore City Public Schools project on
April 20, 2016. The par amount of the first series was $320 million, with a final maturity of 2046. A portion of the $320
million in par amount was allocated to the Community Revitalization Act ("CRA").

Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings
The State has financed and expects to continue to finance the construction and acquisition of various
facilities and equipment through conditional purchase, sale-leaseback, and similar transactions. As of March 31, 2015
the total tax-supported capital leases and conditional purchase financings outstanding was $320.4 million.
Additionally, the state closed $1.6 million in capital equipment leases in April 2016. See APPENDIX B –
“SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings” for details
of the total tax-supported capital leases outstanding. All of the tax-supported lease payments under these arrangements
are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly. In the event that appropriations are not made, the State may
not be held contractually liable for the payments. These transactions generally are subject to approval by the Board of
Public Works.
On December 8, 2011, MEDCO issued $170.9 million in Lease Revenue Bonds to finance the Public Health
Lab for use by the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, in Baltimore City, Maryland. In January 2011, the State
sold $40.9 million of certificates of participation (“COPs”) to finance the acquisition of video lottery terminals for VLT
facilities. These certificates were defeased on March 12, 2015. Local government agencies or other lessors have also
issued revenue bonds or sold COPs to finance facilities such as the multi-agency office buildings in St. Mary’s County
and district court facilities in Prince George’s County. MEDCO issued lease revenue bonds in the amount of $36.0
million in June 2002, which were partially refunded in May 2010, to finance the construction of a new headquarters
building for the Department of Transportation. In addition, in October 2004, the Department of Transportation sold $15.5
million in COPs for the acquisition of shuttle buses for BWI Airport. In July 2005, the MDTA issued lease revenue bonds
in the amount of $23.8 million to finance the costs of a parking facility project for the Annapolis State Office Complex,
operated by the Maryland Department of General Services (“DGS”). These bonds were refunded and redeemed in August
2015 through the issuance of an $18.0 million lease revenue refunding bond to a financial institution by a direct bank loan.
Lease revenue payable by DGS is pledged for the repayment of the refunding bond.
The State Treasurer’s Office consolidates equipment lease-purchases authorized in the budget into periodic leasepurchase agreements for all executive agencies. The State also has a lease-purchase program to provide financing for
energy conservation projects at State facilities. Lease payments are made from the agencies’ annual utility appropriations
from the savings achieved through the implementation of energy performance contracts.
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Other Tax-Supported Debt
Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. During the 2004 Legislative Session, the Maryland General Assembly created
the Bay Restoration Fund to be managed by the Water Quality Financing Administration of the Maryland Department of
the Environment (“Administration”). Through fiscal year 2012, the Bay Restoration Fund received a mandatory fee of $30
per year per equivalent dwelling unit from users of sewerage systems in the State, as well as $30 per year from septic
system users. The Bay Restoration Fund sewer fee generated $54.5 million in revenue (cash basis) during fiscal year 2012.
During the 2012 Legislative Session, the fee was increased from $30 per year to $60 per year for most users, effective July
1, 2012. The sewer fee revenues are projected at approximately $110.0 million per year. The sewer fee revenues are
pledged, to the extent necessary, as security for Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds issued by the Administration, the proceeds
of which will be applied primarily to provide grant funds to upgrade wastewater treatment plants with enhanced nutrient
removal technology. The first $50.0 million of Bay Restoration Fund Revenue Bonds were issued on June 25, 2008,
followed by another $100.0 million on April 19, 2014 and $180.0 million on November 2015. During fiscal year 2017,
the Administration expects to issue an additional $100.0 million in Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. The fiscal year 2010
transfer of $155.0 million, the fiscal year 2011 transfer of $45.0 million, and the fiscal year 2012 transfer of $90.0 million
from the Bay Restoration Fund to the General Fund pursuant to the Budget Reconciliation and Financing Acts of 2010 and
2011, were offset by authorizations of equal amounts of general obligation bonds. As of March 31, 2016, the principal
amount of outstanding Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds was $301.6 million.
GARVEE Bonds. The MDTA is authorized to issue GARVEE bonds in an amount not to exceed $750.0 million,
with a maximum maturity of 12 years. In 2005, the General Assembly authorized funding for the Intercounty Connector
highway project to be built in Montgomery and Prince George’s Counties. MDTA issued the first series of GARVEE
bonds in June 2007 in the amount of $325.0 million, and issued the second and final series of GARVEE bonds in
December 2008 in the amount of $425.0 million. Debt service is paid from a portion of Maryland’s federal highway aid,
but in the event such federal aid is insufficient to pay the principal and interest on the GARVEE bonds when due, the taxes
levied under Section 3-215 of the Transportation Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, subject to certain limitations,
are pledged to the payment of the GARVEE bonds; provided that the lien of the pledge supporting the GARVEE bonds is
subordinate to the lien of the pledge of such taxes to the payment of debt service on consolidated transportation bonds. As
of March 31, 2016, the principal amount of outstanding GARVEE Bonds was $279.8 million.

Debt Data
The following tables present, at fiscal year end, various data showing: (1) the trend of outstanding general
obligation debt, its relationship to assessed value of property, personal income, and population, and the trend of
general obligation debt service and its relationship to revenues; (2) the trend of outstanding general obligation,
transportation, and other State tax-supported debt and debt service and their relationships to the same factors; and
(2) the total combined tax-supported debt of the State and debt of Baltimore City and all of the counties, towns, and special
taxing districts within Maryland, and various relationships of such local combined debt to the assessed value of property,
population and personal income. While the State is not obligated for debt, the combined State and local unit debt ratios
demonstrate the total State and local debt obligations relative to statewide assessed values, population and personal
income, for general comparison with other states’ debt levels.
The Capital Debt Affordability Committee (“CDAC”) annually reports ratios for tax-supported debt outstanding
compared to personal income and tax-supported debt service compared to revenues. Debt outstanding, personal income,
debt service, revenues and population in the following tables are all as reported in the 2015 CDAC report. Because some of
the numbers used in the CDAC report are preliminary, they may not agree with more recent figures reported elsewhere in
this Official Statement.
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General Obligation Bond Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)
Fiscal Years
2013
$8,006
6.2%

General Obligation Bonds (a)
% Change (b)

2011
$6,983
7.1%

2012
$7,541
8.0%

2014
$8,362
4.4%

2015
$8,677
3.8%

Assessed Value (c)

$734,592

$683,443

$652,370

$643,310

$669,948

Debt Ratio (d)

1.0%

1.1%

1.2%

Population (e)

5,863

5,906

5,947

5,989

Per Capita Debt

$1,191

$1,277

$1,346

$1,396

Personal Income (f)

$306,001

$316,682

$321,212

$331,860

Debt Ratio (d)

2.4%

2.4%

2.5%

2.5%

General Obligation Debt Service

$835

$878

$916

$981

$1,027

Revenues (g)
Debt Service Ratio (d)

$14,627
5.7%

$15,381
5.7%

$15,966
5.7%

$16,354
6.0%

$16,967
6.1%

1.3%

1.3%
6,006
$1,445
$337,174
2.6%

Combined General Obligation, Transportation
and Other State Tax-Supported Debt Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)
2012

$6,983

$7,541

1,562
166
226
597
42
$9,576

Fiscal Years
2013

2014

2015

$8,006

$8,362

$8,677

1,563
310
219
539
39
$10,211

1,618
286
193
479
36
$10,618

1,813
259
169
416
133
$11,152

2,020
238
145
349
130
$11,560

$734,592

$683,443

$652,370

$643,310

$669,948

1.3%

1.5%

1.6%

1.7%

1.7%

Population (e)
..................................
Per Capita Debt...........................

5,863

5,906

5,947

$1,633

$1,729

$1,785

Personal Income (f)
.........................
Debt Ratio (d) .............................

$306,001

$316,682

$321,212

3.1%

3.2%

3.3%

Debt Service
....................................
Revenues
(h)
....................................
Debt
Service Ratio (d)
.....................

$1,152
$17,528
6.6%

$1,216
$18,304
6.6%

$1,254
$19,001
6.6%

Outstanding
General Obligation Bonds (a)
..........
Transportation
Bonds:
Consolidated Transportation.......
Capital
Leases..................................
Stadium
Authority
...........................
GARVEE
Bonds..............................
Bay
Restoration Revenue Bonds
..... State Tax-Supported Debt *
Total
...
Assessed Value
(c)...........................
Debt Ratio (d) .............................

2011
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5,989

6,006

$1,862

$1,925

$331,860

$337,174

3.4%

3.4%

$1,348
$19,617
6.9%

$1,425
$20,659
6.9%

Combined State and Local Unit Debt Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)
2011
Outstanding Debt (a)
State Tax-Supported Debt...............
Local Debt (i) .................................
Total Combined Debt * ........
Assessed Value (c)..........................
Debt Ratio (d) ............................
Population (e) .................................
Per Capita Debt..........................
Personal Income (f) ........................
Debt Ratio (d) ............................
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)

2012

$9,575
17,965

Fiscal Years
2013

$10,211
18,928

$10,618
20,166

2014

2015

$11,152
21,040 (j)

$11,848
21,991(k)

$27,540

$29,139

$30,784

$32,192

$734,592

$683,443

$652,370

$643,310

3.7%

4.3%

4.7%

5,863

5,906

5,947

$4,697

$4,934

$5,176

$306,001

$316,682

$321,212

9.0%

9.2%

9.6%

5.0%
5,989
$5,375
$331,860
9.7%

Shows amount of debt outstanding at the end of fiscal years shown (June 30) less amounts advance refunded and net of any sinking funds. Local debt includes the debt of
Baltimore City, counties, towns, and special districts. Local debt data are derived from compilations by the Department of Legislative Services of data reported by the local units
as required by statute.
Shows the percentage of increase or decrease of the dollar values from the preceding year’s amount.
Amounts for full value are stated as of January 1, the date assessments are made final for the fiscal year beginning the next July 1.
The debt ratios are expressed as the principal amounts of outstanding debt as percentages of (i) assessed value and (ii) personal income. The debt service ratios are expressed as
the total annual amounts of debt service as percentages of all relevant revenues.
Population is stated in thousands.
Personal income is for the calendar year ended December 31 of the year shown. The 2013 and 2014 figures are estimates.
Amounts of revenue represent General Fund revenues, property taxes, bond premium, U.S. Treasury subsidies, and Education Trust Fund.
Amounts of revenue represent General Fund revenues, property taxes, bond premium, U.S. Treasury subsidies, Education Trust Fund, transportation revenues, lottery revenues
transferred to the Stadium Authority, federal capital highway revenues and bay restoration fees.
Includes outstanding debt of component units.
Due to a late submission from a local government, this figure is preliminary.
Estimate.

* Totals may not add due to rounding.

.

See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – General Obligation Bonds”
for: (1) amounts of the outstanding general obligation bonds of the State at each fiscal year end for the period
2010 through 2015; and (2) for the annual debt service requirements on all general obligation bonds of the
State for future fiscal years.
Capital Programs
General obligation debt is one of several sources of funds used to finance capital assets of the State
and to provide State capital grants and repayable loans to local governments and the private sector (see
“STATE TAX- SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General Obligation Bonds”). Other
types of debt incurred by the State and its units to finance various capital facilities and programs include
bonds issued by the Department of Transportation (see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL
PROGRAM – Department of Transportation Bonds”), bonds issued by the Maryland Stadium Authority (see
“STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Maryland Stadium Authority
Bonds”) and capital leases for the acquisition of property and equipment (see “STATE TAXSUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings”).
The State has also funded capital projects through current operating revenues and receipts. For
example, the Department of Transportation funds roads, bridges, and other transportation facilities from
current revenues from dedicated sources; and the Department of Natural Resources constructs waterway
improvements, shore erosion and land development projects, purchases land for recreational and conservation
purposes, and provides capital grants to local governments from revenues in its operating budget.
Furthermore, some operating budgets have included general funds for projects normally eligible for funding
by general obligation bonds.
The General Assembly annually enacts a Maryland Consolidated Capital Bond Loan appropriating
funds for the various capital programs to be funded through the sale of State general obligation bonds. Once
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$33,839
$669,948
5.1%
6,006
$5,634
$337,174
9.5%

authorized, the projects are implemented by various State agencies, generally under the supervision of the
Board of Public Works. Project expenditures are accounted for in the Capital Projects Fund. General
obligation bonds are issued as cash is needed to meet project requirements. General obligation bond
proceeds are credited to the State and Local Facilities Loan Fund, and cash is transferred to fund capital
project expenditures, as needed. For each fiscal year from 2012 through 2016, the following table sets
forth the amount of bonds authorized, issued, cancelled, and retired; the cumulative amount of general
obligation bonds outstanding; and the cumulative amount of bonds authorized but unissued.
Bonds Authorized, Issued, Cancelled
and Retired ($ in thousands)(a)

Activity during Fiscal Year
Fiscal
Year
2012 ..........
2013 ...........
2014 ..........
2015
2016 (c)

Authorized (b)
1,090,324
1,079,549
1,164,624
1,047,625

New

Issued
Refunding

1,112,400
1,043,230
979,549
1,022,625
504,625

$393,295
348,930
236,855
1,015,075
0

Authorizations
Cancelled
4,525
6,116
7,305
3,694
2,838

Status at Fiscal Year End
Principal
Redeemed
Refunded
542,179
564,299
613,979
658,368
752,554

$405,260
363,160
245,880
1,064,465
0

Outstanding*
7,541,101
8,005,802
8,362,347
8,677,214
8,429,285

Authorized
but Unissued*
2,330,440
2,360,643
2,538,413
2,559,720
2,052,256

________
Per the Comptroller’s Office.
Amounts shown represent authorizations that become effective in the fiscal year indicated. The normal effective date is June 1, which is
in the same fiscal year as the session of the General Assembly enacting the authorization; however, some authorizations are not effective
until July 1, which is the first day of the following fiscal year.
(c) As of March 31, 2016.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
(a)
(b)

The following table reflects activity and ending balances in the Capital Projects Fund on a budgetary basis.
Capital Projects Fund
($ in thousands)
Fiscal
Beginning
Bond
Project
General Fund
Ending
Year
Balance
Proceeds (a)
Expenditures
Other (b)
Appropriation
Balance*
2012 ............................................
57,053
1,112,204
(1,053,177)
3,992
$47,500
167,572
2013 ...........................................
167,572
1,043,124
(1,009,745)
816
201,767
2014 ...........................................
201,767
979,304
(948,335)
6,368
28,950
268,054
2015 ............................................
268,054
1,041,386
(1,130,105)
198
1,100
180,633
2016 (c).......................................
180,633
506,048
(912,487)
15,000
(210,806)
_________
(a) Includes premiums on the sale of bonds used to pay underwriter’s discount and costs of issuance, net of amounts used to pay refunded bonds.
(b) Consists primarily of State property transfer tax revenues and other transfers in (out).
(c) As of March 31, 2016
* Totals may not add due to rounding.

The enacted capital budget for fiscal year 2016 includes $1.06 billion in general obligation bond sale revenue.
In fiscal year 2016, $427.9 million in general obligation bond funding is provided for new construction of and
improvements to state owned facilities, and $309.6 million (not including QZABS) in general obligation bonds is
provided to improve public schools throughout the State. The fiscal year 2016 enacted capital budget also includes $3.5
million in general obligation bond funding towards a Non-Public Aging Schools Program. The capital budget includes
an additional $320.7 million to address other capital needs, including Chesapeake Bay restoration, community college
facilities, affordable housing, hospital improvements and other important community facilities.
The State’s five-year Capital Improvement Program for fiscal years 2017 through 2021 includes $4.98 billion
in general obligation bond sale revenue. This includes the capital budget for fiscal year 2017 enacted by the 2016
session of the General Assembly in April 2016 and the Governor’s proposed capital improvement program for fiscal
year 2018 through 2021 published in January 2016. The State’s anticipated capital needs for State-owned facilities for
fiscal years 2017 through 2021 for projects included in the January 2016 capital improvement plan that are to be
funded through general obligation bond sales total $2,330.1 million as follows: 2017, $423.6 million; 2018, $397.3
million; 2019, $486.6 million; 2020, $538.3 million; and 2021, $484.3 million. The capital improvement plan includes
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$1,424.4 million in general obligation bond funding in fiscal years 2017 through 2021 to improve public schools
throughout the State as follows: 2017, $320 million (not including QZABS); and 2018 through 2021, $276.1 million in
each year. The capital improvement plan also includes general obligation bond funding for other capital needs in the
following amounts: 2017, $260.69 million; 2018, $321.08 million; 2019, $232.02 million; 2020, $180.46 million and
2021, $178.96 million.
The five-year total of general obligation bonds, including the enacted fiscal year 2017 and planned amounts
for fiscal years 2018 through 2021, equals $4.928 billion. This represents a decrease of $320 million below the enacted
and planned amounts for the five year period 2016 through 2020. Comparing the five years totals, most of the decrease
($244.0 million) reflects reductions in the amount of general obligation debt planned to be used for state owned
facilities.
During the 2016 Legislative Session, the General Assembly increased the mandate for the Supplemental
Capital Grant Program for Local School Systems from $20.0 million annually to $40.0 million. This mandate will
increase public school construction spending to at least $296.1 million from fiscal year 2018 to 2021. The General
Assembly also increased mandates for grant and loan programs by $110.0 million. Although these are requirements are
not currently planned in the fiscal year 2017 to 2021 capital improvement program, the Administration intends to meet
these requirements without increasing the planned debt level.

Capital Debt Affordability Committee
The General Assembly created a Capital Debt Affordability Committee (the “CDAC”), the members of
which are the Treasurer, the Comptroller, the Secretary of Budget and Management, the Secretary of Transportation,
and one person appointed by the Governor. The Chairs of the Capital Budget Subcommittees of the Senate Budget
and Taxation Committee and the House Appropriations Committee participate as non-voting members. The CDAC
is required to submit to the Governor by October 1 of each year an estimate of the maximum amount of new general
obligation debt that prudently may be authorized. Although the CDAC’s responsibilities are advisory only, the
Governor is required to give due consideration to the CDAC’s finding in preparing a preliminary allocation of new
general obligation debt authorizations for the next fiscal year.
As part of its process, the CDAC reviews all tax-supported debt, including, general obligation debt,
Consolidated Transportation Bonds issued by the Department of Transportation, tax-supported bonds issued by the
Maryland Stadium Authority, State tax-supported capital lease transactions, GARVEE Bonds and Bay Restoration
Revenue Bonds. The CDAC’s most recent report, from October 2015, recommended to the Governor and the
General Assembly to limit new general obligation bond authorizations to $995.0 million for fiscal year 2017. The
Committee stated that the 2015 recommendation and future year recommendations continue to be under $1.0 billion
and within the adopted affordability benchmarks of 8% debt service to revenues and 4% debt outstanding to personal
income.
The following table compares the CDAC’s recommendations for general obligation bond authorizations
with the authorizations enacted by the General Assembly during each of the last five sessions.
CDAC’s Recommendations for Bond Authorizations
($ in thousands)
General
Assembly
Session

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
(a)
(b)

For
Fiscal
Year

CDAC
Recommendations

Actual
Authorizations (a)

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

1,075,000
1,075,000
1,160,000
1,170,000
995,000

1,090,324
1,079,549
1,164,625
1,045,000
995,000

Difference

15,324(b)
4,549(b)
4,625(b)
(125,000)
-

Actual authorizations are net of deauthorizations for prior years’ projects of $24.1 million, $44.4 million, $34.1 million, $20.5
million, and $10.1 million for fiscal years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively.
Additional authorizations were made to issue bonds under a special federal program (Qualified Zone Academy Bonds), which
provides either federal tax credits to bondholders in lieu of interest or U.S. Treasury subsidies to issuers, and which the CDAC
informally indicated should be considered outside its recommendation.
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Total sales of general obligation bonds during the five fiscal years 2012 through 2016 follows:
Total Sales of General Obligation Bonds
Fiscal Years 2012-2016
($ in thousands)
2012
General Construction ......................$ 596,053
State Public School Construction ... 339,324
Other ............................................... 177,023
Total ...............................................$1,112,400

2013
$ 621,191
281,474
140,565
$1,043,230

2014
$510,917
298,738
169,894
$979,549

2015
$526,918
353,430
142,277
$1,022,625

Refunding ....................................... $393,295

$348,930

$236,855

1,015,075

2016(a)
$272,963
129,312
102,350
$504,625
0

____
(a) Through March 31, 2016.

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE AND ENTERPRISE FINANCINGS
Certain other units of the State government are authorized to borrow money under legislation that expressly
provides that the loan obligations shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the
State. The Community Development Administration of the Department of Housing and Community Development,
higher education institutions (including the University System of Maryland, Morgan State University, St. Mary’s
College of Maryland and Baltimore City Community College), the Maryland Transportation Authority, the
Maryland Water Quality Financing Administration, the Maryland Environmental Service and the Maryland
Department of Transportation have issued and have outstanding bonds of this type. The principal of and interest on
bonds issued by these bodies are payable solely from various sources, principally fees generated from use of the
facilities or enterprises financed by the bonds. Outstanding revenue and enterprise debt of these State units, together
with their non-State tax-supported lease and conditional purchase financings, amounted to approximately $7.1
billion on March 31, 2016. See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – Revenue and
Enterprise Financings” for a summary of outstanding Revenue and Enterprise Financings.
The Department of Budget and Management is required to report annually on the levels of debt issued and
outstanding by certain State agencies and to recommend annual debt issuance amounts for those agencies. The
Governor may establish the amounts of such debt to be issued during the fiscal year, which amounts may be
amended by the Governor.
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STATE DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC DATA
Introduction
The following selected economic, social, and employment data may be relevant in evaluating the economic and
financial condition of the State; however, this information is not intended to provide all relevant data necessary for a
complete evaluation of the State’s economic and financial condition.
Maryland is located on the East Coast in the South Atlantic Census Region, and is bordered by Delaware,
Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Virginia, and the District of Columbia. Maryland encompasses 12,193 square miles.
Ranking 42 among the 50 states in size, Maryland’s land area (exclusive of inland waterways and the 1,726 square
miles of the Chesapeake Bay) is 9,844 square miles.
Population
According to the 2010 Census Bureau reports, Maryland’s population on April 1 of that year was 5,773,552, an
increase of 9.0% from the 2000 Census. Maryland’s population is concentrated in urban areas. In 2015, the eleven
counties and Baltimore City located in the Baltimore-Washington region contained 50.1% of the State’s land area and
87.2% of its population. The 2015 population for the Baltimore Metropolitan Statistical Areas was estimated at
2,797,407 and for the Maryland portion of the Washington Metropolitan Statistical Areas, 2,441,686. Overall,
Maryland’s population per square mile was 610 in 2015. The following table presents estimated population of
Maryland and the United States from 2006 - 2015.
Population
Maryland

United States

Year

Population

Change

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

5,627,367
5,653,408
5,684,965
5,730,388
5,773,552
5,844,171
5,890,740
5,936,040
5,975,346
6,006,401

0.6%
0.5
0.6
0.8
1.0
1.0
0.8
0.8
0.6
0.5

Population
298,379,912
301,231,207
304,093,966
306,771,529
309,346,863
311,718,857
314,102,623
316, 427,395
318,907,401
321,418,820

Change
1.0%
1.0
1.0
0.9
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.7
0.8
0.8

________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
Note: Figures are estimates for July 1 of each year.

For 2014, the most recent year for which data was available, populations of Maryland and the United States were
distributed by age as follows:
Age Distribution 2014
Age

Maryland

Under 5 years
5 through 19 years
20 to 44 years
45 to 64 years
65 years and over

6.2%
19.1
33.5
27.5
13.8
100.0%*

________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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United States
6.2%
19.5
33.5
26.2
14.5
100.0%*

Personal Income
Maryland residents received approximately $337.2 billion in personal income in 2015. Maryland’s total
personal income increased at a rate of 4.1%, below the national increase of 4.4%. However, per capita income remained
significantly above the national average in 2015, $56,127 in Maryland compared with the national average of $47,669.
In 2015, Maryland’s per capita personal income ranked fifth highest in the nation. Per capita income varies across the
State, with the highest incomes in the Washington and Baltimore regions. The table below shows trends in per capita
personal income in Maryland and the United States.
Per Capita Personal Income Trends
Year

Maryland

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

$45,904
47,708
49,307
48,739
49,683
51,800
53,078
52,545
54,176
56,127

Change

United States

6.0%
3.9
3.4
-1.2
1.9
4.3
2.5
-1.0
3.1
3.6

$38,144
39,821
41,082
39,376
40,277
42,453
44,266
44,438
46,049
47,669

Change
6.2%
4.4
3.2
-4.2
2.3
5.4
4.3
0.4
3.6
3.5

________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
Note: Rankings do not include the District of Columbia.
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Maryland Ranking
4
5
4
4
4
4
6
6
7
5

Maryland is more reliant on the service and government sectors than the nation as a whole, while the
manufacturing sector is much less significant than it is nationwide. As one of the wealthier states, a greater share of
personal income is derived from dividends, interest and rent, and a lesser share comes from transfer payments. In 2015,
the sources of personal income in the State and the comparable sources of personal income for the nation were as follows:
Sources of Personal Income
2015
($ in millions)

Mining, forestry, fishing .......................................
Construction .........................................................
Manufacturing ......................................................
Trade, transportation & utilities ...........................
Information services .............................................
Finance, insurance & real estate ...........................
Professional & business services ..........................
Educational & health services ..............................
Leisure & hospitality services ..............................
Other services .......................................................
Government
Federal, civilian .............................................
Military..........................................................
State & local ..................................................
Farm income .........................................................

Maryland
$ 328
16,378
9,833
28,130
7,049
18,232
43,428
30,032
9,084
8,573

Percentage of Personal Income
Before Residence Adjustment
Maryland
United States
0.1%
1.4%
5.2
4.2
3.1
6.8
9.0
11.0
2.3
2.4
5.8
6.7
13.9
12.1
9.6
9.1
2.9
3.2
2.7
2.6

24,372
3,949
27,741
634

7.8
1.3
8.9
0.2

2.1
0.9
8.9
0.6

Earnings by place of work ....................................

227,762

72.8

72.0

Less:
Personal contributions for social insurance ..........

(25,087)

(8.0)

(7.8)

Plus:
Dividends, Interest and Rent ................................
Transfer Payments ................................................

63,737
46,525

20.4
14.9

18.5
17.4

Personal income before residence adjustment ......
Residence adjustment ...........................................

312,938
24,236

100.0%*

100.0%*

Total Personal Income ........................................................
$ 337,174*

__________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (State Quarterly Personal Income, Series SQ5N).
Note: Total personal income is reported by place of residence; however, income by industry is shown by place of work. The residence adjustment
accounts for Maryland residents who work outside the State.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Between 2010 and 2015, total personal income in Maryland has grown 3.2% annually, compared to a national growth
rate of 4.2%. During this period, wage and salary income, roughly half of total personal income, has grown at a lower
rate in Maryland than it has nationally, while supplements to wages and salaries – essentially nonwage benefits – have
grown at similar rates. Additionally, investment income (income derived from dividends, interest, and rent) growth did
not keep pace with the nation as a whole. The nation’s proprietors’ income outpaced Maryland’s, growing at annual
rates of 6.1% and 4.7%, respectively. The disparity in growth of the residence adjustment income earned by residents
who work outside of Maryland or the nation is not as meaningful as it might appear, because the residence adjustment
is roughly 7.2% of Maryland personal income, but less three basis points of national personal income. The different
growth rates between several of the income components, most notably Wages and Salaries, Residence Adjustment, and
Proprietors’ Income are likely the result of federal budget sequestration and the relatively greater impact it has had on
Maryland.
Average Annual Growth of Personal Income Components
(2010 through 2015)
Maryland
United States
Wages and Salaries
3.0%
4.2%
Supplements to Wages and Salaries
3.0
2.9
Proprietors' Income
4.7
6.1
Contributions for Social Insurance
2.8
4.1
Residence Adjustment
0.2
4.1
Dividends, Interest, and Rent
4.4
5.8
Transfer Payments
3.5
2.8
Total Personal Income
3.2
4.2
__________________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (State Annual Personal Income, Series A04).
Note: Total personal income is reported by place of residence; however income by industry is shown by place of work.
The residence adjustment accounts for Maryland residents who work outside the State.

While Maryland remains significantly wealthier than the nation as a whole, it should be noted that the period
of comparison in the above table reflects the recovery from the Great Recession. Employment and personal income
declined at a lesser rate during the depths of the global recession of 2009; for example, national wages and salaries fell
4.4% in 2009 relative to a 0.8% decline for Maryland. The slower post-recession trajectory for Maryland’s principal
income measures may be partially a function of the lesser rate of decline; coming out of a deeper trough, the nation as a
whole would require higher income and employment growth than Maryland in order to recover to pre-recession levels.
Maryland’s slower post-recession trajectory may also be reflective of the economic hurdles faced during that time
frame. Relative to the nation as a whole, Maryland’s economy has been disproportionately affected by federal budget
uncertainty, federal budget sequestration, and higher income tax rates.
Annual Personal Income and Wages and Salaries Growth
Personal Income
Maryland
United States
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

6.7
4.4
3.9
-0.4
3.0
5.3
3.3
-0.2
3.8
4.1

7.3
5.4
4.1
-3.3
3.1
6.2
5.1
1.2
4.4
4.4

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
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Wages and Salaries
Maryland
United States
5.7
4.6
2.3
-0.8
2.2
3.6
3.1
0.8
3.4
4.0

6.4
5.6
2.2
-4.4
2.0
4.0
4.5
2.7
5.1
4.6

Employment
Maryland’s labor force totaled 3.2 million individuals in 2015, including agricultural and nonagricultural
employment, the unemployed, the self-employed and residents who commute to jobs in other states. The government,
retail trade, and services sectors (notably professional and business, and educational and health) are the leading areas of
employment in the State. In contrast to the nation as a whole, considerably more people in Maryland are employed in the
federal government and service sectors and fewer in manufacturing, as shown in the following table:
Distribution of Employment
2015
Maryland
Construction & mining
Manufacturing
Trade, transportation & utilities
Information services
Financial activities
Professional & business services
Educational & health services
Leisure & hospitality services
Other services
Government
Federal
State & local
Total

United States

5.8%
3.9
17.4
1.4
5.5
16.2
16.4
10.1
4.3

5.1%
8.7
19.0
1.9
5.7
13.9
15.6
10.7
4.0

5.4
13.5
100.0%*

1.9
13.6
100.0%*

________________
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.
*Totals may not add due to rounding.

Following the collapse of the housing market beginning in 2008, the construction and finance industries
realized significant job losses, and as the broader recession took hold, several other Maryland industries were severely
impacted. In the aggregate, Maryland lost 5.7% of its jobs in the recession while the nation lost 6.3%, both reaching the
trough in February 2010. Subsequently, employment growth has been uncharacteristically slow for an economic
recovery, though through December 2015, Maryland and the nation have gained back 102.6% and 103.4% of those lost
jobs, respectively.
Average Annual Employment Growth
(2010 through 2015)
Maryland
1.4%
-1.8
1.1
-2.7
0.3
2.1
1.8
3.1
0.0

Construction & mining
Manufacturing
Trade, transportation & utilities
Information services
Financial activities
Professional & business services
Educational & health services
Leisure & hospitality services
Other services
Government
Federal
State & local
Total Non-agricultural Employment

0.6
-0.1

-1.6
-0.3

1.1

1.7

______
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.
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United States
3.2%
1.3
1.8
0.3
1.1
3.3
2.0
3.0
1.1

Historical employment in Maryland’s five largest sectors is shown in the table below. Maryland’s five largest
sectors represented 79.0% of total employment in 2015. As is often the case, government employment in Maryland
acted as a stabilizing factor during the recession. However, Maryland federal government employment detracted from
employment in 2013 and 2014, decreasing 1.2% and 1.1% respectively. Although Maryland has accounted for
approximately 5.2% of total federal government employment since 2013, Maryland only represented 3.3% of federal
government jobs lost in 2013 and 4.4% in 2014. This indicates that despite federal government employment detracting
from Maryland employment growth in 2013 and 2014, other states lost a disproportionately larger share of federal
government employment. However, as direct federal employment accounts for roughly 5.4% of jobs in Maryland, the
impact is relatively acute. Furthermore, it is widely speculated that the same federal budget sequester has hindered the
growth in Maryland’s private sector. The degree to which private sector employment growth has been impacted is
unknown, but it is suspected to have engendered a relatively stronger negative impact in Maryland compared to the
nation as a whole.

Annual Employment Growth
Maryland’s Five Largest Employment Sectors

Total
Government

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
_________

Trade,
Transportation,
& Utilities

Educational &
Health
Services

Professional &
Business
Services

Leisure &
Hospitality
Services

Total MD
Employment

Total US
Employment

1.0
0.1
-2.3
-5.4
-0.4
1.4
1.3
0.3
1.0
1.7

2.7
2.6
2.8
2.6
1.5
1.6
2.5
1.4
1.6
2.0

1.7
0.5
0.0
-3.4
1.0
3.1
2.7
1.7
1.5
1.5

2.1
1.5
1.0
-2.4
-0.3
1.6
4.6
3.9
2.5
3.1

1.3
0.7
-0.3
-2.9
-0.2
1.0
1.2
0.9
0.9
1.5

1.8
1.1
-0.5
-4.3
-0.7
1.2
1.7
1.6
1.9
2.1

1.1
1.6
1.9
1.2
1.6
0.7
-0.1
-0.1
-0.2
0.0

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Recent employment trends in Maryland are shown in the following table. Maryland’s annual unemployment
rate has been lower than the rest of the country for over a decade, while the labor force growth has outpaced the rest of
the country in four of the last ten years.
Employment Trends

Year
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Unemployment
Rate in
Maryland
3.9
3.5
4.4
7.1
7.6
7.2
6.9
6.5
5.8
5.2

Unemployment
Rate in the
United States
4.6
4.6
5.8
9.3
9.6
8.9
8.1
7.4
6.2
5.3

Growth in
Maryland
Labor Force

Growth in
United States
Labor Force

1.3
0.2
1.1
1.2
1.3
0.7
0.7
0.2
0.0
0.8

_______________
Source: Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation.
Note: In March 2016, the unemployment rate was 4.7% in Maryland and 5.0% in the United States.
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1.4
1.1
0.8
-0.1
-0.2
-0.2
0.9
0.3
0.3
0.8

Educational Levels
Maryland’s workforce is more highly educated than that of the rest of the United States as a whole. As of
2014, the most recent year for which data was available, the percentage of the population (25 years and over) with a
bachelor’s degree or higher is 38.2% as compared to 30.1% for the nation as a whole. Maryland ranks third in the
nation in the percentage of its population over 25 with a graduate or professional degree. The percentage of the
population with a high school diploma or better is 89.6% in Maryland compared to 86.9% in the United States. This
educational attainment facilitates the rapid growth of the professional services and information services sectors, which
require an educated workforce.
Educational Attainment of Population 25 Years and Over in 2014
Maryland
10.4%
25.7
19.1
6.5
20.7
17.5

Less than High School
High School Diploma
Some College
Associate's Degree
Bachelor's Degree
Graduate or Professional Degree

United States
13.1%
27.7
21.0
8.2
18.7
11.4

________________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau (American Community Survey).

Assessed Value of Property
Maryland levies a State tax on real property, revenues from which are credited to the Annuity Bond Fund to
pay debt service. Through fiscal year 2003 the rate was 8.4 cents per $100 of assessment (21 cents on utility operating
property). In fiscal year 2004 the rate was increased to 13.2 cents per $100 of assessment (33 cents on utility operating
property). For fiscal years 2007 through 2017 the tax rate is 11.2 cents per $100 of assessment (28 cents on utility
operating property).
Shown below is the assessed value for State purposes of real property as determined by the State Department
of Assessments and Taxation. All real property is assessed at full cash value once every three years, with any increase
in full cash value phased in over the ensuing three taxable years in equal installments. Any decrease in the full cash
value is recognized in full in the next taxable year and held constant for the remaining two taxable years.
Assessed Values of Real Estate
($ in thousands)

Fiscal
Year

Real
Property

Utility Operating
Real Property

Total*

Change in
Assessed
Values

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

525,706,233
616,526,923
706,403,763
750,498,802
733,884,066
682,650,240
651,655,464
642,571,751
669,161,466
695,336,368

1,476,219
1,105,319
1,086,209
1,069,237
708,090
793,154
714,633
737,924
786,889
782,952

527,182,452
617,632,242
707,489,972
751,568,039
734,592,156
683,443,394
652,370,097
643,309,675
669,948,355
696,119,320

16.5
17.2
14.5
6.2
-2.2
-7.0
-5.0
-1.4
4.1
3.9

_______________
Source: State Department of Assessments and Taxation, March 2016.
Note: See also, “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues, Property Taxes and State Property Tax Revenue Estimates.”
*Totals may not add due to rounding.

58

Residential Construction
In 2015 the value of all residential unit permits issued increased by 6.6%. In addition, the total number of
residential building permits decreased by 3.6%. Recent trends signal that the real estate market realized its trough in
2011 and has shifted towards a growth sector. Overall, the average monthly active inventory of units for sale
increased 3.0% to 29,028 in 2015, which is just over half of the peak levels of 2008. That increase follows a
15.0% increase in inventory in 2014. According to monthly data from the Maryland Association of Realtors, unit
sales for 2015 increased 16.3%, with the median unit price up just 0.4%. The recent increase in supply and
the still relatively elevated inventory of foreclosures likely continue to restrain price growth while volume increases.

Aggregate Value of and Building Permits Issued
for Residential Construction in Maryland

Year
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Value of
Construction in
Current Dollars
($ in millions)
3,889.9
3,768.8
2,229.7
2,089.0
1,951.9
2,204.6
2,409.9
2,811.2
2,889.2
3,080.6

Change

Number of
Permits Issued

-17.0
-3.1
-40.8
-6.3
-6.6
12.9
9.3
16.7
2.8
6.6

23,262
18,582
13,018
11,123
11,931
13,481
15,217
17,918
16,331
15,741

Change
-22.9
-20.1
-29.9
-14.6
7.3
13.0
12.9
17.7
-8.9
-3.6

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.

Home Sales and Median Home Price

Year
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Unit
Home Sales
79,056
60,784
44,563
49,237
50,877
51,042
54,068
61,073
62,791
73,044

Growth
-21.0%
-23.1
-26.7
10.5
3.3
0.3
5.9
13.0
2.8
16.3

Median
Home Price
$307,227
306,585
285,224
258,284
247,280
228,275
243,913
256,355
258,494
259,638

Growth
7.1%
-0.2
-7.0
-9.4
-4.3
-7.7
6.9
5.1
0.8
0.4

Source: Maryland Association of Realtors.

Taxable Retail Sales
A relatively strong economy, low interest rates and high levels of mortgage refinancing resulted in robust
growth in fiscal years 2004 through 2006. As the economy slowed in fiscal year 2007, and the boost from mortgage
refinancing and other housing-related issues faded, growth slowed precipitously. The onset of the most recent
recession coupled with high gas prices resulted in declining taxable retail sales for fiscal year 2008. Fiscal year
2009 saw continued reductions in retail sales as declining wealth, increased unemployment, and a lack of credit
weighed heavily across all categories of the base. Although sales and use tax collection growth in fiscal year 2010
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finished negative, Maryland experienced four consecutive months of positive growth in sales and use tax collections
in the final months of the fiscal year 2010 and that trend carried into fiscal year 2011. In fiscal year 2011, taxable
sales increased at their greatest rate since fiscal year 2006, as taxable purchases of vehicles and other goods
rebounded, likely the result of improved equity markets, a relatively stabilized job market, and pent-up demand.
Fiscal years 2012 and 2013 continued the upward trend as the economy continued to improve. Growth slowed in
fiscal year 2013 as budget sequestration, the fiscal cliff of 2012, and the expiration of the federal payroll tax
reduction weighed on income growth and confidence. Fiscal years 2014 and 2015 saw improvement from 2013,
though the acceleration was largely attributable to vehicle sales. Basic taxable spending increased less than 2.0% in
2014 before rebounding to 5.2% in fiscal year 2015. Fiscal year 2015 also includes the first nine months of sales tax
collections from internet retailer Amazon. While we cannot disclose the amount of those collections or the adjusted
growth rate, it is safe to say those amounts had a significantly positive revenue impact. The following table
illustrates the change in taxable sales for fiscal years 2006 through 2015.
Taxable Retail Sales in Maryland
(includes automobile sales)
($ in thousands)
Fiscal
Year
2006 .....................
2007 .....................
2008 .....................
2009 .....................
2010 .....................
2011 .....................
2012 .....................
2013 .....................
2014……………
2015…………….

Taxable
Retail Sales
$81,933,900
82,568,490
80,120,978
72,413,624
71,521,298
74,479,247
76,758,835
78,254,027
80,415,065
84,825,062

Change
5.8%
0.8
-3.0
-9.6
-1.2
4.1
3.1
1.9
8.0
5.5

Source: Comptroller of the Treasury, Bureau of Revenue Estimates.
Note: Includes sales and use tax base and motor vehicle excise tax base.

Other Economic Factors
Real Estate. Following several years of declining activity and values, data from the Maryland Association
of Realtors indicates that the residential real estate market has somewhat stabilized. Following the housing price
trough in 2011, prices have increased for four consecutive years, albeit at a slower pace in 2014 and 2015. Unit sales
growth has improved each year since 2009. Notably, the median price in 2015 was 15.5% less than its 2006 peak
and sales volume in 2014 was 27.1% below its 2005 peak. Of course, a return to prior peaks would not be expected
in the short run in the absence of an unsustainable housing bubble. As a result of the housing bubble, risk remains in
the outlook as the percentage of loans beginning the foreclosure process has remained elevated in comparison to
pre-recession levels, and there may be an inventory of other units that have been held from the market in
anticipation of higher prices. The elevated number of foreclosures was expected as Maryland employs a judicial
foreclosure process.
The Port of Baltimore. As one of the largest ports on the East Coast by tonnage, in 2015 the Port of
Baltimore handled 32.4 million tons of foreign commerce cargo valued at $51.1 billion. This represented a 9.7%
increase in tons from 2014; however, valuation decreased 2.5%. Owned by the State but operated by a private entity
(Ports America), the Port is in an excellent position to capitalize on the widening of the Panama Canal. The project
to widen the Canal, which is expected to finish in 2016, will permit longer and wider ships to pass and other than
Baltimore, few east coast ports have the berth depths and cranes to handle such ships.
Biotechnology. Maryland is well-positioned in the front ranks of the biotechnology field. The State’s
concentration of higher education and research institutions, particularly medical schools, a thriving pharmaceuticals
industry and one of the most highly educated workforces in the country have created growth opportunities for the
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biotechnology companies that have located or started up here. Further, the State currently offers a biotechnology
investment incentive tax credit for investments in qualified Maryland biotechnology companies. The State also
provides seed and early-stage equity funding for biotechnology companies through the Maryland Venture Fund. In
addition, there are more than 20 business incubators located throughout the State, providing support for the
development of biotechnology enterprises.
Base Realignment and Closure. The State received more federal jobs than any other state in the country
as a result of the 2005 Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) process. As part of BRAC, the commands of the
Army Team C4ISR, Defense Information Systems Agency, Defense Media Activity, Army Research,
Development, and Engineering, and Walter Reed Hospital have been moved to Maryland. It was estimated that
45,232 jobs with an average wage of $70,388 would be created in or moved to Maryland by 2020 - of that, more
than 15,000 would be direct, more than 22,000 would be indirect, and more than 7,000 would be induced.
Presumably many of these jobs are currently in place because the direct federal job realignment had a statutory end
date of September 15, 2011; for this reason, many of the related indirect jobs are likely in place as well. Although
much of the activity has already occurred, a substantial amount of economic upside remains as a portion of the
individuals in these positions may be telecommuting at this time and will likely move to Maryland at a later date
or their positions will be filled with Maryland residents as employees turn over. Separately but related, the U.S.
Cyber Command, established at Fort Meade, Maryland in May 2010 and activated in October 2010, is also
estimated to have added thousands of jobs since activation and is expected to provide continued growth in the near
future.

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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LEGAL MATTERS
Legality of the Bonds
The legality of the issuance of the Bonds offered by this Official Statement will be passed upon by the
Honorable Brian E. Frosh, Attorney General of Maryland, and by Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, MD, Bond Counsel.
However, Bond Counsel will rely upon the opinions of the Attorney General addressed to Bond Counsel with respect
to the validity of the specified State loans or installments thereof represented by the Bonds and as to compliance with
State law. Delivery of the Bonds is conditioned upon delivery by the Attorney General and Bond Counsel of
unqualified opinions substantially in the respective forms set forth in APPENDIX D.
Litigation and Other Matters
The State and its units are parties to numerous legal proceedings, many of which normally occur in
governmental operations. Except as noted below, the legal proceedings are not, in the opinion of the Attorney General,
likely to have a material adverse effect on the State’s financial position.
Goldberg, formerly Braverman, et al. v. State of Maryland. The State is the defendant in a class-action
proceeding in the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County (“Goldberg case”) challenging on constitutional grounds the
2007 enactment by the General Assembly of certain State-wide ground rent reforms, in particular the substitution of a
lien and foreclosure remedy for the prior remedy of ejectment for a ground lease tenant’s failure to pay rent. Plaintiffs
allege an unconstitutional abrogation of vested rights and an unconstitutional regulatory taking of property without just
compensation in violation of the United States and Maryland Constitutions and seek damages. In a related case
challenging a separate ground rent reform statute (“Muskin case”), the Maryland Court of Appeals held on October 25,
2011 that the extinguishment and transfer provisions of that separate statute were unconstitutional because they take
ground rent owners' private property without just compensation.
Subsequently, on December 20, 2011 the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County concluded in the Goldberg
case that the statute at issue retroactively abrogated vested rights and is unconstitutional under State law, and granted
summary judgment to plaintiffs. The Circuit Court dismissed plaintiffs’ federal law claims without prejudice. The
State appealed the decision of the Circuit Court, and the Court of Appeals heard argument on September 9, 2013. On
February 26, 2014, the Court of Appeals upheld the decision of the Circuit Court. This outcome does not involve a
material impact on the State’s finances because the relief granted is limited to striking down the statute. This decision
does, however, expose the State to lawsuits that could be brought by ground rent owners alleging a temporary taking of
their ground rent property during the time period the challenged statutory provisions were in place, which could result
in the State having to pay compensation of approximately $20.0 million, although the ultimate amount would depend
on further factual development and, thus, could be higher or lower than $20.0 million. In addition, plaintiffs have stated
their intention to seek $8.5 million in attorneys’ fees. The State has opposed the petition on the grounds that there is no
legal basis for paying any attorney’s fees and, even if there were, the plaintiffs’ request is excessive and unreasonable.
The Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County held a hearing on that petition in October 2014 and on May 11, 2015
awarded the plaintiffs $5,109,925.45 in attorneys’ fees and costs. Argument before the Court of Special Appeals was
held in February 2016.
The payment of any final judgment is subject to the approval of the Board of Public Works from money
appropriated for that purpose in the State budget. Consequently, the payment of any final judgments would impact a
fiscal year budget only to the extent monies are appropriated in that fiscal year to pay such final judgments.
State of Maryland v. Philip Morris Corp. The 1998 Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement (“MSA”) with
tobacco companies includes a provision which, if applicable, could substantially reduce or eliminate annual MSA
payments to some or all of the settling states, including Maryland. The provision applies if a nationally recognized
economic firm finds that the settling tobacco companies have suffered a market share loss, and that the MSA was a
significant factor contributing to the loss. If those circumstances apply in a given calendar year, a payment adjustment
(the “NPM Adjustment”) reduces the MSA payments to those settling states that have not “diligently enforced” the
provisions of a statute that imposes certain obligations on all cigarette manufacturers, including those that do not
participate in the MSA.
In 2013, a national arbitration panel determined that Maryland and five other states failed to diligently enforce
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the provisions of that statute in 2003. The panel also approved a partial settlement between the tobacco companies and
some other states. As a result, Maryland’s annual tobacco settlement payment due on April 15, 2014, was reduced by
approximately $100,000,000. The State moved to vacate the panel’s determinations, but the Circuit Court of Baltimore
City denied its motions on July 23, 2014. On October 2, 2015, the Court of Special Appeals affirmed the Panel’s
finding that Maryland was non-diligent in 2003, but reversed the preliminary order approving the partial settlement.
The Maryland Court of Appeals declined further review of this decision on February 22, 2016. As a result, on April 18,
2016, the tobacco companies paid Maryland a total of $199,909,027, over $50 million of which was attributed to the
October 2, 2015 opinion of the Court of Special Appeals reversing the partial settlement order. The tobacco companies
plan on seeking further review in the Supreme Court of the United States, but have not yet filed their petition for
certiorari. The tobacco companies have also alleged that Maryland failed to diligently enforce the provisions of its
statute in calendar year 2004. Maryland will participate in a multi-state arbitration to resolve this dispute. It is unlikely
that Maryland will have a hearing on its diligence within the next twelve months, so this arbitration will likely have no
effect on Maryland’s upcoming annual tobacco settlement payment in fiscal year 2017.
Coalition for Equity & Excellence in Md. Higher Educ., et al. v. Ehrlich, et al. In this case, originally filed
in state court on October 13, 2006, and subsequently removed to federal court, the plaintiffs assert various
claims for injunctive and declaratory relief alleging a failure to desegregate Maryland’s historically black
colleges and universities (“HBCUs”) in violation of the Equal Protection Clause and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, as well as noncompliance with an agreement between the State and the Office of Civil Rights of the U.S.
Department of Education. The court granted partial summary judgment in favor of the State on all but three of the
plaintiffs’ claims. Following a six-week trial that began on January 3, 2012, the court heard closing arguments on
October 29, 2012, and issued a ruling as to liability on October 7, 2013. The court found for the defendants on
claims relating to operational funding and missions, but found for the plaintiffs on the issue of unnecessary program
duplication. The Court proposed “to defer entry of judgment pending mediation or further proceedings if necessary
to establish an appropriate remedy.” Since the October 2013 ruling, the parties have been in mediation. On May 4,
2015, the defendants filed a motion to certify an interlocutory appeal of the liability finding under 42 U.S.C. § 1292(b),
along with a request to stay further district court proceedings pending the outcome of the appeal. On May 5, 2015, the
plaintiff’s filed a motion for entry of an order adopting and extensive list of remedies. At the request of the defendants,
the court extended indefinitely the time for the defendants’ response to the plaintiff’s remedial proposal, pending the
court’s ruling on the motion to certify an interlocutory appeal. The Court granted the motion to certify interlocutory
appeal in the summer of 2015. The Defendants’ then filed a permission to appeal in the 4th Circuit for the Court to
grant interlocutory review under 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). On July 29, 2015 the permission to appeal was denied.
Defendants filed a report and remedial proposal on November 20, 2015. On December 7, 2015, plaintiffs filed an
opposition to defendant’s motion for leave to designate supplement witnesses regarding remedies as well as a response
to defendants’ report and remedial proposals. On February 2, 2016, an order was entered denying plaintiff’s motion for
judgment and granting defendant’s motion for leave to designate supplemental witnesses. Substantial appropriations
for programs and related enhancements at the HBCUs may be needed to implement any remedial action, which may be
provided for in either a settlement agreement or court decree.
In the Appeal of Computer Science Corp under Maryland Dep’t of Health and Mental Hygiene. This case was
filed with the Maryland State Board of Contract Appeals on June 27, 2014 with a claim of $39 million. The
Department has several disputes with Computer Sciences Corporation (“CSC”), a contractor retained in 2012 for the
Medicaid Enterprise Restructuring Project (MERP). The MERP contract is for designing, developing, and
implementing a new computer system for managing the payment of Medicaid claims. In 2013 and 2014 a series of
contract disputes developed. CSC has filed two contract claims with the Department. The Department denied CSC’s
first claim for an equitable adjustment of $33.9 million because the work for which CSC sought payment was within
the scope of the original contract. CSC has appealed that decision to the Board of Contract Appeals, where it is
pending. CSC’s second contract claim for more than $60 million was made on October 16, 2014. The Department
has not yet issued a decision on the second claim. There have been a series of extensions of the suspension of work
under the contract that was first issued August 22, 2014. Negotiations regarding the future of the MERP contract
collapsed in October 2015. On October 14, 2015 DHMH issued notice to CSC stating that it was terminating the
MERP contract for default. CSC filed a third claim, which overlaps with its earlier claims, on November 13, 2015. The
first claim remains pending before the MSBCA case, while DHMH has yet to issue decisions on CSC’s second and
third claims and to file its own claims. DHMH will seek to hold CSC liable to the State for damages and, in March, the
Office of Attorney General retained Ballard Spahr, LLP as special counsel to assist in the litigation.
Michael J. Holzheid vs Comptroller of the Treasury of Maryland, et al.: Maryland law imposes an income tax
on residents composed of (1) a State income tax, paid to the State; and (2) a county income tax, collected by the State
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but paid to the county of residence. When residents earn income out-of-state, the State allows a credit against the State
tax for taxes paid on that income to the state where the income was generated. Prior to the United States Supreme
Court’s decision in Maryland State Comptroller v. Brian Wynne, et ux., no credit was given against the county tax for
income taxes paid in other states. However, the Supreme Court held that the State’s practice of crediting taxes paid to
other states but not to the local government portion of the Maryland’s taxes was a violation of the United States
Constitution’s commerce clause. Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision, the Maryland General Assembly lowered the
interest rate that applies to refunds in such cases to the average prime rate for 2015, or 3.25 percent, and applying the
limit retroactively to taxpayers who had requested refunds before 2014. On November 13, 2015, a $38.4 million class
action lawsuit was filed in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City against the Comptroller. The suit alleges that the State
violated the takings and due process clauses of the U.S. Constitution by changing the law to limit the rate of interest
that would be paid on refunds of local tax. The State was served on November 24, 2015 and has filed its answer in the
case. On February 16, 2016, the Court denied the State’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint. The case is
currently in the discovery phase.

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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TAX MATTERS
Federal Tax Exemption
In General. In the opinion of Ballard Spahr LLP, Bond Counsel, interest on the First Series Bonds is
excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income tax under existing laws as enacted and construed on
the date of their initial delivery, assuming the accuracy of the certifications of the State and continuing compliance
by the State with the requirements of the federal tax laws. Interest on the First Series Bonds is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of either individual or corporate federal alternative minimum tax; however, interest on the
First Series Bonds held by a corporation (other than an S corporation, regulated investment company, or real
estate investment trust) may be indirectly subject to federal alternative minimum tax because of its inclusion in the
adjusted current earnings of a corporate holder. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding other federal tax
consequences of ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.
Original Issue Premium. The First Series Bonds being offered at a premium (“original issue premium”)
equal generally to the excess of their public offering price over their principal amount are referred to herein as
the “Premium Bonds”. For federal income tax purposes, original issue premium is amortizable periodically over the
term of a Premium Bond through reductions in the holder’s tax basis for such Premium Tax-Exempt Bond for
determining taxable gain or loss from sale or from redemption prior to maturity. Amortization of premium does
not create a deductible expense or loss. Holders should consult their tax advisers for an explanation of the
amortization rules.
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. A person making payments of tax-exempt interest to a
bondholder is generally required to make an information report of the payments to the Internal Revenue Service and
to perform “backup withholding” from the interest if the bondholder does not provide an IRS Form W-9 to the
payor. “Backup withholding” means that the payor withholds tax from the interest payments at the backup
withholding rate, currently 28%. Form W-9 states the bondholder’s taxpayer identification number or basis of
exemption from backup withholding.
If a holder purchasing a First Series Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in
connection with the account, as generally can be expected, there should be no backup withholding from the interest
on such First Series Bond.
If backup withholding occurs, it does not affect the excludability of the interest on the First Series
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup withholding
would be allowed as a refund or a credit against the owner’s federal income tax once the required information is
furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.
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Tax Exemption - State of Maryland Taxation
In the opinion of the Attorney General and of Bond Counsel, under existing law of the State of Maryland,
the Bonds, their transfer, the interest payable thereon, and any income derived therefrom, including any profit
realized in the sale or exchange thereof, will be exempt from taxation within the State of Maryland by the State or
by any of its political subdivisions, municipal corporations, or public agencies; however, the law of the State of
Maryland does not expressly refer to, and no opinion is expressed concerning, estate or inheritance taxes or any
other taxes not levied or assessed directly on the Bonds, their transfer, or the income therefrom.
Changes in Federal and State Tax Law
From time to time, there are legislative proposals in the Congress and in the states that, if enacted, could
alter or amend the federal and state tax matters referred to herein or adversely affect the market value of the Bonds.
It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would
apply to bonds issued prior to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or
proposed and litigation is threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner,
could adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether any such regulatory action will
be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether the Bonds or the market
value thereof would be impacted thereby. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any
pending or proposed legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation. The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are
based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the
date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent
thereto or with respect to any pending legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING – FIRST SERIES BONDS
The First Series Bonds will be offered by the State for sale by competitive bidding on Wednesday, June 8,
2016, in accordance with the Official Notice of Sale set forth in APPENDIX E. The interest rates shown on the
inside cover pages of this Official Statement are the interest rates per annum payable by the State resulting from the
award of the First Series Bonds at the competitive bidding. The yields or prices shown on the inside cover pages of
this Official Statement for Bonds were furnished by the successful bidders for the First Series Bonds. All other
information concerning the nature and terms of any reoffering of these Bonds should be obtained from the
successful bidders for the First Series Bonds and not from the State.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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OTHER INFORMATION
Report of Independent Public Accountants
The General Purpose Financial Statements of the State of Maryland for the year ended June 30, 2015,
included in the section APPENDIX A – “FINANCIAL STATEMENTS” of this Official Statement have been
audited by SB & Company, LLC, independent certified public accountants, as stated in their report appearing herein.
Financial Advisor
Public Financial Management, Inc. of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, is serving as financial advisor to the
State for the sale and delivery of the Bonds. Public Financial Management, Inc. is a financial advisory and
consulting organization and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, marketing, or trading municipal
securities or any other negotiable instruments.
Ratings
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor’s, a Division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc., and Fitch Ratings have given the Bonds ratings of Aaa, AAA, and AAA, respectively. An
explanation of the significance of a particular rating may be obtained from the rating agency furnishing it. The State
furnished to the rating agencies the information contained in a preliminary form of this Official Statement and other
information. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such materials and information, as well as their own
investigations, studies, and assumptions. It should be noted that the ratings may be changed at any time and that no
assurance can be given that the ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn by any or all rating agencies, if
in the judgment of any or all, circumstances should warrant such actions. Any downward revision or withdrawal of
any of the ratings could have an adverse effect on market prices for the Bonds.
The complete rating reports for the State of Maryland referenced above are available at:
http://www.treasurer.state.md.us/debtmanagement/rating-agency-reports.aspx
Continuing Disclosure
In order to enable the successful bidders for the Bonds to comply with the requirements of paragraph
(b)(5) of the Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Board of Public Works
will execute and deliver, on or before the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, a Continuing Disclosure
Agreement, the form of which is attached as APPENDIX F. Potential purchasers should note that certain of the
events listed in Section 4(a) of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement have been included for purposes of
compliance with Rule 15c2-12 but are not relevant for the Bonds, specifically those events relating to debt service
reserves, credit enhancements and liquidity providers, and property or other collateral. As of July 1, 2009, the State
files its secondary market disclosures with service established by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
known as the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.
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Official Statement
This Official Statement has been approved and authorized by the Board of Public Works of Maryland for use in
connection with the sale of the Bonds representing the $1,036,000,000 State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series. The
Underwriters and the successful bidders will each be furnished without cost with a sufficient quantity as may be reasonably
requested of this Official Statement and of any amendment or supplement that may be issued.
The Board of Public Works has been advised by Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, MD, as Bond Counsel in connection
with the issuance of the Bonds. See APPENDIX D to this Official Statement for the forms of the opinions of the Attorney
General and Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, MD, to be rendered at the time of delivery of the Bonds. The statement under
“LEGAL MATTERS – Litigation” has been passed upon by the Honorable Brian E. Frosch, Attorney General of Maryland, and
as to legal conclusions, is stated upon the authority of the Attorney General.
The Official Notice of Sale for the Bonds, attached as APPENDIX E to this Official Statement, set forth the terms and
conditions of the public sale and delivery of and payment for the Bonds. Reference is particularly made to the Official Notice
of Sale for statements of the legal opinions as to the validity of the Bonds, the legal opinions and other certifications relating to the
accuracy and completeness, in all material respects, of the Official Statement, and the other signed documents to be delivered to the
successful bidders for the Bonds at or prior to closing as a condition to the bidders’ obligations to accept delivery of and to pay for
the Bonds.

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS OF
MARYLAND

LAWRENCE J. HOGAN, JR.
Governor

PETER FRANCHOT
Comptroller

NANCY K. KOPP
Treasurer

Annapolis, Maryland
June 8, 2016
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Appendix A
FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM
The financial statements and other financial data contained in this Official Statement have been prepared by the
Office of the Comptroller. The financial statements and notes thereto contained on pages A-8 through A-112 have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and, with respect to the
Basic Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2014, have been audited by SB & Company, LLC, independent
certified public accountants, whose report thereon is included in this Official Statement on pages A-8 to A-10.
Pagination references within the body of the financial statements in the CAFR refer to the pages in the CAFR.
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of Maryland for its comprehensive annual financial
reports for fiscal years 1980 through 2013. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit
must publish a comprehensive annual financial report, the contents of which conform to program standards. Such
reports must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, these basic financial statements include
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which provides a narrative overview and analysis of the State’s financial
activities. Furthermore, they include government-wide financial statements, (i.e., the statement of net position and the
statement of activities), which provide both short-term and long-term information about the State’s financial position.
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function of the State’s
activities are offset by its program revenues. These statements provide statewide financial information distinguished
between governmental activities, business-type activities and component units. Included with these statements are
reconciliations between the entity-wide statements, prepared on the full accrual basis, and the fund level statements
prepared on the modified accrual basis. In addition, there are reconciliations between the fund level and budgetary
statements. Detailed information on these accounting policies is provided in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis section and in Note 1 of the “Notes to the Financial Statements.”
State statutes require an audit of every unit of State government, including the Office of the Comptroller, by the
Legislative Auditor at least every three years or more as determined by the Legislative Auditor. The Legislative
Auditor is required to be, and is, a certified public accountant. The Legislative Auditor conducts fiscal, compliance,
and performance audits of the various agencies and departments of the State and issues a separate report covering each
of those audits. Although certain of those reports include presentations of detailed financial data and contain
expressions of opinion thereon, the audits usually are not made for that purpose. The primary purpose of the reports is
to present the Legislative Auditor’s findings relative to the fiscal management of those agencies and departments.
The State maintains accounts on a budgetary basis for each program within an agency, and places strong
reliance upon the checks, balances, and controls inherent in the constitutional budgetary system. Under constitutional
and statutory requirements, a balanced State Budget must be adopted each year, and expenditures may not be made in
excess of appropriations. Agencies must report on an object and program basis to the Office of the Comptroller which,
in turn, reports to the Department of Budget and Management, which monitors compliance with the Budget. See
“STATE FINANCES – Budgetary System.” In addition, for year end reporting purposes, the State converts its
financial statements prepared on a budgetary basis to financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.
Although the accounts maintained by the State on a budgetary basis conform in many respects to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, there are certain departures from these principles that are dictated by
statutory requirements and historical practices. The principal departures are the classification of the State’s principal
funds and the timing of recognition of certain revenues, expenditures, and expenses.
The State’s accounting system is maintained by the Comptroller in compliance with State law and in accordance
with the State’s budgetary funds. In addition to the accounting systems maintained by the Comptroller, certain
individual agencies that are not subject to the State Budget maintain accounting systems that permit financial reporting
on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles.
For the purpose of reporting its financial activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
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at the fund level the State records its activities in Governmental, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund types. See Note 1 to
“Notes to the Financial Statements.” On a budgetary basis, the State reports its financial activities in the General,
Special, Federal, Annuity Bond (Debt Service), Capital Projects, and Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and
Current Restricted Funds.
The General Fund is the fund in which all general transactions of the State are recorded unless otherwise
directed by law to be included in another fund. The General Fund includes most of the governmental operating assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenditures. To the extent that the Budget enacted by the General Assembly uses an
estimated fund balance at the end of the current fiscal year, in establishing the Budget for the next succeeding year, that
amount of General Fund balance existing at June 30 of the current fiscal year is recorded as designated to supplement
the new year’s Budget. See “STATE FINANCES – Budgetary System.”
The Annuity Bond Fund (Debt Service Fund) is used to account for all payments of debt service on general
obligation bonds.
The Capital Projects Fund is a group of accounts, each set up for a particular legislated authorization. The
proceeds of general obligation bonds, the transfers from the General Fund, and the expenditures of the funds obtained
thereby (which are almost entirely for capital projects) are accounted for in each of the accounts.
The Federal Funds are used to account for most grants from the federal government.
The Special Funds include the transportation activities of the State, including related indebtedness, except for
federal transportation grants, which are accounted for in Federal Funds. In addition to the transportation activities,
transactions related to dedicated funds, such as fishery and wildlife funds and shared taxes, are recorded in Special
Funds.
The Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and Current Restricted Funds are used to account for higher
education activities. Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and Current Restricted Funds include all revenues used or
available for carrying out the current operations of the State’s universities and colleges.
Under budgetary reporting, revenues generally are recognized when cash is received except for (i) significant
self-assessed taxes, which are recorded in the period to which they apply, and (ii) federal grants, which are recorded
when earned. Expenditures generally are recorded when cash is disbursed or upon the approval of encumbrances
against appropriations. At the fund level under generally accepted accounting principles, revenues generally are
recognized when earned, subject in certain cases to their availability to fund appropriations. Expenditures and expenses
are recognized when liabilities are incurred, subject to certain modifications for interest and principal on general longterm debt, retirement costs, other post-employment benefits, compensated absences, pollution remediation, and claims
and judgments. See Note 2 of “Notes to the Financial Statements” for further information concerning the significant
accounting policies employed by the State in preparing its financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.
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A summary of the effects of fund structure and timing differences on the General Fund balances between the
budgetary basis and generally accepted accounting principles basis for fiscal years 2015 and 2014 follows.

Year end fund balance on budgetary basis……………...………………………..
Fund structure reclassifications……………………...…………………………….
Adjustments to the budgetary accounting system:
Cash and cash equivalents……………...……………………………………..
Investments……………………………...……………………………………….
Other accounts receivable….….………….…………........…………………..
Other assets…...…….………………………...…………………………………
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities……...…..…………...…………….
Deferred revenue…………………………………………………………………
Year end fund balance on generally accepted accounting principles basis…….
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(in thousands)
2015
2014
$ 1,202,618
$ 1,027,689
1,253,338
1,335,558
(223,768)
(8,974)
77,689
27,864
(1,030,473)
(14,341)
$ 1,283,953

25,684
(400,866)
220,002
28,039
(1,042,071)
(54,710)
$ 1,139,325

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the State, including the audited Basic Financial
Statements, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, has been filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system and is obtainable from them in accordance with
their procedures. The 2015 CAFR is also posted on the Maryland State Treasurer’s Office website and can be accessed
at http://www.treasurer.state.md.us/media/88527/cafr2015.pdf.
The following reports, each of which are included in the 2015 CAFR and have been posted online at the web
address above, are incorporated herein by reference:
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-wide Financial Statements
Statement of Net Position
Statement of Activities
Governmental Funds Financial Statements
Balance Sheet
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds’ Fund Balance to the Statement of Net Position,
Net Position Balance
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Enterprise Funds Financial Statements
Statement of Fund Net Position
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Statement of Cash Flows
Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Component Units Financial Statements
Combining Statement of Net Position
Combining Statement of Activities
Index for Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balances – Budget and Actual – Budgetary General, Special, and Federal Funds
Reconciliation of the Budgetary General and Special Funds, Fund Balances to the
GAAP General and Special Revenue Funds, Fund Balances
Schedule of Employer Contributions for Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
Schedule of Employer Net Pension Liability for Maryland State Retirement and Pension
System
Schedule of Employer Contributions for Maryland Transmit Administration Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratio for Maryland Transmit
Administration Pension Plan
Schedule of Employer Net Pension Liability for Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan
Schedule of Investment Returns for Maryland State Transit Administration Pension Plan
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Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan
Required Supplemental Schedule of Employer Contributions and Other Contributing Entities
for Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan
Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for Maryland Transit Administration Retiree
Healthcare Benefit
Required Supplemental Schedule of Employer Contributions for Maryland Transit Administration
Retiree Healthcare Benefit
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
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APPENDIX B
SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES
General Obligation Bonds
General Obligation Bonds Issued and Outstanding
The following table shows the principal amounts of outstanding general obligation bonds and authorized and
unissued amounts: (1) at the end of each fiscal year shown; and (2) adjusted to give the effect of the sale of the Bonds
offered hereby.
(in thousands)
As of
June 30

Issued and
Outstanding

2010 ..................................................................
2011 ..................................................................
2012 ..................................................................
2013 ..................................................................
2014 ………………………………………….
2015…………………………………………..
March 31, 2016.................................................
Current sale.......................................................
Refunded Debt ..................................................
Pro Forma .........................................................

$6,523,222
6,982,846
7,541,102
8,005,803
8,362,347
8,677,214
8,429,285
1,036,000
$9,465,285
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Authorized
but Unissued
$2,394,984
2,357,041
2,330,440
2,360,643
2,538,414
2,559,720
2,052,256
(1,036,000)
$1,016,256

Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds
The following tables show debt service requirements for all general obligation bonds of the State for all
future fiscal years: (1) as of March 31, 2016; and (2) after giving effect to the issuance of the Bonds. Not included is
debt service on general obligation bonds for which United States government obligations sufficient to provide fully
for the timely payment of principal, interest, and applicable redemption premium are being held in escrow funds.
Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds
Actual - General Obligation Bonds Outstanding
($ in thousands)

Fiscal Year

Principal

2016 ................................
$0
2017 ................................
786,139
2018 ................................
836,409
2019 ................................
824,069
818,502,
2020 ................................
818,502
2021 ................................
755,789
2022 ................................
726,779
2023 ................................
694,392
2024 ................................
641,361
2025 ................................
629,736
2026 ................................
525,728
2027 ................................
425,085
2028 ................................
328,785
2029 ................................
237,095
2030 ................................
149,612
2031 ................................
49,803
Total * ................................ $8,429,285

Gross Interest

$16,777
354,778
318,987
280,118
240,352
205,363
169,698
137,420
105,813
81,945
57,501
38,839
23,794
12,748
4,869
804
$2,049,806

Gross
Debt Service

$16,777
1,140,917
1,155,397
1,104,187
1,058,854
961,152
896,477
831,812
747,173
711,681
583,229
463,924
352,578
249,843
154,481
50,608
$10,479,091

Interest
Subsidy (a)

$(585)
(12,381)
(12,381)
(12,381)
(11,647)
(10,873)
(10,058)
(8,931)
(7,469)
(5,518)
(2,565)
(874)
(213)
0
0
0
$(95,876)

Net
Debt Service

$16,192
1,128,536
1,143,016
1,091,806
1,047,208
950,279
886,418
822,880
739,705
706,162
580,665
463,050
352,365
249,843
154,481
50,608
$10,383,215

Debt Service Following Issuance of 2016 First Series Bonds
($ in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2016 ..................................
2017 ..................................
2018 ..................................
2019 ..................................
2020 ..................................
2021 ..................................
2022 ..................................
2023 ..................................
2024 ..................................
2025 ..................................
2026 ..................................
2027 ..................................
2028 ..................................
2029 ..................................
2030 ..................................
2031 ..................................
Total *...............................

Principal

$0
786,139
836,409
882,559
879,912
820,274
794,484
765,487
716,006
708,116
608,028
511,500
419,520
332,365
249,647
154,838
$9,465,285

Gross Interest

$16,777
397,333
364,178
325,309
282,619
244,559
205,670
170,006
134,844
107,245
79,666
56,888
38,386
23,712
12,022
3,955
$2,463,168

Gross
Debt Service

$16,777
1,183,472
1,200,588
1,207,868
1,162,531
1,064,833
1,000,153
935,493
850,850
815,360
687,694
568,388
457,906
356,077
261,668
158,794
11,928,452

Interest
Subsidy (a)

Net
Debt Service

$(585)
(12,381)
(12,381)
(12,381)
(11,647)
(10,873)
(10,058)
(8,931)
(7,469)
(5,518)
(2,565)
(874)
(213)
0
0
0

$16,192
1,171,091
1,188,207
1,195,487
1,150,884
1,053,960
990,095
926,562
843,381
809,842
685,129
567,515
457,693
356,077
261,668
158,794

$ (95,876)

$11,832,576

*Totals may not add due to rounding.

(a) Interest Subsidy is the original Federal Subsidy for certain qualified bonds. Due to federal budget sequestration, federal direct pay subsidies to

the State for ARRA Bonds were subject to an 8.7% reduction from March 1, 2013 through September 30, 2013, a 7.2% reduction through
September 30, 2014 and a 7.3% reduction since.
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Maryland Stadium Authority
Lease Revenue Debt Outstanding as of March 31, 2016
The following table shows the lease revenue debt of the Maryland Stadium Authority outstanding as of March
31, 2016, the uses of the proceeds thereof, and the sources of repayment of the debt. Project descriptions follow.

Source of
Repayment

Use of Proceeds

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 20166
($ in thousands)

Bonds Outstanding

Oriole Park at Camden Yards (a)

Lease Payments/
Operating Revenues

$65,900

Ocean City Convention Center

Lease Payments

0

Ravens Stadium

Lease Payments

47,900

Hippodrome Theater

Lease Payments

10,160

Montgomery County Conference Center

Lease Payments

11,065

Camden Station Renovation

Lease Payments

5,585

Capital Leases Outstanding

Oriole Park at Camden Yards (Equipment)
Ravens Stadium (Equipment)
Oriole Park at Camden Yards (Energy)
Ravens Stadium (Energy)

Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues

Total Debt Outstanding (a)

846
1,931
3,796
1,489
$148,672

________
(a) Total includes $15.8 million of lease revenue bonds that are not tax-supported. Therefore, the total tax-supported debt of the Maryland Stadium
Authority is $132.9 million as of March 31, 2016. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Tax-Supported Debt
Outstanding.”
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Project Descriptions
Oriole Park at Camden Yards - Bonds. Currently the Maryland Stadium Authority (“Authority”) operates
Oriole Park at Camden Yards, which opened in 1992. In connection with the construction of that facility, the Authority
issued $155.0 million in notes and bonds. In October 1993, the Authority entered into an agreement to implement a
synthetic fixed rate refinancing of the sports facility bonds using a combination of variable rate refunding obligations
and forward interest rate exchange agreements. As provided under the agreements, savings of $15.5 million was paid to
the Authority on April 1, 1996. In accordance with this agreement and in consideration for the prior payment of the
savings, the Authority issued its $17.9 million Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 1998A in
December 1998 to refund its outstanding Sports Facility Lease Revenue Bonds Series 1989C, and issued its $121.0
million Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 1999 in December 1999 to refund its Sports Facilities
Lease Revenue Bonds Series 1989D.
In December 2011, the Authority terminated the 1998 synthetic fixed rate refinancing with AIG Financial
Products (“AIG-FP”), which required payment of a termination fee in the amount of $19.7 million. The variable rate
debt associated with the synthetic fixed rate refinancing was called and replaced with the Sports Facilities Lease
Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2011A Bonds in the amount of $31.4 million. The federally taxable proceeds of the
Series 2011A Bonds were used to defease the Series 1998A Bonds, and to pay the termination fee due to AIG-FP,
underwriter’s costs and issuance costs. The Authority also issued the Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding
Bonds Series 2011B in the amount of $62.9 million, whose tax-exempt proceeds and premium of $7.7 million were
used to defease the Series 1999 Bonds. The amounts outstanding as of March 31, 2016 are $16.3 million for the Series
2011A Bonds and $33.8 million for the Series 2011B Bonds.
The Authority’s notes and bonds are lease-backed revenue obligations, the payment of which is secured by,
among other things, an assignment of revenues received under a lease of Oriole Park at Camden Yards from the
Authority to the State. The rental payments due from the State under that lease are subject to annual appropriation by
the General Assembly. Revenues to fund the lease payments are generated from a variety of sources, including in each
year revenues from sports lotteries, the net operating revenues of the Authority, and $1.0 million from the City of
Baltimore.

In April 2010, the Authority issued the Sports Facilities Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 Bonds, in the
amount of $10.0 million. The proceeds were used for capital repairs to Oriole Park at Camden Yards and to fund a
debt service reserve account. The Series 2010 Bonds matured on December 15, 2013 and were refinanced with the
Sports Facilities Taxable Revenue Bonds Series 2013. The amount outstanding for the Series 2013 as of March 31,
2016 totaled $7.1 million.
In August 2011, the Authority issued the Sports Facilities Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series 2011 Bonds, in the
amount of $11.1 million. The proceeds were used for capital repairs to the warehouse located at the Camden Yards
Complex. The Series 2011 Bonds matured on December 15, 2014 and were refinanced with the Sports Facilities
Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series 2014. The amount outstanding as of March 31, 2016 totaled $8.7 million.
Annual debt service on the Authority’s total bond obligations for Oriole Park at Camden Yards is $15.7
million and the amount outstanding as of March 31, 2016 totaled $65.8 million.
Oriole Park at Camden Yards - Leases. In early 2007, the Baltimore Orioles filed for arbitration over the
selection and installation of a new video board at Oriole Park at Camden Yards. In September 2007 the Authority and
the Baltimore Orioles reached a settlement, agreeing to purchase and install $9.0 million of new audio and video
equipment funded by $5.5 million from the “Supplemental Improvements Fund” and $3.5 million from the Authority.
The Authority’s share was financed under the State’s Master Equipment Lease-Purchase Program and amortized over
10 years. The outstanding balance of the lease as of March 31, 2016 was $0.9 million.
In November 2009, the Authority entered into a contract with Pepco Energy Services to provide $6.0 million of energy
upgrades and enhancements to Oriole Park at Camden Yards and the adjoining warehouse. The Authority is financing
the upgrades and enhancements under the State’s Energy Performance Contract Lease-Purchase Program over 12
years. Some of the upgrades and enhancements include the replacement of a chiller and cooling tower, replacement of
light fixtures and upgrades to the generator plant. The outstanding balance as of March 31, 2016 was $3.8 million.
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Ocean City Convention Center. The Authority also constructed an expansion of the Ocean City Convention
Center in Ocean City. The expansion cost $33.2 million and was financed through a matching grant from the State to
Ocean City and a combination of funding from Ocean City and the Authority. In October 1995, the Authority issued
$17.3 million in revenue bonds to provide State funding; as required, Ocean City sold $15.0 million of its special tax
and general obligation bonds before the sale by the Authority.
In March 2011, the Authority refinanced the outstanding balance of $6.5 million. A new fixed rate series was
issued in the amount of $6.6 million with $6.5 million being used to call the Series 1995 Bonds and the balance used
for transactional costs. The annual debt service on the Series 2011 Bonds is approximately $1.4 million annually. This
series matured on December 15, 2015.
The Authority will also continue to pay one-half of any annual operating deficits of the facility through
December 15, 2035, after which time Ocean City will be solely responsible for operating deficits. The 2014
contribution to operating deficits and the project’s capital improvements fund is approximately $1.43 million. The
project has generated direct and indirect benefits to the State that offset its costs (debt service, operating deficit
contributions, deposits to the capital improvements fund, and that portion of the Authority’s budget that is allocable to
the Ocean City Convention Center project) since 2007.
Ravens Stadium. The Authority currently operates Ravens Stadium, which opened in 1998. In connection with
the construction of that facility, the Authority sold $87.6 million in lease-backed revenue bonds on May 1, 1996 for
Ravens Stadium. The proceeds from the Authority’s bonds, along with cash available from State lottery proceeds,
investment earnings, contributions from the Ravens and other sources were used to pay project design and construction
expenses of approximately $229.0 million. The bonds are solely secured by an assignment of revenues received under
a lease of the project from the Authority to the State. In June 1998, the Authority entered into an agreement to
implement a synthetic fixed rate refinancing of the football lease-backed revenue bonds using a combination of
variable rate refunding obligations and forward interest rate exchange agreements. As provided under the agreements,
savings of $2.6 million were paid to the Authority on June 10, 1998. The Authority issued Authority Sports Facilities
Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds Football Stadium Issue Series 2007 in the amount of $73.5 million of which $73.1
million was used to call the outstanding principal balance on the 1996 Series Bonds on March 1, 2007. The balance of
the proceeds, $375,000, was used for closing costs. The 1996 Series Bonds were called on March 1, 2007 in
accordance with the swap agreement. The Authority’s debt service is $6.5 million annually. The bonds outstanding as
of March 31, 2016 totaled $47.9 million.

In November 2009, the Authority entered into a contract with Pepco Energy Services to provide energy
upgrades and enhancements to Ravens Stadium. The energy upgrades and enhancements will cost approximately $2.5
million. The Authority is financing the upgrades and enhancements under the State’s Energy Performance Contract
Lease-Purchase Program over 12 years. The outstanding balance as of March 31, 2016 was $1.5 million.
In the spring of 2010, the Authority entered into several contracts for the replacement of the video boards and
control room at Ravens Stadium. The budget for the project was estimated at $10.0 million. The Baltimore Ravens
funded approximately $6.0 million and the Authority funded $4.0 million. The Authority’s share was financed under
the State’s Equipment Lease-Purchase Program and amortized over 10 years. The outstanding balance as of March 31,
2016 was $1.9 million.
Hippodrome Theater. In July 2002, the Authority issued $20.3 million in taxable lease-backed revenue bonds
in connection with the renovation and construction of the Hippodrome Theater as part of Baltimore City’s West Side
Development. The cost of renovating the theater was $63.0 million and was financed by various public and private
sources. The Authority does not have any operating risk for the project which was completed in February 2004.
In July 2012, the Authority issued the Taxable Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 in the amount of
$14.1 million. The Authority used $13.7 million to call the Taxable Lease-Backed Revenue Bonds, Series 2002 and
the balance was used for transactional costs. The annual debt service on the Taxable Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds,
Series 2012 is approximately $1.6 million annually. The bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2016 totaled $10.2
million.
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Montgomery County Conference Center. In January 2003, the Authority issued $23.2 million in lease-backed
revenue bonds in connection with the construction of a conference center in Montgomery County. The conference
center is adjacent and physically connected to a Marriott Hotel, which has been privately financed. The center cost
$33.5 million and was financed through a combination of funding from Montgomery County and the Authority. The
Authority does not have any operating risk.
In November 2012, the Authority refinanced the final 10 years of maturities on the lease-backed revenue
bonds, Series 2003 totaling $15.0 million. The Authority issued the Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 in
the amount of $12.9 million generating $2.9 million in premium with $15.6 million being used to call the Series 2003
Bonds, in June 2013 and the balance used for transactional costs. The annual debt service on the Series 2012 Bonds is
approximately $1.6 million annually. The amount outstanding as of March 31, 2016 totaled $11.1 million.
Camden Station Renovation. In February 2004, the Authority issued $8.7 million in taxable lease-backed
revenue bonds in connection with the renovation of the historic Camden Station located at the Camden Yards Complex
in Baltimore, Maryland. The cost of the renovation was $8.0 million. To date, lease payments have not been sufficient
to cover debt service on the bonds and the shortfall has been subsidized by the Authority. The average annual debt
service for these bonds is $0.8 million. Bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2016 totaled $5.6 million.
Baltimore City Public Schools. In April 2016, the Authority issued $320.0 million in tax-exempt revenue
bonds in connection with the replacement and renovation of eleven Baltimore City Public Schools. This is the
inaugural series of bonds with the proceeds going towards the overall cost of approximately $531.2 million. The
security pledge for the bonds are three revenue sources, $20.0 million each, from the City of Baltimore, Baltimore City
Public Schools and Lottery revenues from the State of Maryland for a total of $60 million annually. The transaction
generated approximately $66.0 million in premium that will be used for project costs. The annual debt service is
approximately $20.8 million.
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State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings
Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings Outstanding as of March 31, 2016
The following table shows, by State agency, State tax-supported capital lease and conditional purchase
financings, the facilities financed, and the principal amount outstanding at March 31, 2016.

State Agency

Facilities Financed

Department of Transportation

Headquarters office building

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2016
($ in thousands)

$16,690

MAA shuttle buses – BWI
Department of General Services

1,200

Hilton Street Facility
Prince George’s County Justice
Center

670

16,853

Department of Health and Mental
Hygiene

Public Health Lab

158,200

Various State Agencies

Energy performance projects

106,293

Various State Agencies

Communications, data processing,
and other equipment

10,511

Maryland Transportation Authority

State office parking facility

18,011

Total

$320,428

This includes all Energy Performance Contract (“EPC”) lease financings. As of March 31, 2016, $107.1 million of the outstanding EPC
lease financings had guaranteed energy savings equal to or greater than corresponding lease debt service. The Capital Debt Affordability
Committee (“CDAC”) does not include such EPC lease financings in the calculation of total tax-supported debt outstanding.
1
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Revenue and Enterprise Financings
Revenue and Enterprise Financings Outstanding as of March 31, 2016 (a)
The following table shows, by issuing agency, certain revenue and enterprise non-tax-supported debt
outstanding as of March 31, 2016, the facilities financed, and the sources of repayment of the debt.

Agency

Facilities Financed

Source of Repayment

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2016
($ in thousands)

Higher Education (b)
University System of Maryland

Academic facilities, Student
Housing, parking facilities,
and equipment
Communication, data processing,
and other equipment

Tuition and auxiliary
enterprise facilities revenues
Operating revenues

74,383

Student housing
Student Center/Stadium/Fine Art
and Boiler

Student fees

13,075

Student fees and MHEC (c)

25,855

Student housing/
campus center and
athletic facility

Academic fees and auxiliary
facilities fees

31,873

Community Development
Administration of the
Department of Housing and
Community Development

Mortgage and construction loans
Loans to local governments for
infrastructure projects

Mortgage repayments and sales
Loan repayments

Maryland Environmental Service

Landfill projects
Equipment

Tipping fees
Operating revenues

Maryland Transportation Authority

Bridges, tunnels, and highways
Parking garage at BWI
Car rental facility
Improvements at BWI Airport
WMATA Metrorail parking facility

Tolls
Parking revenues
Customer facility charges
Passenger facility charges
Lease rental payments

Maryland Water Quality Financing
Administration

Loans to local governments for
water pollution control facilities

Loan repayments

Maryland Aviation Administration

BWI renovations, de-icing ramp
BWI Piers A&B (d)

Lease revenues
Airline rentals and concession
revenues

Maryland Transit Administration

MARC rail station parking garage

Parking revenues

Masonville Automobile Terminal

Lease revenues

7,147

Warehouse Facility
South Locust Point Terminal

Lease revenues

17,795

Morgan State University

St. Mary's College of Maryland

$1,180,405

2,577,570
154,840

20,806
4,739

2,299,584
148,055
90,900
209,225
25,440
29,205

Maryland Department of
Transportation

Maryland Port Administration

13,485
167,420

9,475

$7,101,277

Total

________
(a) The table does not include debt of certain authorities that, under criteria prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, are not
considered State entities for financial reporting purposes or debt for which United States government obligations sufficient to provide fully for the
timely payment of principal, interest, and applicable redemption premium are being held in escrow funds.
(b) As of March 31, 2016, the outstanding capital leases financed by the State Treasurer’s Office (including capitalized interest) for University System
of Maryland, Morgan State University, and St. Mary’s College of Maryland were $20.2 million, $1.48 million, and $.9 million,, respectively.
(c) In September 2012, Morgan State University issued $29,230,000 Academic Fees and Auxiliary Facilities Fees Revenue Refunding Bonds. Included
in the 2012 Bonds is $2,675,000 for a Boiler, funded through the Maryland Higher Education Commission (“MHEC”). MHEC has included
sufficient funds in its annual grants to Morgan State University to pay the debt service on these Academic Facilities Bonds.
(d) The BWI Piers A & B financing was refunded by MEDCO in October 2012.
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Descriptions of Revenue and Enterprise Financings
Higher Education Institutions. Legislation limits the aggregate principal amount of revenue bonds
outstanding and the present value of capital lease payments, less the amount of any reserves established therefore,
for academic or auxiliary facilities; effective June 1, 2011 the limits are $1,400.0 million for the University System of
Maryland, $88.0 million for Morgan State University, $60.0 million for St. Mary’s College of Maryland, and
$65.0 million for Baltimore City Community College. As of March 31, 2016, outstanding debt and lease purchase
financings of the University System of Maryland, Morgan State University, and St. Mary’s College of Maryland was
$1,254.8 million, $38.9 million, and $31.2 million, respectively. Lease and conditional purchase financings have
been used for facilities at various colleges and universities.
Community Development Administration. The Community Development Administration (“CDA”), a unit
within the Department of Housing and Community Development, is responsible for housing finance and assistance
programs. CDA issues bonds and notes to provide funding for various home ownership and rental housing loan
programs. The debt service on CDA’s revenue bonds and notes generally is paid from mortgage repayments. As of
March 31, 2016, $2,577.6 million of these bonds and notes were outstanding. CDA also issues bonds to provide loans
to local governments for various infrastructure projects. The bonds are secured by the general obligation pledges of the
participating local governments. As of March 31, 2016, $154.8 million of these bonds were outstanding.
Maryland Environmental Service. The Maryland Environmental Service (“MES”) was established in 1993 to
provide water supply, wastewater treatment, and waste management services to State agencies, local governments, and
private entities. MES is authorized to issue revenue bonds secured by the revenue derived from its various facilities
and projects. In February 2011 MES issued the Midshore II Regional Landfill Project Revenue Bonds in the amount of
$18.3 million. In April 2011, the MES Water Quality Bond, Series 2011A in the amount of $2.0 million was issued in
connection with the closure and capping of the Hobbs Road Landfill. In May 2014, MES issued the Midshore II
Revenue Bonds 2014 Series in the amount of $4.5 million for the construction of a new cell. Repayment of the bond is
derived from operating revenues of the Midshore II Landfill. Outstanding debt of MES amounted to $26.0 million as
of March 31, 2016.
Maryland Transportation Authority. The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) of which the
Secretary of Transportation is Chairman, is responsible for the administration of the various toll revenue facilities,
which consist of bridges over the Susquehanna, Patapsco, and Potomac Rivers and the Chesapeake Bay; two tunnels
under the Baltimore Harbor; the John F. Kennedy Memorial Highway (including the I-95 Express Toll Lanes); and the
Intercounty Connector (“ICC”). The tolls and other revenues received from these facilities are pledged as security for
revenue bonds of the MDTA issued under and secured by a second amended and restated trust agreement dated as of
September 1, 2007, as further supplemented, between the MDTA and a corporate trustee. In September 2007, the
MDTA issued $300.0 million of its revenue bonds under this agreement. Under separate supplemental trust
agreements, the MDTA issued additional revenue bonds of $573.3 million in March 2008, $549.4 million in December
2009, $326.4 million in July 2010, and $67.6 million in February 2012 to partially refund its 2004 Series bonds. In
addition, in October 2010 the MDTA began monthly draws pursuant to a secured loan agreement with the United
States Department of Transportation under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act of 1998
(“TIFIA”). The $516.0 million TIFIA loan, which provided funding for the ICC, was also evidenced by a revenue
bond that was issued pursuant to a supplemental trust agreement. As of March 31, 2016, the MDTA had drawn $529.5
million under the TIFIA loan, including $13.5 million in accreted interest. The MDTA completed the draw on the final
loan installment of $132.0 million in June 2015.
In March 2002, the MDTA issued revenue bonds in the amount of $264.1 million for the construction of
projects at BWI and these bonds were refunded and redeemed on April 25, 2012 through the issuance of $190.6
million of refunding bonds. Parking revenues are pledged for the repayment of the refunding bonds. In June 2002, the
MDTA issued revenue bonds in the amount of $117.3 million for construction of a consolidated rental car facility at
BWI. Customer facility charge revenues on rental cars are pledged for the repayment of the bonds. In December 2003,
April 2012, December 2012 and December 2014, the MDTA issued revenue bonds in the amount of $69.7 million,
$50.9 million, $135.5 million and $40.0 million, respectively, for the construction of additional projects at BWI.
Passenger facility charge revenues are pledged for the payment of these bonds, except that the Series 2003 bonds
matured and are no longer outstanding. In June 2004, the MDTA issued lease revenue bonds in the amount of $40.0
million to finance the costs of parking facilities projects at certain Metrorail stations operated by the Washington
Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (“WMATA”), and these bonds were refunded and redeemed on October 8,
2014 through the issuance of $27.2 million of refunding bonds. Lease revenue payable by WMATA and other
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amounts from Prince George’s County are pledged for the repayment of the refunding bonds.
As of March 31, 2016, $2,773.2 million of the MDTA’s revenue and enterprise financings were outstanding
under various trust agreements, including the TIFIA loan. On September 22, 2011 the MDTA approved a revised
tolling plan with phased-in toll increases in 2011, 2012 and 2013. On May 7, 2015, the MDTA approved a revised
tolling plan with certain toll reductions effective July 1, 2015 and January 1, 2016.
Maryland Water Quality Financing Administration. The Water Quality Financing Administration in the
Department of the Environment administers the Water Quality and Drinking Water Revolving Loan Funds (the
“Funds”). The Funds may be used to provide loans, subsidies, and other forms of financial assistance to local
government units and private entities for wastewater and drinking water projects as provided by the federal Water
Pollution Control Act and the federal Safe Drinking Water Act.
The Administration is authorized to issue bonds secured by revenues of the Funds, including loan repayments,
fees, federal capitalization grants, and matching State grants. As of March 31, 2016, 29.2 million of the
Administration’s revenue bonds were outstanding.

Units of the Maryland Department of Transportation
Revenues from the following projects financed for units of the Maryland Department of Transportation
(“Department”) are pledged to the payment of principal and interest on the respective bonds and certificates; therefore,
these financings are also not considered to be tax-supported.
Maryland Aviation Administration (“MAA”). MAA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase
agreement to provide financing for capital improvements at BWI and sold $42.8 million certificates of participation
(“COPs”) for various MAA projects in May 1999. The MAA Series 1999 was refunded in December 2010 for $19.6
million. As of March 31, 2016, $13.5 million of the COPs were outstanding.
In April 2003, MEDCO issued lease revenue bonds in the amount of $223.7 million to finance the expansion
and renovation of Piers A and B and the Terminal building at BWI. The Department records this financing as a capital
lease, which is subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly. Airline rentals and concession revenues are
pledged to the payment of principal and interest on the bonds; therefore, this financing is not considered tax-supported.
The MEDCO Series 2003 was refunded in October 2012. As of March 31, 2016, $167.4 million were outstanding.
Maryland Transit Administration (“MTA”). MTA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase
agreement in fiscal year 2001 to provide financing to expand parking in the vicinity of BWI at the Maryland Rail
Commuter BWI rail station, and sold $33.0 million COPs in October 2000. The MTA Series 2000 was refunded in
December 2010 for $13.1 million. As of March 31, 2016, $9.5 million of the COPs were outstanding.
Maryland Port Administration (“MPA”). The Department entered into a capital lease in the amount of $18.4
million by virtue of an agreement with the MDTA for financing the MPA Masonville Automobile Terminal. As of
March 31, 2016, $7.1 million was outstanding.
In addition, MPA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase agreement in fiscal year 2006 to
provide financing to construct a warehouse at the South Locust Point Terminal, and the Department sold $26.5 million
Project Certificates of Participation in June 2006. As of March 31, 2016, $17.8 million of the COPs were outstanding.

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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APPENDIX C
Supplementary Revenue Schedules
STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of Combined General, Special, Federal, and Higher Education Funds
Revenue Estimates and Collections
The following table shows, on a net budgetary basis, a comparison between the original revenue estimate (made 19 months before the end of the fiscal year), the
revised revenue estimate (made seven months before the end of the fiscal year and reviewed four months before the end of the fiscal year), and the actual revenue
collections for the combined General, Special, Federal, and Higher Education Funds for the four fiscal years ended June 30.
(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2012
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2013
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2014
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2015
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

Income Taxes .......................
$7,494.8
$7,858.4
$7,992.6
$8,234.4
$8,724.8
$8,643.5
$9,062.0
$8,868.5
$8,756.6
$9,562.1
$9,159.4
$9,349.7
Sales and Use Taxes ............
4,064.3
4,019.8
4,076.6
4,091.4
4,173.7
4,114.3
4,300.0
4,187.5
4,196.0
4,435.7
4,395.6
4,409.9
Motor Vehicle User Taxes,
Fees ..................................
1,992.4
2,063.6
2059.2
2,168.4
2,117.6
2,152.5
2,191.3
2,297.6
2,291.0
2,437.2
2,405.0
2,477.9
Property, Franchise, Excise
Taxes................................
2,059.0
2,050.6
2,037.4
2,015.2
1,959.8
2,060.5
2,088.0
2,068.8
2,088.2
2,216.6
2,294.1
2,121.7
Sundry Fees, Licenses,
Charges ............................
8,429.6
8,460.0
7,997.7
9,446.1
9,581.4
8,705.1
9,294.5
9,638.3
9,034.6
9,685.2
9,818.3
9,320.2
Federal ................................
9,405.4
9,437.9
9,058.3
9,342.9
9,270.2
9,184.2
9,809.3
9,858.7
10,027.5
10,556.6
11,841.3
11,084.7
Total *..................................
$33,445.5
$33,890.3
$33,221.9
$35,298.4
$35,827.5
$34,860.0
$36,745.0
$36,919.6
$36,393.8
$38,893.5
$39,913.6
$38,764.3
_________
Notes:
The estimates and actuals exclude transfers and other actions appearing on page C-3 as extraordinary transfers. Federal revenues are generally recognized to the extent related expenditures chargeable to
the federal grant have been recognized.
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of General Fund Revenue Estimates and Collections
The following table shows, on a budgetary basis, a comparison between the original revenue estimate (made 19 months before the end of the fiscal year), the
revised revenue estimate (made seven months before the end of the fiscal year and revised four months before the end of the fiscal year), and the actual revenue
collections for the four years ended June 30.
(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2012
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2013
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2014
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2015
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

Income Taxes .......................
$6,650.2
$7,578.2
$7,761.2
$8,118.8
$8,559.0
$8,509.6
$8,816.1
$8,659.9
$8,535.0
$8,551.0
$8,936.0
$9,123.5
Sales and Use Taxes ............
3,796.0
4,018.5
4,039.3
4,043.9
4,074.5
4,067.8
4,252.2
4,131.4
4,143.2
4,365.2
4,334.8
$4,350.7
Motor Vehicle User Taxes,
Fees ..................................
338.2
191.5
191.7
5.0
13.0
13.0
5.0
5.0
5.0
5.0
5.0
5.0
Property, Franchise, Excise
Taxes................................
1,156.1
1,150.3
1,150.5
1,174.4
1,184.6
1,187.0
1,192.2
1,258.3
1,299.7
1,200.9
1,207.4
1,352.1
Sundry Fees, Licenses,
Charges ............................
1,596.8
1,027.7
1,052.8
1,019.1
1,051.6
1,029.7
1,029.8
1,027.2
1,064.4
1,830.1
1,167.2
1,030.7
Federal ................................
60.4
61.9
62.3
61.9
56.0
60.4
55.9
51.8
58.8
53.1
58.1
60.5
Total *..................................
$13,597.8
$14,028.2
$14,257.8
$14,423.0
$14,938.7
$14,867.5
$15,351.2
$15,133.5
$15,106.2
$16,005.3
$15,708.4
$15,922.6
_________
Notes:
The estimates and actuals exclude transfers and other actions appearing on page C-3 as extraordinary transfers. Federal revenues are generally recognized to the extent related expenditures chargeable to
the federal grant have been recognized.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Summary of Revenues by Source
The following table shows, on a net budgetary basis, the trend of the operating revenues of the principal
sources of funds of the State for the four fiscal years ended June 30, and the most recent estimate for the year ending
June 30. See the footnotes to the summary table of revenues in “STATE REVENUES” for certain information
essential to the evaluation of the following data.
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year
2012

2013

2014

2015

Estimated
2016(a)

Individuals (b)(c) ..............................................
Corporations .....................................................
Total .............................................................

$7,114.7
877.9
7,992.6

$7,691.4
952.1
8,643.5

$7,773.8
982.8
8,756.6

$8,346.1
1003.6
9,349.74

$8,779.1
1,073.4
9,852.5

Sales and Use Taxes (d) ..................................

4,076.6

4,114.3

4,196.0

4,409.9

4,576.3

Motor Vehicle User Taxes, Fees
Motor Vehicle Fuel Taxes ................................
Motor Vehicle Registration, Fees .....................
Motor Vehicle Titling Tax ................................
Total .............................................................

738.6
688.3
632.4
2,059.2

752.4
715.4
684.7
2,152.5

812.9
737.2
740.8
2,291.0

917.2
765.3
795.5
2,477.9

1,039.6
764.7
855.2
2,659.5

Property, Franchise, Excise Taxes
Real Property Tax .............................................
Property Transfer Tax .......................................
Business Franchise Taxes .................................
State Tobacco Tax ...........................................
Tax on Insurance Companies ............................
Tax on Distilled Spirits, Wine, Beer .................
Tax on Horse Racing ........................................
Death Taxes ......................................................
Total .............................................................

762.3
121.7
207.2
411.4
304.0
31.0
2.9
196.9
2,037.4

730.4
140.4
201.6
415.9
303.8
31.2
2.7
234.6
2,060.5

723.8
150.9
228.4
402.4
334.8
31.1
2.9
213.8
2,088.2

734.5
163.5
225.7
391.5
329.0
31.3
2.8
243.4
2,121.7

749.6
161.5
230.4
392.4
332.5
31.7
3.1
236.1
2,137.2

Sundry Fees, Licenses, Service Charges
University and College Receipts .......................
Mass Transit, Port, Aviation Income ................
Miscellaneous Taxes, and Other Receipts.........
Interest on Invested Funds ................................
District Courts Fines and Fees ..........................
State Lottery Receipts .......................................
Casino Receipts (e) ...........................................
Total .............................................................

3,773.2
397.1
2,925.5
17.9
79.4
610.1
194.5
7,997.7

3,855.6
407.5
3,142.2
14.5
75.5
600.0
609.9
8,705.1

3,867.7
410.0
3,246.0
21.4
77.7
578.3
833.6
9,034.6

3,960.2
414.3
3,190.0
10.7
77.7
584.6
1,082.8
9,320.2

4,136.4
440.8
3,390.5
13.0
77.7
576.0
1,095.7
9,730.1

Federal Receipts.............................................

9,058.3

9,184.2

10,027.5

11,084.7

11,494.8

Extraordinary Transfers
& Revenues (f).............................................

-

17.5

-

-

-

Grand Total *.................................................. $33,221.9

$34,877.5

$36,393.8

$38,764.3

$40,450.5

Income Taxes

_________________
(a) The estimated revenues include the General Fund estimate by the Board of Revenue Estimates in March 2016 and the general, federal
and special funds authorized in the State budget as set forth in the fiscal year 2016 budget books.
(b) The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
(c) Legislation enacted by the General Assembly during the 2012 Special Session increased the income tax rates and reduced personal
exemption amounts for many taxpayers, effective for all tax years beginning after December 31, 2011. See “STATE FINANCES-State
Revenues” for details.
(d) Legislation enacted during the 2011 Legislative Session increased the sales tax on alcohol from 6% to 9% effective July 1, 2011.
(e) Inclusive of all State funds that benefit from casino operations, as well as facility license owner revenue.
(f) In fiscal year 2010, $28.0 million was collected across various tax types due to a tax amnesty program. In fiscal year 2013, a $17.5
million GAAP surplus in the local income tax reserve was transferred to the General Fund.
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of General Fund Revenues Collected
as of March 31
The following table compares actual cash collections for the period from July 1 to March 31 during fiscal
year 2016 with collections during that same period in the previous four fiscal years. The table does not reflect
current year accruals.
($ in millions)
Fiscal Years
2012
Individual Income Tax (a) (b).........
Corporate Income Tax (c) ..............
Sales and Use Tax (d) ....................
State Lottery .................................
Business Franchise Taxes .............
Tobacco Tax ................................
Insurance Taxes and Fees .............
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes ............
Death Taxes ..................................
Clerks of Court .............................
Motor Fuel Taxes..........................
Highway User Revenues (e) ..........
Transfer Tax (f).............................
Hospital Patient Recoveries ..........
Interest on Investments .................
District Court Fees ........................
Miscellaneous ...............................
Total *...........................................
_________
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

(f)

$4,596.3
401.5
2,654.9
336.3
95.8
278.7
172.5
20.1
143.0
25.6
4.4
109.3
31.1
5.4
63.0
121.8
$9,059.7

2013**

2014

$4,944.0
524.1
2,676.8
342.8
92.7
283.6
171.7
20.4
168.8
29.1
8.7
NA
27.7
1.6
59.1
145.0
$9,496.0

$5,098.0
446.5
2696.5
327.0
105.4
272.0
205.7
20.4
156.6
29.8
5.0
89.2
24.7
2.7
65.6
184.3
$9,729.5

2015

2016

$5,381.0
473.5
2846.1
328.7
103.1
268.7
192.9
20.5
185.7
27.9
5.0
115.2
25.0
(2.1)
64.1
153.5
$10,188.8

$5,735.0
596.7
2913.2
347.1
98.2
269.6
180.6
20.5
207.2
30.1
4.6
115.4
10.4
11.2
60.7
128.5
$10,728.9

The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
Legislation enacted by the General Assembly during the 2012 Special Session increased the income tax rates and reduced personal
exemption amounts for many taxpayers, effective for all tax years beginning after December 31, 2011. See “STATE FINANCES-State
Revenues” for details.
The Transportation Trust Fund receives a distribution from the corporate income tax. The distribution percentage varies from year to year.
The sales and use tax rate was increased for sales of alcoholic beverages effective July 1, 2011. See “STATE FINANCES – State
Revenues” for details.
These revenues include existing transportation related taxes whose distributions were changed for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 in the
fiscal year 2011 operating budget approved by the General Assembly during the 2010 session and later modified in the fiscal year 2012
operating budget approved by the General Assembly during the 2011 session. The fiscal year 2010 distribution was treated as a transfer.
These revenues include existing transfer tax revenue whose distribution was changed for fiscal years 2014 through 2018 in the Budget
Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2013 approved by the General Assembly during the 2013 Legislative Session.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
** Fiscal year 2013 includes budget restoration fund revenues.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
General Fund Revenues
Needed to Meet Estimates During the Last Nine Months of Fiscal Year 2016
The following table compares: (1) the revenues needed during the period from March 31 to June 30, 2016
(including appropriate accruals), in order to meet the most recent official estimate of revenues for the 2016 fiscal year
with (2) actual collections for that same period during the previous four fiscal years (including appropriate accruals).
($ in millions)
Fiscal Years

Individual Income Tax (a) (b).........
Corporate Income Tax (c)..............
Sales and Use Tax (d) ...................
State Lottery .................................
Business Franchise Taxes .............
Tobacco Tax .................................
Insurance Taxes and Fees .............
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes ............
Death Taxes ..................................
Clerks of Court .............................
Motor Fuel Taxes..........................
Highway User Revenues (e) ..........
Transfer Tax Revenues (f)……….
Hospital Patient Recoveries ..........
Interest on Investments .................
District Court Fees ........................
Miscellaneous ...............................
Total *...........................................

2012

2013**

2014

2015

2016

$2,518.4
245.0
1,384.5
200.0
111.4
132.7
131.5
10.9
53.9
9.5
0.6
77.4
35.3
12.5
16.4
258.1
$5,198.1

$2,747.4
294.1
1,391.0
183.2
108.9
132.3
132.0
10.8
65.8
9.5
4.3
36.8
12.9
16.4
226.2
$5,371.5

$2,675.8
314.7
1,446.7
174.2
123.0
130.4
129.1
10.8
57.2
5.5
38.3
18.7
12.1
240.4
$5,376.7

$2,965.1
303.8
1,504.6
177.8
122.6
122.8
123.1
10.8
57.7
6.5
29.0
40.1
12.8
13.6
243.3
$5,733.7

$3,044.1
270.0
1,536.5
173.2
132.3
122.8
117.0
11.0
43.9
7.5
49.4
-0.2
17.0
191.2
5715.6

______
(a)
(b)

The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
Legislation enacted by the General Assembly during the 2012 Special Session increased the income tax rates and reduced personal exemption
amounts for many taxpayers, effective for all tax years beginning after December 31, 2011. See “STATE FINANCES-State Revenues” for
details.
(c) The Transportation Trust Fund receives a distribution from the corporate income tax. The distribution percentage varies from year to year.
(d) The sales and use tax rate was increased for sales of alcoholic beverages effective July 1, 2011. See “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues”
for details.
(e) These revenues include existing transportation related taxes whose distributions were changed for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 in the fiscal
year 2011 operating budget approved by the General Assembly during the 2010 session and later modified in the fiscal year 2012 operating
budget approved by the General Assembly during the 2011 session.
(f) These revenues include existing transfer tax revenue whose distribution was changed for fiscal years 2014 through 2018 in the Budget
Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2013 approved by the General Assembly during the 2013 Legislative Session.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
** Fiscal year 2013 includes budget restoration fund revenues.
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APPENDIX D

FORMS OF OPINIONS OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
OF MARYLAND AND BOND COUNSEL
Form of Opinion of the Attorney General
(Date of Delivery)
Board of Public Works
State of Maryland
Annapolis, Maryland
Ladies and Gentlemen:
This opinion is rendered with respect to the $1,036,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the State of
Maryland General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series (the “Bonds”). The Bonds
consolidate various State loans or installments thereof authorized by their enabling acts and amendments thereto (the
“Enabling Acts”), and are issued pursuant to §8-117 through 8-124, inclusive, of the State Finance and Procurement
Article of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2015 Replacement Volume, as amended) (the “Act” and
together with the Enabling Acts, the “Acts”). The Bonds are being issued in fully registered form in denominations
of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof, dated the date of their issuance and delivery, and bear interest and
mature as set forth in the Bonds. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity in the manner and upon the
terms and conditions set forth in the respective Bonds.
The Bonds are being issued in accordance with the resolutions of the Board of Public Works of the State of
Maryland (the “Board”) adopted on May 11, 2016 and June 8, 2016 (collectively, the “Resolutions”).
This Office has reviewed the Acts, the Resolutions and such other legal opinions and the originals or
certified copies of such resolutions, documents, records and other proofs as we deemed pertinent.
As to questions of fact material to this opinion, without undertaking to verify the same by independent
investigation, this Office has relied upon the certified proceedings of the Board and certifications by public officials.
This examination has been limited to the foregoing as they exist or are in effect as of the date hereof. This opinion
is limited to the matters expressly set forth herein, and I express no opinion concerning any other matters.
No opinion is expressed as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official Statement relating to
the Bonds, and no opinion is expressed regarding the federal income taxation of the interest payable on the Bonds.
Based on the foregoing, I am of the opinion as of the date hereof and under existing law that:
(a)
The Bonds have been duly authorized for issuance by the Board for the valid public
purposes stated in the Acts.
(b)
The Bonds have been lawfully issued and constitute valid and binding general obligations
of the State of Maryland to the payment of which, as to both principal and interest, the full faith and credit
and taxing power of the State are unconditionally pledged.
(c)
By the terms of the Act, the Bonds, the transfer of the Bonds, the interest payable on the
Bonds, and any income derived from the Bonds, including profit realized in the sale or exchange of the
Bonds, are exempt from State or local taxes; no opinion is expressed as to estate or inheritance taxes, or any
other taxes not levied or assessed directly on the Bonds, their transfer, or the income therefrom.
(d)
The Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated [date of delivery] executed by the Board has
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Board and is a legal, valid and binding agreement of
the State, enforceable against it in accordance with the terms thereof.
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In rendering this opinion, I wish to advise you that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the
enforceability thereof and of the documents identified in this opinion may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, and their
enforcement may also be subject to the application of equitable principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in
appropriate cases.

Very truly yours,

Brian E. Frosh
Attorney General

Catherine M. Allen
Assistant Attorney General
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Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel

(Date of Delivery)
Board of Public Works
State of Maryland
Annapolis, Maryland
Ladies and Gentlemen:
This opinion is rendered with respect to the $1,036,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the State of
Maryland General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series (the “Bonds”). The
Bonds consolidate various State loans or installments thereof authorized by their enabling acts and amendments
thereto, and are issued pursuant to §§8-117 through 8-124, inclusive, of the State Finance and Procurement Article
of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2015 Replacement Volume, as amended) (the “Act”). The Bonds
are being issued in fully registered form in denominations of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof, dated the
date of their issuance and delivery, and bear interest and mature as set forth in the Bonds. The Bonds are subject to
redemption prior to maturity in the manner and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the respective Bonds.
The Bonds are being issued in accordance with the resolutions of the Board of Public Works of the State of
Maryland (the “Board”) adopted on May 11, 2016 and June 8, 2016 (the “Resolutions”).
The Board, on behalf of the State of Maryland, has covenanted in a Tax Compliance Certificate executed in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds that it will comply with the requirements of §148 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) pertaining to arbitrage bonds and stating the reasonable expectations of the
Board with respect to the proceeds on the date of issue of the Bonds. Also, the Board has filed or will caused to be
filed with the Internal Revenue Service reports of the issuance of the Bonds as required by §149(e) of the Code.
We have reviewed the Act, the Resolutions and such other legal opinions and the originals or certified
copies of such resolutions, documents, records and other proofs as we deemed pertinent.
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, without undertaking to verify the same by independent
investigation, we have relied upon the certified proceedings of the Board and certifications by public officials. Our
examination has been limited to the foregoing as they exist or are in effect as of the date hereof. Our opinion is
limited to the matters expressly set forth herein, and we express no opinion concerning any other matters.
Based on our examination of the foregoing, we are of the opinion as of the date hereof and under existing
law, as follows:
(a)
The Bonds have been duly authorized for issuance by the Board for the valid public purposes
stated in the Act.
(b)
The Bonds have been lawfully issued and constitute valid and binding general obligations of the
State of Maryland to the payment of which, as to both principal and interest, the full faith and credit and taxing
power of the State are unconditionally pledged.
(c)
By the terms of the Act, the Bonds, their transfer, the interest payable thereon and any income
derived therefrom, including any profit realized in the sale or exchange thereof, will be exempt from taxation within
the State of Maryland by the State or by any of its political subdivisions, municipal corporations, or public agencies;
no opinion is expressed as to estate or inheritance taxes, or any other taxes not levied or assessed directly on the
Bonds, their transfer, or the income therefrom.
(d)
Interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income tax under
existing laws as enacted and construed on the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, assuming the accuracy of the
certifications of the Board and the continuing compliance by the Board with its covenants relating to the
requirements of the Code. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of either individual or
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corporate federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”); however, interest paid to corporate holders of the Bonds (other
than an S corporation, regulated investment company, or real estate investment trust) may be indirectly subject to
AMT because of its inclusion in the adjusted current earnings of a corporate holder. We express no opinion
regarding other federal tax consequences relating to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual of receipt of
interest on, the Bonds.
Original issue premium on a Bond issued at an issue price that exceeds its principal amount, is amortizable
periodically over the term of such Bond through reductions in the holder’s tax basis for such Bond for determining
taxable gain or loss from sale or from redemption prior to maturity. Amortization of premium does not create a
deductible expense or loss.
In rendering our opinion, we wish to advise you that:
1.
The rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof and of the documents
identified in this opinion may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent
conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to
the extent constitutionally applicable, and their enforcement may also be subject to the application of equitable
principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.
2.
We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any offering
material relating to the Bonds.
3.
Except as set forth above, we express no opinion regarding any other tax consequences relating to
the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on or the receipt of tax credits relating to the
Bonds.
4.
In rendering the opinions herein (excluding the opinion set forth in paragraph (d) for which the
Attorney General expresses no opinion), we have relied, with permission, on the legal opinions of the Attorney
General.
This opinion is addressed to, and is solely for the benefit of, the Board and may not be relied upon by any
other person without our express written consent.
Very truly yours,

[to be signed by “Ballard
Spahr LLP”]
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Appendix E
OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

$1,036,000,000
STATE OF MARYLAND
General Obligation Bonds
State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series
Tax-Exempt Bonds
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronic bids will be received on the date and up to the time specified below:
SALE DATE:

Wednesday, June 8, 2016

SALE TIME:

11:00 a.m. Local Annapolis, Maryland Time

ELECTRONIC BIDS:

Must be submitted through PARITY as described below.

No other form of bid or provider of electronic bidding services will be accepted.
Pursuant to resolutions of the Board of Public Works of Maryland (the “Board”), bids will be received for the
purchase of all, but not less than all, of the State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series Tax-Exempt
Bonds (the “First Series Bonds”) to be issued by the State of Maryland (the “State”). The First Series Bonds are
more particularly described in the Preliminary Official Statement dated May 26, 2016 relating to the First
Series Bonds, (the “POS”) available at the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s Electronic Municipal Market
Access (“EMMA”), www.emma.msrb.org, Ipreo’s database at www.i-dealprospectus.com, and the State’s website,
www.treasurer.state.md.us.
Consideration of the bids and the award will be made by the Board on the Sale Date as set forth herein. The Board
also reserves the right to make certain adjustments to the aggregate principal amount and the principal amounts of
each maturity of the First Series Bonds being offered, to eliminate maturities, to change the terms of the First
Series Bonds, to postpone the sale of the First Series Bonds to a later date, to offer the First Series Bonds in one or
more series, or to cancel the sale of the First Series Bonds as further described herein. See “Adjustment of Amounts
and Maturities” and “Change or Cancellation of Sale Date and/or Date of Delivery and/or Other Revised Terms.”
Contact Information
STATE OF MARYLAND (ISSUER)
Christian Lund, Director of Debt Management
State Treasury Office
Louis L. Goldstein Treasury Building
80 Calvert St.
Annapolis, MD 21401
Phone: (410) 260-7920 / Fax: (410) 974-3530
Email: clund@treasurer.state.md.us

BALLARD SPAHR LLP (BOND COUNSEL)
Teri Guarnaccia, Partner
300 East Lombard St., 18th Floor
Baltimore, MD 21202
Phone: (410) 528-5526 / Fax: (410) 528-5650
Email: guarnacciat@ballardspahr.com

PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, INC.
(FINANCIAL ADVISOR)
Geoff Stewart, Director
1735 Market Street
43rd Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Phone: (215) 557-1484 / Fax: (215) 567-4180
Email: stewartg@pfm.com

Client Services
Phone: (212) 849-5024
Email: parity@i-deal.com

I-DEAL/PARITY®
PLATFORM)
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(ELECTRONIC BIDDING

Bidding Parameters Table*
Dated Date:
Anticipated Date of
Delivery:
Interest Payment Dates:
First Interest Payment
Date:
Coupon Multiples:

INTEREST
Date of Delivery
June 22, 2016

PRICING
Max. Aggregate Bid Price:
Unlimited
Min. Aggregate Bid Price:
98.5%

June 1 and December 1
December 1, 2016

Max. Reoffering Price
(each maturity):
Min. Reoffering Price
(each maturity):

1/8 or 1/20 of 1%

Maximum Coupon:
N/A
Minimum Coupon:
N/A
Maximum TIC:
N/A
Maximum Difference
4%
Between Coupons:
No Zero Coupon may be specified
PRINCIPAL
Optional Redemption:
First Series Bonds maturing on or
before June 1, 2024 are not
subject to redemption. Bonds
maturing on or after June 1, 2025
are subject to redemption at par
at any time on or after June 1,
2024 as a whole or in
part.
Post-bid Principal
Increases
10%
Each Maturity:
10%
Aggregate:
Post-bid Principal
Reductions
10%
Each Maturity:
10%
Aggregate:
Term Bonds:
Two or more consecutive annual
principal maturities may be
designated as a term bond that
matures on the maturity date of
the last annual principal payment
of the sequence.

Sale Date:
Sale Time:

98.5%

PROCEDURAL
June 8, 2016
11:00 a.m., Local
Annapolis, Maryland Time

Bid Submission:

Electronic bids through
PARITY only

All or None?

Yes

Bid Award Method:

Lowest True Interest Cost
(as defined herein)

Bid Confirmation:

Notification from State
Treasurer

Awarding of Bid:

On the Sale Date by the
Board
$10,360,000; as more
fully described herein.
See “Good Faith
Deposit.”

Good Faith Deposit:

*

Unlimited

If numerical or date references contained in the body of this Official Notice of Sale conflict with the Bidding Parameters Table,
the Bidding Parameters Table of this Official Notice of Sale shall control. Consult the body of this Official Notice of
Sale for a detailed explanation of the items contained in the Bidding Parameters Table, including interpretation of such
items and methodologies used to determine such items.
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Bond Amortization Schedule
The First Series Bonds will be issued in serial or term bond form as designated by the successful bidder in its
proposal, as described below. The principal of the First Series Bonds shall be payable in installments on the dates
in the following years and in the following amounts:
$1,036,000,000 State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series
Maturing

Principal

Maturing

Principal

June 1

Amount*

June 1

Amount*

2019

2025

2020

$58,490,000
$61,410,000

2026

$78,380,000
$82,300,000

2021

$64,485,000

2027

$86,415,000

2022

$67,705,000

2028

$90,735,000

2023

$71,095,000

2029

$95,270,000

2024

$74,645,000

2030

$100,035,000

2031

$105,035,000

The Bonds
Security
The First Series Bonds are general obligations of the State, and its full faith and credit and taxing power are
unconditionally pledged to the punctual payment of principal and interest on such Bonds when due and payable.
Use of Proceeds
The proceeds of the First Series Bonds will be applied for a variety of public purposes, including the acquisition
and construction of State facilities; capital grants to local governments for public schools, community colleges,
and jails and correctional facilities; and matching fund loans and grants to local governments, nonprofit
institutions, and other entities for hospitals, cultural projects and other projects.
Description of the Bonds
General. The First Series Bonds will be dated as of the Date of Delivery (“Dated Date”), expected to be on or
about June 22, 2016, and will be in fully registered form in denominations of $5,000 each or any integral multiple
thereof.
Interest on the First Series Bonds will accrue from the Dated Date, and will be payable December 1, 2016 and
semiannually thereafter on each June 1 and December 1 until maturity or earlier redemption. The First Series Bonds
will mature on June 1 of each year as specified in the Bond Amortization Schedule above.
Term Bond Option. Bidders may designate in their proposal two or more consecutive annual principal maturities as
a term bond that matures on the maturity date of the last annual principal payment of the sequence. Any term bond
so designated shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in each year on the principal payment date and
in the entire principal amount for each annual principal maturity designated for inclusion in such term bond. There is
no limitation on the number of term bonds in the First Series Bonds.
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Form of Bonds. The First Series Bonds shall be issued only in fully registered form without coupons. One bond
representing each maturity of the First Series Bonds in principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of
such maturity will be issued to and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), as registered owner of the First Series Bonds, and each such bond shall
be immobilized in the custody of DTC. DTC will act as securities depository for the First Series Bonds. Individual
purchases will be made in book-entry form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.
Purchasers will not receive physical delivery of certificates representing their interest in the bonds purchased. The
winning bidder, as a condition to delivery of the First Series Bonds, must consent that bond certificate will be
deposited with DTC.
So long as the First Series Bonds are maintained under a book-entry only system, the Bond Registrar and
Paying Agent for the First Series Bonds will be the Maryland State Treasurer (the “Treasurer”) or any other Bond
Registrar and Paying Agent designated by the Treasurer. All payments of the principal of and interest on the First
Series Bonds shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal
tender for payment of public and private debts.
Optional Redemption
The First Series Bonds maturing on or after June 1, 2025 are subject to redemption prior to maturity at par at any
time on or after June 1, 2024 at the option of the State, as a whole or in part at any time on at least 20 days’ notice
and, if in part, in any order of maturity at the option of the State, at the redemption price of par, plus accrued interest,
if any, to the redemption date.
Selection of Bonds for Redemption. If less than all of the redeemable First Series Bonds shall be called for
redemption, the particular First Series Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the Paying Agent in such
manner as, in its discretion, it shall determine, except that so long as DTC or its nominee is the sole registered owner
of the First Series Bonds, the particular First Series Bond or portion to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC, in
such manner as DTC shall determine.
Adjustment of Amounts and Maturities
Prior to Sale Date
Prior to the Sale Date, the Board may adjust the preliminary aggregate principal amount of the First Series
Bonds and the preliminary principal amount and maturity of each serial installment of the First Series Bonds as set
forth in this Official Notice of Sale (the “Preliminary Aggregate Principal Amount” and the “Preliminary Principal
Amounts”, and collectively the “Preliminary Amounts”). In addition, if the Treasurer determines it to be in the best
interests of the State, the First Series Bonds may be issued in one or more series in amount and maturities
determined by the Treasurer. ANY SUCH REVISIONS MADE PRIOR TO THE OPENING OF THE BIDS
WILL BE PUBLISHED ON THOMPSON MUNICIPAL MARKET MONITOR (“TM3”) (www.tm3.com)
NOT LATER THAN 4:00 P.M., LOCAL ANNAPOLIS, MARYLAND TIME, ON THE BUSINESS DAY
IMMEDIATELY PRIOR T O THE SALE DATE FOR THE BONDS.
In the event that no such revisions are made prior to the opening of the bids, the Preliminary Amounts will constitute
the Amounts. Bidders shall submit bids based on the Amounts, and the Amounts will be used to compare bids and
select a winning bidder.

E-4

On Sale Date
After the opening of the bids, the Board may further adjust the Amounts of the First Series Bonds. Changes to be
made will be communicated to the successful bidder not later than three (3) hours after the bids have been
received and opened and in no case will such changes reduce or increase the Aggregate Principal Amount of the
First Series Bonds by more than ten percent (10%). The dollar amount bid for principal by the successful bidder
will be adjusted proportionally to reflect any reduction or increase in the Aggregate Principal Amount of the First
Series Bonds, but the interest rates specified by the successful bidder for all maturities will not change. The
successful bidder may not withdraw its bid as a result of any changes within these limits. The Underwriter’s
Discount” shall be defined as the difference between the purchase price of the First Series Bonds submitted by the
bidder and the price at which the First Series Bonds will be issued to the public divided by the par amount of the
First Series Bonds bid (“Underwriter’s Discount”). The dollar amount bid by the successful bidder will be adjusted
to reflect any adjustments in the Aggregate Principal Amount and Principal Amounts of the First Series Bonds. Such
adjusted bid price will reflect changes in the dollar amount of the Underwriter’s Discount and original issue
discount/premium, if any, but will not change the Underwriter’s Discount, per $1,000 of par amount of the First
Series Bonds from the Underwriter’s Discount that would have been received based on the purchase price in the
winning bid and the initial public offering prices.
Change or Cancellation of Sale Date and/or Date of Delivery and/or Other Terms
The Board may cancel or postpone the sale of the First Series Bonds prior to the Sale Date. Notice of a
cancellation or postponement will be announced via the TM3 wire at www.tm3.com. Notice of any new date and
time of sale will be announced at least 24 hours prior to the time bids are to be submitted and will specify changes in
the principal amount or other features, if any.
The Board may change the scheduled delivery date, the dates of the semiannual interest payments and annual
principal payments, the optional redemption date, the number of series offered or revise any other terms for the
First Series Bonds by notice given in the same manner as that set forth above.
Preliminary Official Statement; Continuing Disclosure
The State has deemed the Preliminary Official Statement to be final as of its date for purposes of Rule 15c2-12
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 15c2-12”), except for the omission of certain
information permitted to be omitted by said Rule. As soon as practicable after the Sale Date, the State will publish a
complete final Official Statement (the “Official Statement”) that will contain this information. The State agrees to
deliver to the successful bidder for its receipt no later than seven business days after the Sale Date such quantities of
the Official Statement as the successful bidder shall request, provided, that the State shall deliver up to 100 copies of
such Official Statement without charge to the successful bidder.
The State has made certain covenants for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the First Series Bonds to
provide certain continuing disclosure, in order to assist bidders for the First Series Bonds in complying with Rule
15c2-12(b)(5). Such covenants are described in the Preliminary Official Statement.
Electronic Bidding
Bidders may only submit bids via PARITY.
A prospective bidder may only bid electronically for the First Series Bonds via PARITY pursuant to this
Official Notice of Sale. By submitting its bid for the First Series Bonds, a prospective bidder represents and
warrants to the State that such bidder’s bid for the purchase of the First Series Bonds is submitted for and on
behalf of such prospective bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind the prospective bidder to
a legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of the First Series Bonds.
Additional information concerning bidding through the system may be directed to the PARITY Help Desk at
(212) 849-5021.
Disclaimer. Each prospective electronic bidder shall be solely responsible to register to bid via PARITY as
described above. Each qualified prospective electronic bidder shall be solely responsible to make necessary
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arrangements to access PARITY for the purpose of submitting its bid in a timely manner and in compliance with the
requirements of the Official Notice of Sale. Neither the State nor PARITY shall have any duty or obligation to
undertake such registration to bid for any prospective bidder or to provide or assure such access to any qualified
prospective bidder, and neither the State nor PARITY shall be responsible for a bidder’s failure to register to bid or
for proper operation of, or have any liability for any delays or interruptions of, or any damages caused by PARITY.
The State is using PARITY as a communication mechanism, and not as the State’s agent, to conduct the electronic
bidding for the First Series Bonds. The State is not bound by any advice and determination of PARITY to the
effect that any particular bid complies with the terms of this Official Notice of Sale and in particular the “Bid
Submissions” hereinafter set forth. All costs and expenses incurred by prospective bidders in connection with their
registration and submission of bids via PARITY are the sole responsibility of the bidders; and the State is not
responsible, directly or indirectly, for any of such costs or expenses. If a prospective bidder encounters any difficulty
in registering to bid or submitting, modifying or withdrawing a bid for the First Series Bonds, such bidder
should telephone PARITY New Issues Desk at (212) 849-5021 and notify the State’s Treasurer’s Office by
facsimile at (410) 260-6057.
Electronic Bidding Procedures. Electronic bids must be submitted for the purchase of the First Series Bonds (all
or none) via PARITY. Bids will be communicated electronically to the State at 11:00 a.m. local Annapolis,
Maryland time, on Thursday, June 8, 2016. Prior to that time, an eligible prospective bidder may (1) input the
proposed terms of its bid via PARITY, (2) modify the proposed terms of its bid, in which event the proposed terms
as last modified will (unless the bid is withdrawn as described herein) constitute its bid for the First Series
Bonds, or (3) withdraw its proposed bid. Once the bids are communicated electronically via PARITY to the State
each bid will constitute an irrevocable offer to purchase the First Series Bonds on the terms therein provided. For
purposes of the electronic bidding process, the time as maintained on PARITY shall constitute the official time. For
information purposes only, bidders are requested to state in their bids the true interest cost to the State, as described
under “Award of Bid” below, represented by the rate or rates of interest and the bid price specified in their respective
bids.
Bid Submissions
Each bid must be in conformity with this Official Notice of Sale.
All bids must be delivered to the Board via PARITY, before 11:00 a.m., local Annapolis, Maryland time, on
Wednesday, June 8, 2016, at which time they will be received by the Board. As described above, the Board
reserves the right to postpone the date for receipt of bids.
Minority Business Enterprise Participation
THE STATE STRONGLY ENCOURAGES EACH BIDDER FOR THE FIRST SERIES BONDS TO MAKE A
GOOD FAITH EFFORT TO INCLUDE MINORITY BUSINESS ENTERPRISES IN THE SYNDICATE
PURCHASING THE FIRST SERIES BONDS. THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER WILL BE REQUESTED TO
PROVIDE A LIST OF SYNDICATE MEMBERS WHICH IDENTIFIES THE MINORITY BUSINESS
ENTERPRISE MEMBERS AND INDICATES THEIR PERCENTAGES OF PARTICIPATION.
Right of Rejection
The Board expressly reserves the right (i) to waive any informalities, (ii) to reject all bids, any incomplete bid or any
bid not fully complying with all of the requirements set forth herein, and (iii) to solicit new bids or proposals for the
sale of the First Series Bonds or otherwise provide for the public sale of the First Series Bonds if all bids are
rejected or the winning bidder defaults, including, without limitation, sale of the First Series Bonds to one or more
of the losing or rejected bidders without regard to their original bid or its relationship to any other bid.
Preliminary Award; Reoffering Prices and Certificate
As promptly as reasonably practicable after the bids are received and reviewed, but not later than 12:30 p.m. local
Annapolis, Maryland time on the Sale Date (unless bids have been postponed), the Treasurer will notify the
apparently successful bidder of the Preliminary Award of the First Series Bonds. The successful bidder shall make
a bona fide public offering of all of the First Series Bonds and shall represent to the State that such offering is in
compliance with all applicable securities laws of the jurisdictions in which such First Series
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Bonds are offered. Within 30 minutes after being notified of the Preliminary Award of the First Series
Bonds, the successful bidder shall advise the State in writing (via facsimile or e-mail transmission) to
Christian Lund, Katherine Clupper, and Geoff Stewart at clund@treasurer.state.md.us, clupperk@pfm.com,
stewartg@pfm.com, respectively, of such reoffering prices of the First Series Bonds (the “Reoffering Prices”).
The State will review the Reoffering Prices for compliance with applicable securities laws prior to final
confirmation of the award.
The apparent successful bidder will also be required to wire to the State a Good Faith Deposit as further described
herein. Timely notification of the Final Award is subject to the State’s receipt of the Good Faith Deposit.
SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH OR BEFORE DELIVERY OF THE FIRST SERIES BONDS, THE SUCCESSFUL
BIDDER SHALL FURNISH TO THE STATE A CERTIFICATE ACCEPTABLE TO BOND COUNSEL TO
THE EFFECT THAT (I) THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER HAS MADE A BONA FIDE PUBLIC OFFERING OF
EACH MATURITY OF THE FIRST SERIES BONDS AT THE REOFFERING PRICES, (II) AS OF THE DATE
OF THE SALE OF THE FIRST SERIES BONDS, THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO SELL A SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNT OF EACH MATURITY OF THE FIRST SERIES BONDS
TO THE PUBLIC (EXCLUDING BOND HOUSES, BROKERS AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES) AT THEIR
RESPECTIVE REOFFERING PRICES, AND (III) A SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNT OF EACH MATURITY OF
THE FIRST SERIES BONDS WAS SOLD TO THE PUBLIC (EXCLUDING BOND HOUSES, BROKERS AND
OTHER INTERMEDIARIES) AT THEIR RESPECTIVE REOFFERING PRICES OR SUCH OTHER FACTS
REGARDING THE ACTUAL SALE OF THE FIRST SERIES BONDS AS BOND COUNSEL SHALL
REQUEST, AS DESCRIBED BELOW. Bond Counsel advises that (i) such certificate must be made on the best
knowledge, information and belief of the successful bidder, (ii) the sale to the public of 10% or more in par
amount of each maturity of the First Series Bonds at the Reoffering Prices would be sufficient to certify as to the
sale of a substantial amount of the First Series Bonds, and (iii) reliance on other facts as a basis for such
certification would require evaluation by Bond Counsel to assure compliance with the statutory requirement to
avoid the establishment of an artificial price for the First Series Bonds.
Award of Bid
Award of Bid
The Board expects to make its award of the First Series Bonds to the winning bidder on the Sale Date. It is
anticipated that all bids will be reviewed by the Board at the time stated above and will be acted on following the
opening, tabulation and verification of the bids received. The decision by the Board as to the award of the First
Series Bonds will be final. Bids may not be withdrawn prior to the award.
All bids shall be for cash on delivery and shall be based on an offering to pay not less than 98.5% of the par value of
the First Series Bonds. Each bidder shall indicate in its bid the rate of interest to be paid on each maturity. All bids
for First Series Bonds of any maturity must be greater than or equal to 98.5%. Each rate of interest shall be a
multiple of 1/20 or 1/8 of one percent, but all First Series Bonds of any one maturity must bear interest at the
same rate. Any rate named may be repeated. The difference between the maximum and minimum interest rates
may not be greater than 4%. A zero rate may not be named.
The First Series Bonds will be awarded by the Board on the Sale Date to the bidder whose bid complies with this
Official Notice of Sale and results in the lowest true interest cost (“TIC”) to the State. The lowest TIC will be
determined by doubling the semiannual interest rate, compounded semiannually, necessary to discount the debt
service payments from the payment dates to the Date of Delivery of the First Series Bonds and to the aggregate
amount bid for the First Series Bonds. If two or more responsible bidders have made bids resulting in the same
lowest TIC to the State, the First Series Bonds shall be awarded by lot to one of these bidders.
Good Faith Deposit
A Good Faith Deposit in the amount of $10,360,000 is required only of the winning bidder for the First Series
Bonds. The winning bidder for the First Series Bonds is required to submit such Good Faith Deposit payable to the
order of the State in the form of a wire transfer in federal funds as instructed by the State’s Financial Advisor,
Public Financial Management Inc. The winning bidder shall submit the Good Faith Deposit not later than 2:00 p.m.
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(local Annapolis, Maryland time) on the Sale Date. The winning bidder should provide as quickly as it is available,
evidence of wire transfer by providing the State the federal funds reference number. If the Good Faith Deposit is not
received in the time allotted, the bid of the winning bidder may be rejected and the State may direct the next lowest
bidder to submit a Good Faith Deposit and thereafter may award the sale of the First Series Bonds to the same. If the
winning bidder fails to comply with the Good Faith Deposit requirement as described herein, that bidder is
nonetheless obligated to pay to the State the sum of $10,360,000 as liquidated damages due to the failure of
the winning bidder to timely deposit the Good Faith Deposit.
Submission of a bid to purchase the First Series Bonds serves as acknowledgement and
acceptance of the terms of the Good Faith Deposit requirement.
The Good Faith Deposit so wired will be retained by the State until the delivery of the First Series Bonds, at
which time the Good Faith Deposit will be applied against the purchase price of the First Series Bonds or the
Good Faith Deposit will be retained by the State as partial liquidated damages in the event of the failure of the
successful bidder to take up and pay for such First Series Bonds in compliance with the terms of this Official
Notice of Sale and of its bid. No interest on the Good Faith Deposit will be paid by the State. The balance of the
purchase price must be wired in federal funds to the account detailed in the closing memorandum, simultaneously
with delivery of the First Series Bonds.

Delivery and Payment
Delivery of the First Series Bonds will be made by the State to DTC in book-entry only form, in New York, New
York on or about the anticipated Date of Delivery, or on or about such other date as may be agreed on by the
Treasurer and the successful bidder.
At the time of delivery of the First Series Bonds, payment of the amount due for the First Series Bonds must be
made by the successful bidder to the order of the State in immediately available federal funds or other funds
immediately available to the State, or by such other means as may be acceptable to the Treasurer. Any expense
incurred in providing immediately available funds, whether by transfer of federal funds or otherwise, shall be borne
by the successful bidder.
CUSIP Numbers; Expenses of the Bidder
It is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be assigned to each of the First Series Bonds, but neither the failure to
type or print such numbers on any of the First Series Bonds nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute cause
for a failure or refusal by the purchaser thereof to accept delivery of and pay for the First Series Bonds. The
policies of the CUSIP Service Bureau will govern the assignment of specific numbers to the First Series Bonds.
The successful bidder will be responsible for applying for and obtaining, subject to the CUSIP Service Bureau
policy and procedures, CUSIP numbers for the First Series Bonds promptly upon award of the bid. All expenses of
typing or printing CUSIP numbers for the First Series Bonds will be paid for by the State; provided the CUSIP
Service Bureau charges for the assignment of the numbers shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid for by the
successful bidder.
All charges of DTC and all other expenses of the successful bidder will be the responsibility of the successful bidder
for the First Series Bonds.
Tax Status, Legal Opinions, Closing Documents and No Litigation
It shall be a condition to the obligation of the successful bidder to accept delivery of and pay for the First Series
Bonds that, simultaneously with or before delivery and payment for the First Series Bonds, the bidder without cost
shall be furnished with (1) the approving opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Maryland (“Attorney
General”) and of Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, MD, Bond Counsel, dated as of the Date of Delivery of the First
Series Bonds, substantially in the respective forms included as Appendix D to the Preliminary Official Statement;
(2) a certificate of the Attorney General dated as of the Dated Date of the First Series Bonds to the effect that there
is no litigation pending or, to the best of his knowledge, threatened, that in any manner will affect the validity of the
Acts under which the First Series Bonds will be issued; (3) a copy of the Official Statement relating to the First
Series Bonds dated as of the Sale Date of the First Series Bonds signed in a manner permitted under Maryland
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law; (4) a certificate or certificates of the members of the Board to the effect that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief (except for the reoffering information provided by the bidder and information regarding DTC and DTC’s
book-entry system provided by DTC, as to which no view will be expressed): (a) the Official Statement as of the
Sale Date did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (b)
between the Sale Date and the Date of Delivery of the First Series Bonds, there has been no material adverse
change in the financial condition or financial affairs of the State except as may have been disclosed in or
contemplated by the Official Statement as of the Sale Date; and (5) the Continuing Disclosure Agreement
substantially in the form included as Appendix F to the Preliminary Official Statement.
The opinions of the Attorney General and Bond Counsel will be delivered, upon request, to the purchaser of the
First Series Bonds, without charge. A bidder may make the legality and validity of the First Series Bonds one of the
terms of the bid by making the bid “subject to legality,” or using any equivalent form of expression, which
shall be deemed to refer to the opinions of the Attorney General and Bond Counsel referred to above, but no bid
should purport to leave this question to the decision of the bidder or its counsel. All bids conditioned upon the
approval of the bidder or its counsel, whether named or unnamed, will be treated as conditional bids and will be
rejected unless the condition is waived by the bidder to the satisfaction of the Board before the award has been
made.
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Additional Information
This Official Notice of Sale is not a summary of the terms of the First Series Bonds. Reference is made to the
Preliminary Official Statement for a further description of the First Series Bonds and the State. Prospective
investors or bidders for the First Series Bonds must read the entire Preliminary Official Statement to obtain
information essential to making an informed investment decision. The Preliminary Official Statement is deemed
final by the State as of its date for purposes of the Rule but is subject to revision, amendment and
completion in a final Official Statement. Additional information concerning the matters discussed in this Official
Notice of Sale and copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained online or by request from
Christian Lund, the State’s Director of Debt Management, at clund@treasurer.state.md.us or (410) 260- 7920 or
from Katherine Clupper or Geoff Stewart, at, respectively, clupperk@pfm.com or (215) 557- 1481, and
stewartg@pfm.com or (215) 557–1484.

LAWRENCE J. HOGAN, JR.
Governor
PETER FRANCHOT
Comptroller
NANCY K. KOPP
Treasurer
Constituting the Board of Public Works of the
State of Maryland

Annapolis, Maryland
June 8, 2016
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APPENDIX F

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (this “Disclosure Agreement”) dated as of [Date of
Delivery] is executed and delivered by the State of Maryland (the “State”) in connection with the issuance of its
$1,036,000,000 General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2016, First Series, referred to herein
as “the Bonds.” The Bonds are being issued pursuant to resolutions passed by the Board of Public Works (the
“Board”) on May 11, 2016 and June 8, 2016. The State, intending to be legally bound hereby and for good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby covenant and
agree as follows:
Section 1.

Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.

This Disclosure Agreement is being executed and delivered by the State for the benefit of the owners and
beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with Securities and
Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). The State’s obligations hereunder shall be limited to those required by
written undertaking pursuant to Rule 15c2-12.
Section 2.

Definitions.

In addition to the definitions set forth above, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure
Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following
meanings:
“Continuing Disclosure Service” shall mean the continuing disclosure service established by the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board known as the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.
“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.
“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply
with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.
“Rule15c2-12” shall mean Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, any successor provisions of
similar import promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission in the future, and any applicable no-action
and other authoritative interpretations of Rule 15c2-12 released by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Section 3.

Provision of Annual Financial Information, Operating Data and Audited Information.

(a) The State shall provide to the Continuing Disclosure Service, annual financial information and
operating data as set forth in Schedule A to this Disclosure Agreement, such information and data to be updated as
of the end of the preceding fiscal year and made available within 275 days after the end of the fiscal year,
commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.
(b) The State shall provide to the Continuing Disclosure Service, annual audited financial statements for the
State, such information to be made available within 275 days after the end of the State’s fiscal year, commencing
with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, unless the audited financial statements are not available on or before such
date, in which event said financial statements will be provided promptly when and if available. In the event that
audited financial statements are not available within 275 days after the end of the State’s fiscal year (commencing
with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016), the State will provide unaudited financial statements within said time
period.
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(c) Except as otherwise set forth in this paragraph (c), the presentation of the financial information referred
to in paragraph (a) and in paragraph (b) shall be made in accordance with the same accounting principles as utilized
in connection with the presentation of applicable comparable financial information included in the final official
statement for the Bonds.
(1) The State may make changes to the presentation of the financial information required in
paragraph (a) and paragraph (b) necessitated by changes in Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles;
(2) The State may otherwise modify the presentation of the financial information required herein,
provided that this Disclosure Agreement is amended in accordance with Section 6 hereof.
(d) If the State is unable to provide the annual financial information and operating data within the
applicable time periods specified in (a) and (b) above, the State shall send in a timely manner a notice of such failure
to the Continuing Disclosure Service.
Section 4.

Reporting of Significant Events.

(a) This Section 4 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the following events with
respect to the Bonds:
(i)

principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(ii)

non-payment related defaults, if material;

(iii)

unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

(iv)

unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

(v)

substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(vi)

adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the security;

(vii)

modifications to rights of security holders, if material;

(viii)

bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

(ix)

defeasances;

(x)

release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;

(xi)

rating changes;

(xii)

bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;

(xiii)

the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated person or
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in the
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action
or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if material; and

(xiv)

appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if
material.
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(b) The State shall promptly, not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of a Listed Event,
file a notice of such occurrence with the Continuing Disclosure Service.
Section 5.

Termination of Reporting Obligation.

The State’s obligations under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the payment in full of all of
the Bonds either at their maturity or by early redemption. In addition, the State may terminate its obligations under
this Disclosure Agreement if and when the State no longer remains an obligated person with respect to the Bonds
within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12.
Section 6.

Amendment.

The State may provide further or additional assurances that will become part of the State’s obligations
under this Disclosure Agreement. In addition, this Disclosure Agreement may be amended by the State in its
discretion provided that: (i) the amendment may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that
arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the State as
the obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted; (ii) the Disclosure Agreement, as
amended, would have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the issuance of the Bonds, after
taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and (iii)
the amendment does not materially impair the interests of holders of the Bonds, as determined by counsel selected
by the State that is expert in federal securities law matters. The reasons for the State agreeing to provide any further
or additional assurances or for any amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or
financial information being provided will be explained in information provided with the annual financial
information containing the additional or amended operating data or financial information.
Section 7.

Additional Information.

Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the State from disseminating any other
information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of
communication, or including any other information in any disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or
notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the
State chooses to include any information in any disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the
State shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future
disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
Section 8.

Law of Maryland.

This Disclosure Agreement, and any claim made with respect to the performance by the State of its
obligations hereunder, shall be governed by, subject to, and construed according to the laws of the State of Maryland
or the federal law.
Section 9.

Limitation of Forum.

Any suit or other proceeding seeking redress with regard to any claimed failure by the State to perform its
obligations under this Disclosure Agreement must be filed in the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County, Maryland.
Section 10.

Limitation on Remedies.

The State shall be given written notice at the address set forth below of any claimed failure by the State to
perform its obligations under the Disclosure Agreement, and the State shall be given 45 days to remedy any such
claimed failure. Any suit or other proceeding seeking further redress with regard to any such claimed failure by the
State shall be limited to specific performance as the adequate and exclusive remedy available in connection with
such action. Written notice to the State shall be given to the State Treasurer, Louis L. Goldstein Treasury Building,
80 Calvert Street, Annapolis, Maryland 21401, or at such alternate address as shall be specified by the State with
disclosures made pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b) hereof or a notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
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Section 11.

Relationship to Bonds.

The Disclosure Agreement constitutes an undertaking by the State that is independent of the State’s
obligations with respect to the Bonds; any breach or default by the State under this Disclosure Agreement shall not
constitute or give rise to a breach or default under the Bonds.
Section 12.

Beneficiaries.

This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners from time
to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Continuing Disclosure Agreement is being executed by the Board of
Public Works on behalf of the State of Maryland as of this ___ day of June, 2016.

STATE OF MARYLAND

By:_
Lawrence J. Hogan, Jr., Governor

By:_
Peter Franchot, Comptroller

By:_
Nancy K. Kopp, Treasurer
as Members of the Board of Public
Works of the State of Maryland
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Schedule A
(1) Summary of Outstanding Tax-Supported Debt.
(2) Summary of State Revenues and Expenditures.
(3) Summary of General Fund Balances.
(4) Summary of State Reserve Fund.
(5) Budget for Current Fiscal Year.
(6) Description of material litigation based on the accountant’s report contained in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report.
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APPENDIX G
Book-Entry Only System
Book-Entry Only System — General. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will
act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name
of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative
of DTC. One fully-registered bond will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds in principal amount equal to the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of §17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and
other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges
between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing
Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its
regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard &
Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive
a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial
Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests
in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf
of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds,
except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other
DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial
Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds
are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is
to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such Bonds to be redeemed.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Bonds
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unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC
mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede &
Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record
date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon
DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the State or the Paying Agent, on payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Direct and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held
for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Direct
or Indirect Participant and not of DTC, DTC’s nominee, the Paying Agent or the State, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, interest and any premium to Cede
& Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the
State or its Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.
Book-Entry Only System — Miscellaneous. The information in the Section “Book-Entry Only System —
General” has been obtained from DTC. The State takes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof. The
State will have no responsibility or obligations to DTC Participants or the persons for whom they act as nominees with
respect to the payments to or the providing of notice to the DTC Participants, or the Indirect Participants, or Beneficial
Owners. The State cannot and does not give any assurance that DTC Participants or others will distribute principal and
interest payments paid to DTC or its nominees, as the registered owner, or any redemption or other notices, to the
Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so on a timely basis or that DTC will serve and act in the manner described in
this Official Statement.
Discontinuation of Book-Entry Only System. DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities
depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the State. Under such circumstances, in
the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and
delivered. The State may also decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered.
In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued, the Bonds in fully certificated form will be
issued as fully registered bonds without coupons in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof.
Such Bonds will be transferable only upon the registration books kept at the principal office of the Bond Registrar, by
the registered owner thereof in person, or by an attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof together
with a written instrument of transfer in the form attached thereto and satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, and duly
executed by the registered owner or a duly authorized attorney. Within a reasonable time of such surrender, the State
shall cause to be issued in the name of the transferee a new registered bond or bonds of any of the authorized
denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Bond surrendered and maturing
on the same date and bearing interest at the same rate. The new bond or bonds shall be delivered to the transferee only
after due authentication by an authorized officer of the Bond Registrar. The State may deem and treat the person in
whose name a bond is registered as the absolute owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account
of the principal or redemption price thereof and interest due thereon and for all other purposes.
In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued, the Bonds may be transferred or exchanged at
the principal office of the Bond Registrar. Upon any such transfer or exchange, the State shall execute and the Bond
Registrar shall authenticate and deliver a new registered bond or bonds without coupons of any of the authorized
denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the bond exchanged or transferred,
and maturing on the same date and bearing interest at the same rate. In each case, the Bond Registrar may require
payment by any holder of Bonds requesting exchange or transfer of Bonds of any tax, fee or other governmental
charge, shipping charges and insurance that may be required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer, but
otherwise no charge shall be made to the holder of Bonds for such exchange or transfer.
The Bond Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Bond after the mailing of notice calling
such Bond or portion thereof for redemption as previously described; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation
shall not apply to that portion of a Bond in excess of $5,000 which is not being called for redemption.
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